PRIMARY TEACHERS' KNOWLEDGE ABOUT LEARNING DISABILITIES

JULIE KOCSIS

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF EDUCATION

NIPISSING UNIVERSITY SCHULICH SCHOOL OF EDUCATION NORTH BAY, ONTARIO

© Julie Kocsis April 2016



Certificate of Examination

Supervisor(s):	Examiner(s)
Dr. Lorraine Frost	Dr. Sheila Bennett

<u>Supervisory Committee:</u> Dr. Julie Corkett

The thesis by

Julie Kocsis

entitled PRIMAY TEACHERS' KNOWLEDGE ABOUT LEARNING DISABILITIES

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Education

April 7, 2016 Date Dr. Nancy Maynes Chair of the Examination Committee

(original signatures on file)

Abstract

The present study was conducted to examine primary school teachers' level of knowledge on learning disabilities (LD). This information is important, as early detection of a learning disability has been proven to be imperative to a student's academic success in school. Since primary school teachers are the first educators with whom students come in contact, they may be the first to detect possible signs of a learning disability and initiate some form of intervention. As a result, this research examines primary teachers' level of knowledge about learning disabilities, where teachers obtained this knowledge, and teachers' beliefs about learning disabilities. An Internet survey was employed in this study through Fluid Survey. The questionnaire was advertised to primary school teachers to participate through teacher pages on Facebook. The survey received 143 responses from Ontario primary school teachers. The data analysis for this research was examined in three sections; demographics of participants, primary teachers' knowledge of learning disabilities, and cross analysis between the two other sections (demographics and teachers' knowledge about learning disabilities). Frequency, ANOVA, and chi-square tests were conducted on the data for analysis. It was concluded that teachers have robust knowledge on characteristics of learning disabilities and effective classroom strategies for students with learning disabilities. However, it was also determined that teachers' area of weakness was in their knowledge of risk factors that can cause a student to have a learning disability. Interestingly, early grade primary teachers (grade 1 and grade 2 teachers) received the least support from fellow teachers and educational assistance. Based on these findings it is recommended that further examination of how primary teachers use their knowledge in a classroom with students with LD is required.

Dedication

This work is dedicated to...

My amazing family!

Who have supported me, cheered me on, and helped me overcome the obstacles from my own personal learning disability!

Acknowledgements

There are many people that I need to thank for their continuous support throughout the journey of completing my thesis. First, I would have to thank all the fantastic faculty and staff at Nipissing University's Schulich School of Education. The staff has been very supportive and helpful with any assistance I needed throughout my Master of Education. Additionally, I have learned many lessons and have developed a more in-depth understanding in many different elements of education. Each faculty member challenged me in different ways to help me be able to improve my academic skills immensely. Consequently, I have to thank two very special Nipissing University faculty members, Dr. Tina Benevides and Dr. Andrew Weeks, for their continuous support, guidance, and encouragement throughout my whole Master's experience. Dr. Benevides, your insightful guidance and feedback has helped me grow as an educator and as a writer, and I will forever be grateful for that. You not only impacted me, but you have also impacted my future students with the innovative technology incorporated teaching strategies and devices you have shared. Additionally, a special thank you must be given to Mary Louise Myers. A neighbor, retired vice-principal, special education guru, advice sharer, and someone who always tells me having a learning disability is what makes me special.

A very instrumental acknowledgement needs to go out to my family; I would have never accomplished any of this without their continuous support and encouragement to always follow my dreams. From my parents, Kelly and Steve Kocsis, who have always taught me to put 100% effort into what I do and that when it comes to reaching your dreams the sky is the limit. To my brother, Todd Kocsis, who has always been there to

help me when technology has failed. Additionally, to my twin sister, Andrea Kocsis, who has cried with me, laughed with me, got frustrated with me, and who has encouraged me throughout this whole journey as we embarked on our Masters of Education together. Furthermore, to my extended family, and my grandmother, Gloria Shano, who spent a lot of hours in my undergrad proofreading my papers. You all have been an important part of my life and of having the ability to complete my Master of Education! Without any of you, I am not sure where I would be today.

Finally, but definitely not least, I need to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Lorraine Frost, and my second reader, Dr. Julie Corkett, for their continuous guidance and support throughout the process of completing my thesis. A special thank you to Dr. Lorraine Frost, who spent many hours over the last two years assisting me with leading me in the right direction, answering questions, and sharing her wealth of knowledge. Throughout this process I have learned numerous lessons from you with your educational life stories you have shared and the instrumental quality feedback you provided me throughout the whole process. Dr. Frost, through your positive constructive feedback you have provided me, it has made what can be a stressful journey very enjoyable!

Table of Contents

	Page
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	viii
Organization of Study	xi
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Theoretical Justification	4
Purpose of Study	8
Chapter Two: Review of Related Literature	10
Confusion of LD Definition	10
Acquired Brain Injuries	21
Early Identification	25
Teachers' Level of Knowledge	30
Inclusion	37
Research Questions	40
Chapter Three: Methodology	43
Why Internet Surveys Were Used to Answer the Research Questions	47
Developing the Survey	49
Steps Used to Collect Research	51
Study Sample	52
Description and Preparation	53
Ethical Considerations	54

Chapter Four: Results of the Study	55
Part One: Demographics of Participants	56
Part Two: Knowledge of Learning Disabilities	64
Overview	125
Chapter Five: Discussion	128
1. What level of knowledge do primary teachers' have about LD?	128
2. Where do teachers get their knowledge about LD?	133
3. Do primary teachers believe they fully understand LD?	138
4. How frequently do elementary school teachers receive additional support for	students
with LD at school?	142
5. Are teachers comfortable teaching students with LD? Do they feel prepared e	nough to
teach?	144
Chapter Six: Conclusion	147
Limitations of Study	147
Recommendations	149
Future Studies	153
Implication	153
Conclusion	154
References	155
Appendix A	170
Appendix B	173
Appendix C	176
Annendix D	186

List of Tables

Table	Page
1. Frequency Distribution of Type of Educator	58
2. Frequency Distribution of Current Teaching Position	59
3. Years of Teaching (Intervals)	60
4. Statistical Analysis of Participants' Responses to Characteristics of LD	67
5. Analysis of Variance Test on Teachers' Years of Experience and their Level of Knowledge of Characteristics of LD	73
6. Analysis of Variance for the Teaching Position and Teachers' Knowledge of LD Characteristics	76
7. Chi-Square Close Family Member With a LD and Teachers' Level of Knowledge of Characteristics of LD	78
8. Chi-Square Test Close Friend With a LD and Teachers' Knowledge of LD Characteristics	80
9. Chi-Square Test Participants Attended LD Workshop and Teachers' Knowledge on Characteristics of LD	83
10.Statistical Analysis of Participants' Responses to Potential Risk Factors That Can Cause LD	86
11. Analysis of Variance of Teachers' Years of Experience and Their Level of Knowledge on LD Risk Factors	89
12. Analysis of Variance for Teaching Position and Teachers' Knowledge of LD Risk Factors	91
13. Chi-Square Close Family Member with a LD and Teachers' Level of Knowledge on Risk Factors of LD	92
14. Chi-Square Test Close Friend With a LD and Teachers' Knowledge of LD Risk Factors.	94
15. Chi-Square Test Participants Attended LD Workshop and Teachers' Knowledge of LD Risk Factors	96

Strategies for Students with a LD	98
17. Analysis of Variance Test for Teachers' Years of Experience and Their Level of Knowledge on Effective Teaching Strategies for Students with a LD	101
18. Analysis of Variance Test for the Teaching Position and Teachers' Knowledge of Effective Teaching Strategies for Students with LD	103
19. Chi-Square Test Close Family Member With a LD and Teachers' Knowledge of Effective Teaching Strategies for Teaching Students with LD	106
20. Chi-Square Test Close Friend With a LD and Teachers' Knowledge of Effective Teaching Strategies for Teaching Students With a LD	108
21. Chi-Square Test Participants Attended LD Workshop and Teachers' Knowledge of Effective Teaching Strategies for Students with LD	109
22. Statistical Analysis of Participant Response Teaching Students With LD	112
23. Analysis of Variance for Teachers' Years of Experience and Their Opinions on Teaching Students With a LD	113
24. Analysis of Variance Test for the Teaching Position and Teachers' Opinions Towards Teaching Students with LD	114
25. Chi-Square Close Family Member With a LD and Teachers' Opinions for Teaching Students With a LD	115
26. Chi-Square Test Close Friend With a LD and Teachers' Opinions on Teaching Students with LD.	116
27. Chi-Square Test Participants Attended LD Workshop and Teachers' Opinions Towards Teaching Students with LD	117
28. Statistical Analysis of Participants' Responses for Support Teachers Receive for Teaching Students with a LD.	119
29. Analysis of Variance for Teachers' Years of Experience and the Support They Receive for Teaching Students with LD	120
30. Analysis of Variance for Teacher's Years of Experience and How Often Teachers Receive Support for Teaching Students With a LD	121

32.	Frequency Distribution of Participants	s' Response to What They	
	Would Do if They Suspect a Student in	in Their Class had a LD	.124

Organization of Study

The investigation is reported in five different chapters. Chapter One provides an introduction to the research, theoretical justification for the research, and the purpose of the study. Chapter Two consists of a literature review of the research. This literature review includes the topic of teachers' knowledge of LD and the importance of early detections. Additionally, Chapter Two contains a note about insufficient research that has been conducted on this topic and the research questions that will be examined. Chapter Three provides an explanation of the methodology used by the researcher in which the rationale for a survey to collect data will be examined. The limitations to the study, and ethical considerations will also be discussed. Chapter Four contains the results of the study in three parts; demographics of participants, knowledge of LD, and a cross-tab analysis of the data. Chapter Five comprises the discussion around the answers that were concluded based on the research questions and the data that were collected. Chapter Five includes the conclusion of the study and explores limitations of the study, recommendations, future research that should take place, and a final conclusion of the data findings. Finally, at the end of this report are the references and the appendices of all the extra documents that were used during the study.

Chapter One: Introduction

Learning disabilities (LD) are the most common disability served in special education programs in Canada (Wolforth, 2012) and one of the fastest growing categories of disability (Learning Disabilities Association of Canada, 2007). The Learning Disabilities Association of Canada (2007) stated that, according to Statistics Canada, between 2001 and 2006, LD was the fastest growing type of disability in Canada. Statistics Canada stated that of the children identified with a disability in Canada, 59.8% have been identified with a LD (Learning Disabilities Association of Canada, 2007). In 2001, 9.3% of students in Ontario were identified with an exceptionality (Bennett, Dworet, & Daigle, 2001). In Canada during the 2009–2010 academic year, 43.7% of students identified by an IPRC (Identification, Placement and Review Committee) were identified as having a LD (Learning Disabilities Association of Canada, 2011). Ontario in 2009 had approximately 300,000 students that require some form of assistance through special education (Bennett, 2009). Approximately, half of those identified with an exceptionality are identified with a LD, while the other half are identified with another exceptionality such as; giftedness, behaviour, autism, speech and language disorder, visual impairment, developmental delay, and hearing impairment (Woloshyn, Bennett, & Berrill, 2003). Canadian universities stated that 50 to 75% of their students registered with disability services were identified with a LD (Wolforth, 2012). This preponderance of learning disabilities in special education programs has also been documented in the United States and other countries. In American public schools 2.4 million or 5% of

students are identified with a LD under Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (National Center for Learning Disabilities, 2014). This number does not include students with a LD who attend private schools or who are home schooled in the United States. With the increased focus on the inclusion of all students with disabilities into the regular school classroom (Hsien, Brown, & Bortoli, 2009) it is now very common for an educator to have at least one or more students in his/her classroom with a LD.

Laws and regulations have been introduced in Canada and abroad to ensure students with exceptionalities receive special education. In Canada the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedom (1982) states that all children have the right to an education, including children who have a disability. Furthermore, within the province of Ontario, the education of students is governed by the Education Act, which outlines how education is to be delivered to students enrolled in Ontario's publicly funded school system (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2010). The Act includes regulations pertaining to fees, taxation, alternative learning, student attendance, special education, and the roles of parents, teachers, principals, and administrators (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2005). The regulations of the Education Act that pertain to Special Education include Regulation 181/89: Identification and Placement of Exceptional Pupils, which outlines the procedures that school boards are required to follow when identifying and placing an "exceptional student" (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2005). Additionally, Regulation 306: Special Education Program and Services states the requirements for each school board in Ontario to maintain and implement a special education plan (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007). Regulation 464/97: Special Education Advisory Committees states that every district school board must establish Special Education Advisory Committees

(SEACs) whose role is to provide recommendations to the board regarding the establishment, development, and delivery of special education programs and services (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007). Finally, Regulation 298: Operations of Schools-General outlines the maximum enrolment in special education classrooms and the duties of the principals, vice-principals, teachers, and students.

In the United States the right to an equal education for all students with special needs was first initiated by Public Law 94-142, Education of all Handicapped Children Act, now called the IDEA, passed in 1975. The IDEA states that all individuals have a right to an education without any restrictions (Ladner, 2011). This was followed in 2001 with the introduction of the No Child Left Behind Act in which all children have a fair and equal right to an education (Greer & Meyen, 2009). Furthermore, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act demanded that all individuals with a disability have a right to an education from birth until they are 21 (Ladner, 2011). In Australia, the government has an established program called the Victorian Educational Services for Children with Disabilities (VESED) that outlines the responsibility of all educators to educate all children, including those with a disability (Hsien, et al., 2009). VESED has five principles to support students' learning: every student has the right to be educated in a regular classroom; school-based resources are available to all students; collaborative decision-making processes are taught to students; students are not categorized by the disability; and all students are able to learn (Hsien, et al., 2009).

Therefore, with the increased movement towards the inclusive classroom and equal rights for all students, it is important to understand teachers' knowledge about the most commonly identified disability in schools in Canada, United States, Australia, and other

jurisdictions, which is LD (Clark, 1997; Woodcock & Jiang, 2013). Interestingly, there has been considerable research conducted on inclusive classrooms, teachers' attitudes towards students with LD, importance of early diagnosis of LD, and the confusion that surrounds LD. However, the literature on teachers' knowledge and understanding about LD is minimal.

Theoretical Justification

LD is one of the most common disabilities with which students are diagnosed in schools (Learning Disabilities Association of Canada, 2007). Furthermore, LD often affects a student's cognitive development, which results in students with LD not learning the same way or at the same speed as their peers (Wolforth, 2012). This can then result in students with LD falling behind in their academic development. However, a number of studies (National Center for Learning Disabilities, 2014) have determined that the sooner students with LD are identified and provided with accommodations and modifications, the sooner there will be an increase in their ability to succeed academically. Furthermore, teachers, especially primary teachers, play a critical role in helping to detect students with LD early in their education. As a result, there are a couple of theorists who have examined the effect teachers have on student success.

Dewey was an American philosopher who published on philosophy, education, democracy, and pragmatism (Dewey, 2012). Dewey stated clear roles that are the responsibility of the teacher to fulfill (Noddings, 2012). Dewey stated that teachers are supposed to help guide students with their learning, ensuring that they are engaged in the process, so that students are able to make those connections between prior knowledge and new knowledge (Noddings, 2012). This idea is important when researching teachers'

knowledge because, if teachers are supposed to help guide students' learning, they need to have a base of knowledge about students' educational needs so that they can assist these students accordingly. Teachers have the responsibility to keep their knowledge current on educational information in order to ensure they are providing the most relevant support and education to their students. This includes knowledge about students with a LD and being able to guide and engage those students in their learning. Noddings (2012) noted that in Dewey's philosophy, a teacher's role was to

know something of their students' prior experience and design new learning experiences that grow out of it, but they must also observe their students' present experience and plan future experiences designed to move the student toward a more sophisticated grasp of the subject. (p. 31)

Dewey was expressing that teachers need to know students' education history so that they can then use this information to help assist students in their future education. It is especially important for teachers to know their students' past and present experiences to help identify a student with a LD. Furthermore, if teachers are aware that there is a family history of LD or if there is any documentation of any possible LD risk factors, then the teachers can be aware to look for possible signs of LD and implement the appropriate support needed for the student's current and future education. Therefore, if teachers have the appropriate level of knowledge about LD, they can then help plan effective future educational steps that need to be taken for the student to progress and succeed in his/her education.

Similar to Dewey's philosophy, Desforges's theory included a statement with regards to teachers' role in students' education. Desforges (1995) believed the primary

role of teachers is to promote students' learning, which is accomplished not by what the teachers know, but by how they apply their knowledge. From this perspective, Desforges argues that experienced teachers are more knowledgeable than novice teachers because they have more extensive classroom experience. As a result, Desforges concludes that a positive correlation exists between teachers' level of knowledge and their years teaching. This relates to two of the research questions in this thesis that pertain to where teachers obtain their knowledge and years of experience affect teachers' knowledge of LD.

Furthermore, Wolfensberger's Theory of Normalization, recognizes that all individuals, including those who are devalued by the larger society (i.e., individuals with special needs) have the right to live a normal life (Wolfensberger & Tullman, 1982). Wolfensberger and Tullman (1982) expressed the importance of Wolfensberger's Theory of Normalization based on critical roles different members of society play in ensuring that individuals with a disability obtain the right to a normal life. This includes teachers; teachers play an important role in the education of a student with a LD, as they are often the main sources from which students learn information and are assisted in their academic development (Brook, Watemberg, & Geva, 2000). Hence, this thesis's examination of whether teachers have the appropriate level of knowledge to effectively assist students with LD in being academically successful and functioning effectively in society coincides with Wolfensberger's theory.

In addition to the theories and theorists that support the important role teachers play in students' academic success, there are also many psychological factors that explain the importance of an early LD identification. Spitzer and Aronson (2015) state that the longer it takes for a student to be identified with a LD and intervention to occur, the more likely

the child will fall behind and a larger achievement gap will occur between students with LD and their peers. These achievement gaps between students with LD and their peers may cause students with LD to feel like they do not belong, thereby compromising their social identity, causing a psychological predicament (Spitzer & Aronson, 2015). When students are identified with a LD later in their education, it can trigger a crisis as they struggle with how this new identity affects their social identity (Spitzer & Aronson, 2015). As a result, this can then interfere with the students' with LD performance and their attitudes and willingness to seek extra assistance for their LD because of the social backlash they fear they may receive (Spitzer & Aronson, 2015). Consequently, if students are identified early on in their education, when the social pressures are not as intense, these students may be more open and accepting of intervention and assistance for their LD. This in turn may result in closing the gap or at least minimizing the gap between the academic performance of students with LD and their peers. These research findings support this thesis's objective to examine primary teachers' knowledge of LD. Specifically, if students are identified early on in their education, the psychological impact can be limited. Therefore primary teachers play a critical role in the academic and mental development of students with LD by having these students identified and implementing intervention early in their education to close the academic gaps between students.

The theories mentioned previously demonstrate the importance of research examining primary teachers' knowledge about learning disabilities. Dewey's (2012) philosophy stated that teachers' involvement in students' education is one of the most important components in students' academic success. Desforges (1995) stated that

teachers' knowledge, attitude, and beliefs contribute an important component in teachers' instructions. Wolfensberger's Theory of Normalization (Wolfensberger & Tullman, 1982) examined how each individual has the right to be a normal member of society, including students with LD. Additionally, it is important for students to be identified with LD early in their education to reduce the psychological impact of students questioning their social identity. Therefore, it is important to collect research on primary teachers' knowledge of a common identification, such as a learning disability.

Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study is to examine primary teachers' knowledge of LD. It is important to study primary teachers' knowledge of the disability, as they are the first educators to detect a child with a possible LD and to initiate some form of intervention. For the purpose of this study primary teachers will be the term used to describe teachers teaching kindergarten students to grade 3. Students who are identified with a LD early in their education have a greater likelihood of a positive academic experience than those who are identified later in their education (National Center for Learning Disabilities, 2014). Furthermore, a barrier encountered by students with a LD is the lack of teachers' knowledge about the disability, accommodations, and services these students require (Saravanabhavan & Saravanabhavan, 2010). Teachers' lack of knowledge often contributes to the students' poor performance, low motivation in school, and a lack of the accommodations (Woodcock & Jiang, 2013). The findings of this research may provide insight into primary teachers' level of knowledge about LD, their preparedness, and inclusive classrooms. Additionally, these findings may be of interest to LD specialists, classroom and special education teachers, administrators, school board officials, and

parents.

Chapter Two: Review of Related Literature

The purpose of this study is to examine primary teachers' knowledge of LD. Before determining a method of collecting research and the importance of collecting the research, an in-depth literature review was completed. Multiple research studies were examined on the topic of primary teachers' knowledge of LD including confusion of LD definition, teachers' attitudes, perceptions, and level of knowledge, inclusion of students with LD in the classroom, early identification, and insufficient research.

Confusion of LD Definition

It can be difficult for educators to detect students with LD when there is currently confusion in our society in regards to the definition of LD and its classifications. Siegel (1999), Harrison (2005), and Lange and Thompson (2006) all noted that there is inconsistency in the definition of LD. This lack of a standard definition of a LD may be a contributing factor to teachers' confusion and knowledge of LD.

The question of who is learning disabled is, obviously, one of the most critical questions for the field. It is very important for those involved in research and clinical practice; it is crucial for educational systems, especially those systems in which funding is based on the number of individuals with learning disabilities. (Seigel, 1999, p. 304–305)

Currently in the United States and Canada there is still no standardized clear definition of a LD, but there are some commonalities in the different definitions (Harrison, 2005). Most definitions of LD note in some form that an individual with this disorder has a weakness in at least one psychological process, such as in reading, writing, mathematics, and so on (Callinan, Cunningham, & Theiler, 2013; Siegel, 1989). The IDEA in 2004

defined LD as "a disorder in one or more of the basic psychological process involved in understanding or using language that may manifest itself in an imperfect ability to: listen, think, speak, read, write, spell, or do math" (Callinan et al., 2013, pp.1–2), while, the Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario (2014) defines a LD as

a variety of disorders that affect the acquisition, retention, understanding, organization or use of verbal and/or non-verbal information. These disorders result from impairments in one or more psychological processes related to learning (a), in combination with otherwise average abilities essential for thinking and reasoning. Learning disabilities are specific not global impairments and as such are distinct from intellectual disabilities. (p.7)

As a result, many teachers' understanding of LD are based on different definitions with some common themes, such as a student having difficulty in processing information in either mathematics, reading, and/or writing.

As mentioned previously, a number of researchers (e.g., Callinan et al., 2013; Siegel, 1999; Woodcock & Jiang, 2013) state that the confusion surrounding LD identification is a result of there being no established and consistent definition for LD. However, in May 2013 the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5 (DSM-5) was released by the American Psychiatric Association (American Psychiatric Association, 2014). It is now used in the United States, Canada, and other locations around the world as a guide to assist health care professional with diagnosing mental disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2014). The guide contains symptoms, descriptions, and clinical language so that there can be a common understanding and communication among all professionals that examine mental disorders (American

Psychiatric Association, 2014). As a result, the DSM-5 contains the most up-to-date information about the criteria in diagnosing an individual with a mental disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2014). The DSM-5 defines a LD as "a type of Neurodevelopmental Disorder that impedes the ability to learn or use specific academic skills (e.g., reading, writing, or arithmetic), which are the foundation for other academic learning" (Tannock, 2014). If all researchers, clinical personal, psychologists, and all professionals that came in contact with LD used DSM-5, it would then create a consistency in LD diagnosis and therefore limit the confusion. This would include teachers using DSM-5 to help in the process of detecting students with a possible LD early in their education experience so that referral for assessment and identification would occur as early as possible.

Conversely, with the DSM-5 established, it is unclear why some researches still choose not to use it. Dr. Thomas Insel, director of the National Institute in Mental Health stated that the National Institute of Mental Health would no longer be using DSM (Szalavitz, 2013) because the National Institute of Mental Health wants to use a more comprehensive approach. As Insel (2013) states,

Unlike our definitions of ischemic heart disease, lymphoma, or AIDS, the DSM diagnoses are based on a consensus about clusters of clinical symptoms, not any objective laboratory measure. In the rest of medicine, this would be equivalent to creating diagnostic systems based on the nature of chest pain or the quality of fever. Indeed, symptom-based diagnosis, once common in other areas of medicine, has been largely replaced in the past half century as we have understood that symptoms alone rarely indicate the best choice of

treatment. Patients with mental disorders deserve better. (para. 2)

Later, Insel described why they do not use DSM by giving the following metaphor:

Imagine deciding that EKGs were not useful because many patients with chest pain did not have EKG changes. That is what we have been doing for decades when we reject a biomarker because it does not detect a DSM category. We need to begin collecting the genetic, imaging, physiologic, and cognitive data to see how all the data – not just the symptoms- cluster and how these clusters relate to treatment responses. (para. 4)

As a result there is still an ongoing debate among psychologists as to what definition or method should be used to assess and diagnose LD disorders. Consequently, this can affect teachers' confusion with helping to identify possible students with LD.

Even when definitions of LD agree, there are still uncertainties in identifying students with LD. In the United States the prevalence of LD identification has differed by as much as 4% to 5% (Callinan et al., 2013). These high prevalence rates commonly exist because of different expectations and processes of identifying students with LD (Callinan et al., 2013). In the United States and Canada, the main reasons for the large discrepancy of LD identification across provinces and states is because of unclear definitions and identification conditions (Woodcock & Jiang, 2013). Contributing to the confusion of LD in Canada, education is under provincial/territorial jurisdiction, not under the federal government. As a result, each province and territory has its own department of education that controls its special education funding, curriculum, identification procedures, services and the delivery of the program in its jurisdiction (Winzer, 1996; Dworet & Bennett, 2002). This generates differences in the special education programing across the ten

provinces and three territories of Canada, which may further contribute to educators' confusion about LD. Additionally, if an educator is trained in one jurisdiction and then teaches in a different jurisdiction there may be variations in the definition of a LD (Dworet & Bennett, 2002).

Scruggs and Mastropieri (2002) conducted research on addressing the problem of the LD identification in the United States. In their research they identified six major problems with the identification of students with a LD. These problems include: over-identification, variability and specificity, conceptual considerations, discrepancy issues, early identification, and local implementation (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002).

Over-identification has been increasingly occurring over the last 40 years (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). Scruggs and Mastropieri concluded that a large portion of the over-identification was a result of misclassification of the disability due to teachers' requirement to get more instructional help in the classroom. Furthermore, Scruggs and Mastropieri discussed how over-identification has been a result of imprecision in definitions, a change with classifying individuals with a LD who would previously be identified with mental retardation, and the term being overgeneralized (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). In the United States, since 1975, the number of students identified with a disability has dramatically increased by 150%, with LD representing 50% of all students identified with a disability (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). This greatly exceeds the previous rate of 20–30% of students being identified with a disability were labeled with a LD (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). Even the rate of 20-30% may be too high, as Wagner and Garon (1999) believe that the number of all students enrolled in school with a LD was actually closer to 1%–3% of elementary school children. This over estimation

may be due to teachers' labeling all students who are struggling academically as having an LD. It can be argued that students who have low achievement academically cannot be reliably distinguished from those students who have a LD, and this is another contributing factor with the issues of students' with LD identification (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002).

To help assist in distinguishing between students with LD and students who have low academic achievement the responsiveness to intervention (RTI) may be used (Fuchs, Mock, Morgan & Young, 2003). RTI examines the difference between pre- and post-intervention (Gresham, 2002). With RTI the goal of an intervention is to have improvement in students' post-intervention performance. When the intervention causes no change in the student's performance it is believed that this provides evidence that the student has a LD (Gresham, 2002). However, RTI can still contribute to educators' confusion surrounding LD. This is a result of RTI being implemented in a variety of formats in different jurisdictions, where the differences occur in the number of interventions that are given; the view of the process as eligibility to be identified (i.e., is the RTI the suitable evaluation for identification of LD, or a precursor); who delivers the intervention; and how the intervention is monitored or evaluated (Fuchs et al., 2003).

In contrast to RTI, a discrepancy model can be used to identify students with an LD. Since 1976 a discrepancy between a student's intellectual and academic ability has been one of the main criterion for defining LD (Kavale, 2001). The discrepancy model is used to assess the difference between a student's intellectual ability (as measured by an intelligence quotient) and the student's academic achievement (Kavale, 2001). The premise of the discrepancy model is to ensure that the student's difficulty

cannot be attributed to low intellectual ability (Kavale, 2001). Discrepancy issues contribute to the problem of LD identification because of the use of IQ test results to determine if a student should be identified with a LD. However, Scruggs and Mastropieri argue that IQ test results are not an accurate prediction of a student's academic performance or growth because there is no consistency in the methodology used to measure a student's discrepancy (Kavale, 2001). Therefore, the discrepancy model continues to foster inconsistency rather than creating a standardized method of identifying LD.

Scruggs and Mastropieri (2002) stated that these problems with the identification of LD can be eliminated through the implementation of a strict obedience to the LD identification criteria and through an increase in the consistency of the criteria used to identify students. Scruggs and Mastropieri have proposed several alternative procedures for the identification of students with a LD. The alternative methods for the identification of LD include: double-deficit criteria, phonological process core difference model, chronological age definitions, Bayesian procedure, neuropsychological assessment, assessment of cognitive processing, and operational interpretation. Doubledeficit criteria is an identification procedure that uses criteria from phonic analysis tasks and rapid continuous naming of letters and numbers to determine if an individual should be identified with a LD (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002), while, phonological process core difference model helps to determine if a student has a LD in early grades by the difference in a student's phonological process (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). The difference can determine if a student is a poor reader or if he/she is dyslexic. The chronological age definitions alternative method suggests students being identified with a LD if on achievement they score below their age expectancy (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). Bayesian identification procedure examines a student's prior and current information to determine if the student has a LD (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). Furthermore, the neuropsychological assessment identification procedure examines numerous neuropsychological assessments to determine if a student should be identified with a LD (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). Assessment of cognitive processing for identifying students with LD uses a number of cognitive process tests to determine if the students should be identified (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). Finally, operational interpretation uses a five-level identification process that focuses on an individual's operational definition to determine if the student has a LD (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002).

Educators' confusion of LD is not solely limited to the definition and identification debates; there is additional confusion around the risk factors that may cause someone to develop a LD. It is generally believed that a LD is caused by neurological differences in which a person's ability to take in, remember, comprehend or express information is affected (Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario, 2015). The Learning Disabilities Association of Canada (2014) identifies three causations of a LD; heredity, problems that occur during pregnancy and birth (i.e., illness, injury, drug use, alcohol use during pregnancy or lack of oxygen, premature birth, low birth weight or prolonged labour), or incidents that occur after birth (i.e. injuries to the head, exposure to toxins and nutritional deprivation). The incidents that occur after birth increase the likelihood of a LD when it occurs early in a child's life, when the brain is still in a critical stage of development (age 2 and younger) (Keenan, Runyan, Marshall, Nocera, Merten, & Sinal, 2003). This

includes poor nutrition, injuries to the head, and exposure to toxins. The most contentious of these is brain injuries.

There is not only confusion among educators about the definition and risk factors of a LD, but also misconceptions exist among teachers about the different types of LD. Mayes and Calhoun (2007) examined misconceptions about the types and frequencies of different learning disabilities. Mayes and Calhoun discussed that it is commonly believed that a LD in mathematics is rare, while a LD in reading is the most prevalent. Mayes and Calhoun stated that the misconception about reading being the most prevalent classification of LD was a result of none of the published articles stating this fact used any empirical research to support their statement. Furthermore, Mayes and Calhoun stated that the only article that conducted research and stated a report on the prevalence of reading LD was Erik and Elkins (1975), in which they used a questionnaire, where a large majority (80%) of the content was focused on remedial reading. Additionally, Mayes and Calhoun state that research into writing disabilities has been neglected. Mayes and Calhoun used an experimental design in which 485 children were "administered the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children – III (WISC- III, Wechsler, 1991) and the WIAT Basic Reading, Reading Comprehension, Numerical Operations, Spelling and Written Expression subtests" (p. 439). The 485 children that were used in Mayes and Calhoun's research had all be previously identified as having a learning problem of some sort and referred to a special clinic. Mayes and Calhoun concluded that the most commonly occurring LD was a LD in writing. Mayes and Calhoun determined this by using the WISC-III and WIAT to compare participants' IQ and achievement in their sample of students referred to them, and discovered that only 4% of students with LD had

a LD in reading alone. Furthermore, only 4% of students had a LD in only mathematics. Meanwhile, 50% of students identified with LD had a LD solely in writing, and 42% of students had a LD in writing but also had a LD in reading and/or mathematics (Mayes & Calhoun, 2007). This finding is very different from other research previously conducted where the belief was that a LD in reading was the most common classification (Mayes & Calhoun, 2007). As a result there is a discrepancy among the different published articles in regards to the prevalence of the different classifications of LD. This misinformation then leads to many people developing misconceptions and confusion about the different classifications of LD.

In Ontario there is an identification process developed by the Ontario Ministry of Education that educators are expected to follow when they believe a student has a LD. Recently, on the 26th of August 2014, the Ontario Ministry of Education developed and released a new Memorandum (Policy/Program Memorandum No. 8) that sets out requirements for school boards to follow for identifying a student with a learning disability (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2014). This process begins with screening students in school through anecdotal notes recorded by the regular classroom teacher and a special education teacher. Precursors to identifying a student as having a learning disability can be that they are performing academically behind the level of their peers (Harrison, 2005). Screening, through assessment such as CASI and PM Benchmarking, can take place individually with students or in a group of students, in which teachers can then implement programs based on the screening results (Harrison, 2005). These screenings do not formally identify students with a LD but the results indicate that further assessment should be conducted to determine if a student does have a LD.

Once students have been screened and the student is persistently demonstrating characteristics of a LD, a more in-depth assessment should be conducted by a psychologist or by an individual who is supervised by a psychologist (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2014). A member of the College of Psychologists of Ontario must conduct the psychological and psycho-educational assessments with consent from the student's parents (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2014). The assessment is categorical and data are collected to determine if a student can be formally diagnosed with a LD (Harrison, 2005). These in-depth assessments should include: information provided by student, educator, and parent (this includes in-class assessment and observations of the student at home and at school), student's education history, medical information (including information on student's hearing and vision), and a professional assessment (psychological and/or psycho-educational assessments; Ontario Ministry of Education, 2014). In Ontario psychologists use DSM-5 to assess a student for a LD (Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario, 2014). The above assessments are to be used in an IPRC meeting in which the attendees will determine if the student should be identified with a LD. Additionally, an IEP is to be created and implemented. During this process students are not identified with a LD until an IPRC meeting has been conducted and it has been officially determined that the student does have a LD. However, prior to this, teachers may start to assist possible students' with LD learning by implementing some accommodations to help these students succeed academically.

Many teachers and parents find the IPRC process of having a student formally identified with an exceptionality to be confusing. This confusion does not occur only with the identification process, but also the concept of LD, its definition, and misdiagnosis

(see Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002; Siegel, 1999). Overall, the lack of a standard universal definition of LD has imposed a problem with identifying students. Kavale and Forness (2000) stated that, "the failure to produce a unified definition has meant that LD lack two critical elements; understanding – a clear and unobscured sense of LD – and explanation – a rational exposition of the reasons why a particular student is LD" (p. 240). Kavale and Forness argue that until LD definition is clearly conceptualized, difficulties with LD identification will always be present.

Acquired Brain Injuries

As stated previously there are many misconceptions and confusion surrounding LD; this is not only limited to the definition of identification process, but there is additional debate over the causes of LD. Brain injuries may cause an individual to develop a LD because a learning disability is a neurological disability in which complication somewhere in the brain could affect the development of the brain and therefore cause an individual to develop a learning disability (Learning Disability Association of Canada, 2014). However, advocates for acquired brain injury (ABI) suggest this is false and instead argue that individuals who acquire an exceptionality (disability) after some form of brain injury is different than developmental LD. Zinga, Bennett, Good, and Kumpf (2005) define an ABI as, "any type of sudden injury that causes temporary or permanent damage to the brain" (p. 2). Where the damage to the brain can be the result of some form of trauma that has occurred to the head, for example, concussion, anoxia, infection, cerebral vascular accident, etc. Furthermore, Zinga, Bennett, Good, and Kumpf (2005) argue that ABI is an unique exceptionality affecting students' learning because it is acquired and the trauma impacts the function of the brain, where each individual is

affected differently. If the student acquires the brain injury during their developmental stages, it can have a more lasting affect. Zinga, Bennett, Good, and Kumpf believe that those students who have ABI have different needs than those students with LD, such as cognitive fatigue, social inappropriateness, agitation, memory, initiating actions and emotional outburst. This confusion results in labeling students with LD who might have some other disability and not LD (i.e. ABI). However, when examining the definition of LD and ABI, one might portray ABI to be a cause of LD because a LD is "a disorder in one or more of the basic psychological process involved in understanding or using language that may manifest itself in an imperfect ability to: listen, think, speak, read, write, spell, or do math" (Callinan et al., 2013, pp.1–2). In contrast, Zinga, Bennett, Good, and Kumpf define ABI as any form of abrupt injury to the brain that results in permanent or temporary damage, where by the injury could be a result of head injury in an accident, concussions, toxicity, cerebral vascular accident, anoxia, or an infection (Bennett, Good & Kumpf, 2003), where this damage to the brain can affect a student's cognitive ability (i.e. reasoning, thinking, communication), and the way they think, therefore also impacting the way they learn (Rees & Skidmore, 2008). Since an ABI may affect the way someone thinks and learns, it may be argued that an ABI is a cause of LD (Learning Disability Association of Canada, 2014).

In contrast Obrzut and Hynd (1987) argue that that the central nervous system of children with LD is dysfunctional and that they portray more subtle neurological deficits than children with ABI. In addition, ABI in children is unpredictable and can have a more profound effect as a result of their brain still developing (Zinga, Bennett, Good, and Kumpf, 2005). Furthermore children and adolescents with ABI share common problems

with students who have a LD such as: academic underachievement, imperfection in a students' ability to think, read, write, speak, listen, spell or do mathematics (Obrzut & Hynd, 1987). However, while LD is known to be a life long disability, students with ABI have the potential for recovery from the incurred brain injury (Obrzut & Hynd, 1987) even if that recovery may take many years and a full cognitive recovery may not occur (Rees & Skidmore, 2008). Rees and Skidmore (2008) state that it is widely believed that after ABI students can access the learning they acquired before the injury, however it then becomes very difficult for new learning to occur. Often, ABI students' way of thinking has changed as a result of the injury. With assistance, ABI students can often quickly return to the same academic level they portrayed previous to the injury, although these students will need help to learn in new ways. Often ABI can lead to frequent behavioural and educational difficulties, some very similar as those portrayed by students with a LD (Rees & Skidmore, 2008).

Zinga, Bennett, Good and Kumpf (2005) argue that ABI and LD are different and therefore the education support accommodations needed are also different. Zinga, Bennett, Good and Kumpf state that only two provinces (British Columbia and Newfoundland and Labrador) acknowledge ABI as an exceptionality and provide significant support needed for these students. Both British Columbia and Newfoundland and Labrador do recognize ABI as a distinct exceptionality in which students do require accommodations, however, it is not recognized in either of their legislations (School Act) as an exceptionality (Zinga, Bennett, Good and Kumpf, 2005). For the majority of Canada, ABI is under-recognized and poorly supported in the Canadian federal and provincial education systems (Zinga, Bennett, Good and Kumpf, 2005). Zinga, Bennett,

Good and Kumpf argue that access to appropriate accommodations and responsiveness are key issues for ABI. Students with ABI in the regular classroom may not portray common patterns of a disability that would qualify them for accommodations. Furthermore, if their patterns do depict that of someone who needs accommodation, ABI students often do not benefit from the accommodations given (Zinga, Bennett, Good and Kumpf, 2005). This is a result of each ABI individual having a unique injury and therefore each individual has unique accommodations needs. Zinga, Bennett, Good and Kumpf recommend that an ABI student's appropriate accommodations be determined through a trial and error strategy, where there are frequent reevaluations and alterations made. The frequent reevaluations and alterations for ABI students are very important because unlike LD, ABI cognitive ability can change vastly over a short period of time. This change results in the required accommodations changing or not being needed for the student with ABI. As a result Zinga, Bennett, Good and Kumpf argue that the appropriate accommodations needed by an ABI student would be different than those needed by a students with LD.

After examining literature regarding both ABI and LD it can be noted that there are many commonalities and difference between the two exceptionalities. For example, both ABI and LD are a result of a neurological disorder. However, LD is an exceptionality that an individual has for their lifetime, while this is not necessarily true for students with ABI. Additionally, the literature on ABI and LD, in both cases, addresses the issue of the confusion and misinformation in regards to the exceptionality. Teachers' limited knowledge of ABI and LD, along with the conflicting research of both contributes to the confusion of ABI and LD. For the purpose of this research it will be assumed that ABI

and LD are two separate exceptionalities. As a result this research will be examining primary teachers' level of knowledge on LD and will not be evaluating teachers' comprehension of ABI.

Early Identification

The importance of an early LD identification is critical for students as it ensures that they get the support they need for academic success (Felton, 1992; Reschly, 2005). The early identification of students allows intervention to occur with the overall goal of preventing low achievement that often results in students with LD having a lifelong battle in their education journey (Reschly, 2005). Scruggs and Mastropieri (2002) discussed that early identification of LD is crucial for students as it is easier to remediate a student in the younger grades because the gap between their academic performance and their grade expected academic achievement is not as large compared to students in the higher grades who have not had any academic remediation. Scruggs and Mastroiperi believed that the focus for students with LD should be on early identification and implementation of programs to help these students get caught up to the achievement appropriate for their grade level. Therefore, if remediation is not in place, the students are at a great risk of falling significantly behind their peers in their education.

Unfortunately, a number of schools follow the "wait to fail" model (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002), in which they do not identify students with LD until the student has failed a number of courses. If education waits until failure occurs, there will not only be significant emotional effects that hinder students' progress, but it will also become increasingly difficult for the student to achieve grade-level expectations (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). Children are often not identified with LD until the third grade

because schools that utilize the discrepancy model for identifying LD argue that the student must be preforming at least two academic years below their grade level before determining if a LD exists (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). However, the advantage of an early identification is that it allows educators to determine students' phonological processes, which are important in predicting students' reading ability (Felton, 1992). By providing students with intervention to support phonological development it may improve the students' reading, and understanding of speech and sound (Felton, 1992). Early identification may also assist students in their academic progress because each progressively higher grade puts a greater demand on reading skills. This occurs, in part, because of the old adage that if you can read, you can go to university, which relies heavily on a student's ability to read. In addition to academics, reading also plays an important part in our society. As Jenkins & O'Conner (2002) stated;

We can all agree that reading is one of the principle tools for understanding our humanity, for making sense of our world, for advancing the democratic ideal, and for generating personal and national prosperity. We can agree that ability to read allows us to achieve three important goals: building knowledge (e.g., learning about the physical world); acquiring information for accomplishing tasks (e.g., installing a VCR); and deriving pleasure and feeding our interests (e.g., how our favorite athletic team has fared). Lacking reading ability, our lives would be very different. They would not be as rich. (p.1)

Students who have a LD in reading face huge challenges, including hindering their ability to reach a reading proficiency level in which they are able acquire

information and build knowledge (Jenkins & O'Connor, 2002). A lot of these students' frustrations come from reading comprehension, which is the direct purpose of reading. In order for someone to be a successful, they must be able to perform the three pillars for reading comprehension: "the ability to read words; the ability to comprehend language; and the ability to access background and topical knowledge relevant to specific texts" (Jenkins & O'Connor, 2002, p.1). Students with a LD in reading are weak in one or more of those three pillars, which causes problems with the students' reading comprehension ability. In students with a LD in reading, one of the early identifiers is the students' difficulty in obtaining efficient word-level reading skill (Jenkins & O'Connor, 2002). The longer it takes to identify a student with a reading LD, the more time there is for the student's reading difficulties to increase. If a student is not identified early enough their reading difficulty can become intractable (Jenkins & O'Connor, 2002). Jenkins & O'Connor noted that often students with a LD in reading are not identified until junior grades. In order for the most effective intervention to occur, these students need to be identified in Kindergarten/early primary grades. As a result Jenkins & O'Connor state that in order for students with LD in reading to be successful in their academics they need to develop the ability to succeed at the three pillars of reading comprehension, where interventions to assist these students are conducted very early in their education.

Catts, Nielsen, Bridges, Liu and Bontempo (2015) studied the early identification of students who have a LD in reading through the use of universal screening and progress monitoring of 366 kindergarten students. Catts et al. argued that early identification of students with a reading disability is critical to helping students with a LD obtain remediation. Catts et al. administered screening tests to each student as they entered

kindergarten; students who were identified as being at risk of having a LD in reading were provided intervention. It is important to provide intervention that focuses specifically on developing skills to assist the students with their reading development (i.e., phonological development, letter knowledge and word development) as it allows intervention to be implemented before negative consequences develop, such as the downward spiral of lowered self-esteem, poor motivation and underachievement (Catts et al., 2015; Snowling, 2013; Lange & Thompson, 2006). At risk students who received early intervention obtained a significant increase in their reading ability (Catts et al., 2015). The intervention Catts et al., provided students worked on students' phonological development, letter knowledge and word knowledge. Additionally Catts et al., determined that early intervention received by students identified as being at risk resulted in an increase in their reading accuracy and fluency by the end of grade one, especially when early intervention was implemented by January of their kindergarten year.

A LD in reading often affects students' writing ability and consequently every aspect of their education, resulting in increased chances of dropping out of school early (Jenkins & O'Connor, 2002). Similar to the importance of early identification of those students with a LD in reading, it is also important to identify those students with a LD in writing. Graham, Harris, and Larsen (2001) conducted a study that examined prevention and interventions for students with a LD in writing, in which Graham et al. discussed four previously conducted studies that determined that early intervention programs benefit students with a LD in writing. This benefit can be seen in higher grades, where students who have participated in early writing intervention are close to, if not at, grade level in their writing compared to those students with a LD in writing who did not participate in

early intervention (Graham et al., 2001). The reason for early intervention being successful is because it assists struggling writers to catch up with their peers early in their academic process before their disabilities become more intractable (Graham et al., 2001). Graham et al. noted that the early intervention writing programs that are most likely to benefit students with LD are; receive individual guided writing opportunities, provide specific guidelines and examples for students to follow, and allocate additional time for them to write.

Although students' progress in their reading and writing can help depict if a student has a LD, common behavioural characteristics that a student portrays can assist in identifying students with a LD early in their education. McKinney (1989) discussed his findings concerning the common behavioral characteristics of students with LD. Knowing the common behavioural characteristics of students with LD not only helps increase the ability to identify a student with a LD in a timely fashion, it also ensures that intervention can be provided early so that students can benefit from the support given. McKinney observed that two thirds of students in grades 1 and 2 who were diagnosed with LD "displayed a persistent pattern of maladaptive classroom behavior that distinguished them from average achieving peers and that was associated with continued underachievement overtime" (p. 141). Examples of a maladaptive behaviour in the classroom would be a student's inability to adjust during the day and interfering in their learning and their peers' learning. Furthermore, students who showed maladaptive behaviours and had a LD were not progressing at an appropriate rate in their learning compared to students who did not have a LD. Ultimately, McKinney determined that interventions, focusing on behaviour and academics, in the early years helped promote,

especially with behavioral issues, greater academic success for students with LD later in life. Such intervention gives students the tools and resources they need to succeed academically and socially and to build confidence in their learning early in their education experience.

Early identification of a LD is important for a number of factors. These factors include: students' future academic success, social development, and psychological development. Students with LD should be included in a regular classroom in which appropriate support is provided for the students' specific LD. In this section, teachers' attitudes and knowledge were two factors that were continually noted to play a key role in success in an inclusion classroom for students with LD. It is important to examine primary teachers' knowledge of LD, as these teachers are among the first teachers to have students with LD included in their classrooms.

Teachers' Level of Knowledge

Despite the importance of early identification, there is the continuous issue of teachers informally mislabeling students as having a LD (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2002). The mislabeling of students may be due to the teacher's limited knowledge and understanding of LD. This limited knowledge may also impact their perception and treatment of students who have a formal identification of LD.

D. C. Wright (2008) examined teachers' level of knowledge on nonverbal learning disabilities by studying 116 teachers from three different elementary schools in Delaware. One subgroup of teachers was given a short fact sheet on nonverbal LD and the other subgroups were not given this fact sheet. To collect his research, Wright used a survey along with a pre- and post-test given to teachers given during staff meetings. Wright

found in the pre-tests that there was very little difference between the subgroups of teachers based on their knowledge of nonverbal learning disabilities. Furthermore, he found that teachers were not comfortable referring a student for further evaluation if they believed the student had a nonverbal LD (Wright, 2008). Additionally, Wright found that 95% of teachers involved in his research did not know the indicators of a nonverbal LD. Wright concluded that teachers are not knowledgeable of nonverbal learning disabilities and therefore more needs to be done to increase teachers' knowledge of this LD. Wright also concluded that administering a short fact sheet about LD established a significant gain in teachers' knowledge of LD.

Abercrombie (2009) based her research on the fact teachers' attitudes were cited as the most important factor that determined successful inclusion of a student with LD. While the focus of this research was on attitudes towards students with LD, there were findings that show the importance of teachers' knowledge about LD and how that can affect their teaching. Abercrombie examined special education teachers' and general education teachers' attitudes towards students with LD. The specific factors that Abercrombie examined regarding teachers' attitudes were: teacher background variables, institutional variables, teacher preparedness, working environment, and performance incentives. Abercrombie determined that variables from the teachers' background and the institutions from which they obtained their Bachelor of Education could not be used to predict teachers' attitudes towards students with LD, as there were no correlations between the different groups of teachers studied and their attitudes towards students with LD. However, there was a correlation between teachers' motivation, environment, and incentives that influenced teachers' attitudes towards students with LD (Abercrombie,

2009). Of particular interest with regards to teachers' knowledge about LD and how that may affect their teaching, Abercrombie determined that teachers needed more training in special education to fully understand how to support students' specific needs, thereby enabling their students to be academically successful. Furthermore, she noted that although there were some similarities between general education teachers and special education teachers, special education teachers expressed a concern about general education teachers' attitudes towards students with LD and their willingness to teach these students in a regular classroom (Abercrombie, 2009).

Brook et al. (2000) used a questionnaire to examine Israeli teachers' knowledge and attitudes towards students with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and LD. Brook et al. noted in their findings that teachers' knowledge of LD is limited. These findings are important, as often it is the student's educator who first recognizes the possibility that a student may have ADHD or LD (Brook et al., 2000). As a result, if teachers have limited knowledge of LD, this will affect the teachers' ability to recognize and provide appropriate accommodations to assist these possible students with LD to reach their academic potential and to cope with their exceptionality.

Interestingly, Saravanabhavan and Saravanbhavan (2010) examined teachers' level of knowledge towards LD in India, where in India little attention is given to disabilities that are not physically noticeable. Saravanabhavan and Saravanbhavan determined that "teaching experience and familiarity with persons with LD did not affect the knowledge level of the three groups of participants" (p. 136). However, Saravanbhavan and Saravanbhavan (2010) did note that the limited knowledge of LD resulted in negative attitudes by teachers towards students with the identification. Similarly, Aladwani and Al

Shaye (2012) identified in their research that Kuwait teachers' knowledge of LD was insufficient for teachers to have the ability to detect early signs of dyslexia in primary students. Additionally, several studies (Aladwani & Al Shaye, 2012; Greer & Meyen, 2009; Kirby, Davies, & Bryant, 2005; Saravanbhavan & Saravanbhavan, 2010) identified a number of factors that influence teachers' knowledge of LD. These factors include: poor training, lack of time for professional development on LD, overload of work, teacher preparation programs, insufficient preparation of special education teachers, accountability of teachers, teachers' misunderstanding of special education terms, and their amount of responsibility (Aladwani & Al Shaye, 2012; Greer & Meyen, 2009; Kirby et al., 2005; Saravanbhavan & Saravanbhavan, 2010). Teachers will not be able to sufficiently accommodate students with LD if their knowledge is limited (Kirby et al., 2005).

Saravanbhavan and Saravanbhavan (2010) noted that teachers who attended regular special education workshops scored the highest on the knowledge test about students with special needs. However, poor training influences teachers' knowledge of LD by not equipping teachers with the necessities they need in order to obtain the knowledge and skills required to best be effective in teaching students with a LD. Additionally, if teachers are not adequately trained and prepared to teach students with special needs, this can result in the teacher becoming overwhelmed and affect their teaching performance (Saravanbhavan & Saravanbhavan, 2010).

Teachers are aware of students with LD in the education system; however being overloaded with responsibilities and daily school routines along with lack of time prevent teachers from being able to help these students to the best of their ability or allow them

the time to conduct future research on how to best assist these students' learning needs (Aladwani & Al Shaye, 2012). Overload of work and the amount of responsibility teachers have affects their knowledge of LD, as often they are too busy or they have too many requirements so that they do not have time to spend on understanding LD and doing their own personal research or observation of LD. In a classroom, there are many needs and demands on the teacher. Between lesson planning, marking and assessing students, extracurricular activities, and so on, there can be very little time for teachers to research LD, nor does it become a top priority if there are other responsibilities that need to be completed first. The lack of time for professional development on LD influences teachers' knowledge of LD, as teachers have not been able to attend professional development sessions. This affects teachers' level of knowledge as they might not be up to date on current progression made in identifying and teaching techniques that are effective for students with LD. As a result they might not be fully aware of the most current information available about LD, particularly relating to new teaching strategies.

Teachers' limited knowledge of LD and overload of work can be addressed through collaboration with other educators. When collaboration occurs between regular classroom teachers and special education teachers it can benefit students with a LD. Gromoll's (2008) research on teachers' perception of students with the achievement characteristics of LD found that when collaboration occurs there is an increase in the effectiveness in meeting the needs of students with LDs on statewide assessments. This increase in effectiveness is a result of teachers learning from one another and assisting each other with teaching techniques, resources and ideas to assist their students. Further research is required to determine whether collaboration will also effectively meet the needs of

students with LD in their regular classroom.

Teachers' misunderstanding of special education terms and the amount of responsibility put onto them influence teachers' level of knowledge. Teachers may perceive that their understanding of LD is accurate, although in actuality it might be inaccurate or incorrect, contributing to teachers' confusion about the disability. Furthermore, teachers' misunderstanding of LDs can lead to a negative attitude towards students who have a LD (Saravanbhavan & Saravanbhavan, 2010). Gromoll (2008) noted that some teachers have negative attitudes towards students with LD that can cause everlasting effects on students with LD; including increased academic and behavioral problems. Additionally, when teachers expect students with LD to have low academic performance, they provide students with low academic marks and have low expectations of the students with LD (Gromoll, 2008). Gromoll did determine that teachers' perceptions and beliefs do play a very significant role in student achievement. Additionally, Woloshyn, Bennett and Berrill (2003) conducted research examining Ontario teacher candidates' perception of their preparedness to teach students with a LD and concluded that the teacher candidates were apprehensive about their ability to assess, identify and create a learning program for students with a LD in their classroom. (Woloshyn et al., 2003). Moreover, Greer and Meyen, (2009) noted that teachers' knowledge of LD is essential to translating curriculum expectations into content taught to students, meaning the more teachers know about LD, the more they are able to take the curriculum expectations that they need to teach the students and put the content into a format that will be most effective for the students' learning needs.

Research indicates that academic success for students with LD is directly tied to

their teachers' ability to identify and assist students' with LD (Aladwani & Shaye, 2012; Saravanbhavan and Saravanbhavan, 2010). Interestingly, Kirby et al.'s (2005) research examined physicians' and teachers' level of knowledge. The purpose of their research was the examination of a labeling culture that has resulted in confusion over the terms and difficulties encountered by students with LD. Kirby et al. stated "teachers will not be able to recognize or accommodate the children with learning difficulties in class if their knowledge is limited" (p. 126). They found that teachers identified more correct statements about LD than general practitioners. However, Kirby et al. also stated that both the teachers' and general practitioners' knowledge was limited. In the participants' responses' only 1% of teachers and none of general practitioners were able to expand beyond a general definition of a learning disability when defining the term, meaning that the correct responses gave only a brief awareness of the LD and did not give a detailed definition of what the LD specifically was, how it affected the individual with that form of LD, nor were they able to give detailed characteristics and educational strategies.

Kirby et al. (2005) stated that it is important to determine teachers' level of knowledge in regards to LD because, if their level of knowledge is inadequate, they will not be able to identify and accommodate students who are in need. Furthermore, Kirby et al. stated, "It is important to identify children with specific disabilities, as there is evidence that suggests that there are long-term outcomes for those who do not receive adequate intervention" (p. 126). These long-term outcomes for students who do not receive intervention include emotional and psychological problems in adulthood (Kirby et al., 2005). As a result, it is essential that primary teachers have sufficient knowledge about LD so that they can identify students early and therefore prevent these long-term

risks from occurring.

Inclusion

Inclusion has been a main focus in education for the last two decades as it gives every student, including those with disabilities, the opportunity to participate in a regular classroom education (Hsien et al., 2009). An inclusive education may be defined as ensuring the supports to:

- welcome and include all learners, in all of their diversity and exceptionalities, in the regular classroom, in the neighbourhood school with their age peers:
- foster the participation and fullest possible development of all learners' human potential; and
- foster the participation of all learners in socially valuing relationships with diverse peers and adults. Where a student, regardless of disability, needs individualized attention and support from their teacher to address difficulties with the curriculum on any given day, it should be for as brief a period of time as possible with an active plan to reintegrate the student back into the regular classroom as soon as possible with appropriate supports for the teacher and student. (Crawford, 2005, p.6–7)

Furthermore, in 2006 at The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities it was recognized that individuals with a disability were permitted to be fully included in educational settings (United Nations, 2006; Gallagher & Bennett, 2013). In Ontario's Education Act, Regulation 181/98 states that the first choice for students with a disability should be that they are integrated into the regular classroom (Ontario Ministry

of Education, 2005). Meanwhile, in the United States, the IDEA declares that students with disabilities have the right to be educated in the regular classroom along with typically developed students (Antoinette, 2002). Despite these mandates, it is the teachers' knowledge, attitudes and beliefs that determine the success of the inclusion of special needs students in the classroom.

Hsien et al. (2009) conducted research examining attitudes and beliefs of early intervention teachers (both regular classroom teachers and special education teachers) in regards to the concept of inclusion in the regular classroom. Hsien et al. concluded that teachers who had postgraduate qualifications in special education had a more positive attitude towards inclusion and were more likely to indicate that inclusion marked a positive change made to the education system. However, a positive attitude towards inclusion of students with exceptionalities in a regular classroom is the norm among teachers, not just teachers who had postgraduate qualifications in special education; in addition, teachers want to include students with exceptionalities into their classroom (Bennett, 2009). Teachers' positive attitudes towards inclusive classrooms are a result of their belief that they are able to make adjustments to their teaching so that all students can succeed academically.

Like Bennett (2009), Jordan, Schwartz, and McGhie-Richmond (2009) also note the connection between teachers' views and inclusive classrooms. Through the literature that they examined (nearly two decades worth), Jordan et al. determined that successful inclusion practices were dependent on: teachers' views towards inclusion; teachers' views of the specific disability; and the teachers' concept of their role and responsibility in working with special needs students. They also determined that the success of

inclusion is based on the teachers' practice, understanding of the different disabilities that are in their inclusive classroom, and their beliefs and attitudes towards inclusion. Based on the studies mentioned previously in this section, some researchers seem to have found a connection between positive attitudes and teachers' knowledge, as indicated by more qualifications in special education and demonstrating the importance of knowledge.

Inclusion of students with a LD cannot only be successful for the student with a LD but also for the other students in the classroom. Simmons, Kameenui, and Chard (1998) examined the different assumptions teachers make about students with LD. They found that teachers made the assumption that a reading disability was the most common classification of LD, which contradicted Mayes and Calhoun's (2007) findings that the most common classification of LD is in written expression. Therefore, they often direct their teaching to assist students with LD in reading rather than writing. In addition, the teachers assume that they need to make specific instructions that are detailed and given only to students with LD. Nevertheless, these differentiated instructions also benefit other students, not just the students with LD in the classroom. Overall, the surveyed teachers felt confident in their ability to improve their instruction to assist students with LD (Simmons et al., 1998).

Jordan et al. (2009) discussed how, in the case of students with special needs, inclusion has been successful for their academic and social development. They stated that students with special needs who spent more time in a regular classroom received higher marks on achievement tests than their peers with special needs, who were not part of an inclusive classroom. Often their marks were closer to the students' appropriate grade levels. Jordan et al. (2009) noted the academic and social success gained by students who

have a LD in an inclusive classroom was significantly greater than that of their peers educated in a segregated classroom. Bennett and Gallagher stated that there is no evidence of general education students who are in an inclusive classroom obtaining a loss in their academic achievement. Additionally, Salend & Duhaney (1999) noted that the typically developing students who are educated in an inclusive classroom with students who have a LD did not experience any academic interference. This could be a result of the students with special needs having access to a variety of support and teaching strategies used in the inclusive classroom (Jordan et al., 2009). For example, teachers may be using more effective teaching strategies, such as differentiated instruction, in an inclusive classroom to meet the many different learning levels. Special needs students who are in an inclusive classroom are more likely to attend school and interact with peers and can also learn academically from these interactions (Jordan et al., 2009). Jordan et al. noted that the schools that have the most support available to their students and staff have a higher achievement rate for those students with special needs in an inclusive environment. In conclusion, the success of the inclusion of students with LD into the regular classroom is a result of the classroom teachers' attitudes and knowledge about LD.

Research Questions

The research questions that have been created based on the literature review are:

- 1. What level of knowledge do primary teachers have about LD?
- 2. Where do teachers get their knowledge about LD?
- 3. Do primary teachers believe they fully understand LD?
- 4. How frequently do elementary school teachers receive additional support for

students with LD at school?

5. Are teachers comfortable teaching students with LD? Do they feel prepared enough to teach?

These research questions were created by examining the content that was found during the literature review conducted on the topic of LD and teachers' knowledge of LD. During the literature review there were numerous publications that discussed teachers' attitudes and perception of LD. Additionally, some of the researchers expressed that teachers' knowledge of LD influenced teachers' attitudes and perceptions of the disability. However, there was very little literature that examined in detail the level of knowledge teachers had about LD. Furthermore, research examined in the literature review discussed the importance of early intervention and early identification of LD linked to the academic success of a student with LD. The link that was presented was that the earlier students are identified with a LD, the greater likelihood of those students succeeding academically (Stanton-Chapman, & Scott, 2001). Primary school teachers are the first educators to come in contact with students in our education system. As a result of the context presented in the literature, it was determined that one of the research questions should examine the level of knowledge primary teachers have about LD.

Additionally research questions were also created by the context that was discussed in the literature review. The second research question, asking about where teachers obtained their knowledge of LD, was a result of Saravanbhavan and Saravanbhavan's (2010) study that discovered that teachers who attended a workshop knew more about LD. Additionally, in the theoretical justification for the study, Desforges (1995) discussed how he believes teachers gain their knowledge of LD from their years of experience in

the classroom. Therefore, the second research question was established based on the different literatures expressing different content in which teachers obtain their knowledge about LD.

The third research question examines if primary teachers believe they fully understand LD. This question is important to examine as many of the publications (e.g., Abercrombie, 2009; Campbell et al., 2003; Clark, 1997; Hsien et al., 2009; Jordan et al., 2009) that examined teachers attitudes and perceptions talked about teachers' opinions affecting how they teach students with LD. The articles additionally discussed how teachers' attitudes affect their understanding and knowledge of LD.

The fourth research question examines how frequently elementary school teachers receive additional support for students with LD at school. This is important to investigate to see if teachers are getting adequate support for teaching students with LD. If teachers are not getting the support needed, it then reflects back on the type of education the students with LD are receiving (Aladwani & Al Shaye, 2012).

The last research question examines if teachers are comfortable teaching students with LD and whether teachers feel they are prepared enough to teach students with LD. This question was important to examine, as how teachers feel (comfort level and preparedness) has an impact on how they educate students with LD (Saravanbhavan & Saravanbhavan, 2010). Additionally, these variables might also impact teachers' level of knowledge, and how they feel might cause teachers to take action to obtain more knowledge about LD.

Chapter Three: Methodology

The research method that was used in this thesis was a quantitative study using an Internet survey to collect the data from the participants. A number of steps were conducted in order to obtain and analyze the data. The reason why quantitative data were selected for this research is because quantitative research is normally used to collect data to examine a trend that is occurring (Creswell, 2012). Quantitative research is also used to investigate a large population, as it allows researchers to determine a general trend in the population (Sandelowski, 2000). Therefore, in order to answer the previously mentioned research questions, the general trend of primary school teachers' knowledge of LD needs to be determined. In quantitative research, researchers use an instrument to collect data, such as a survey (Sandelowski, 2000).

Survey/questionnaire research is a widely used method to collect data in a number of different areas, including education (Zhang, 2000). There are a number of strengths to using survey research as an instrument to collect data. One benefit includes the ability of researchers to administer surveys to a large population of people (Whetstone & Carr-Chellman, 2001). Additionally, researchers are able to send out surveys and collect the data in a relatively short period of time (Zhang, 2000). Furthermore, surveys allow researchers to determine trends, attitudes, and behaviours in education (Whetstone & Carr-Chellman, 2001). Administering a survey to a sample (small group of the population, which in this study is primary school teachers) allows the researcher to acquire a general overall trend of teachers' knowledge of LD (Creswell, 2012). There have been a number of different research studies that examined teachers' perspectives, attitudes, and level of subject knowledge in which the instrument used to collect the

research was a survey. Reeves (2006) used a survey "to gauge teacher attitudes and perceptions of ELL inclusion" (p. 133). Whetstone and Carr-Chellman (2001) used a survey research design to collect data on preservice teachers' perceptions about technology. Since the purpose of this study is to examine primary teachers' knowledge of LD, a survey was used as the tool to collect the data.

Joy (2007) discussed the two basic types of surveys: longitudinal and cross-sectional. Longitudinal surveys are used to study individuals over a period of time, where as cross-sectional surveys are used to collect data about current trends, attitudes, or opinions that are occurring (Creswell, 2012; Joy, 2007). For the purpose of answering the stated research questions, a web-based, cross-sectional questionnaire was used as it allows the researcher to gather data about a current trend of a population. A web-based questionnaire is a survey administered through the Internet (Creswell, 2012; Zhang, 2000).

The traditional survey method was the postal survey, in which paper copies of a questionnaire are sent by post or courier to participants and then returned to the investigators via post or courier. Today, the Internet provides many opportunities for investigators looking to collect data in an effective and efficient manner (Zhang, 2000). The Internet not only provides a rich source of information to educators and researchers, but it also provides a means of communicating this information (Zhang, 2000). This means of communication allows researchers to use a new, more modern form of survey research by sending out web-based surveys through the Internet (Zhang, 2000). Often researchers send individuals e-mails with the survey in them (Zhang, 2000). However, there are often many Internet-based programs now that can allow individuals access to

different surveys, such as Survey Monkey or Fluid Surveys. Moreover, compared to postal surveys, the response rate for Internet surveys is higher and the surveys are faster and cheaper to administer, as the researcher does not have to pay the postal cost (Fricker & Schonlau, 2002; Kaplowitz, Hadlock, & Levine, 2004).

When deciding on what method of survey would work best for a study, the researcher needs to keep in mind the advantages and disadvantages to each approach. Using the Internet to conduct research raises a number of challenges that would not have been present in traditional postal survey methods (Andrews et al., 2003). Andrews et al. (2003) noted that a challenge of using Internet survey is that the paper-based quality of surveys cannot always be transferred onto Internet surveys. This is because when completing an Internet survey, if participants are unsure of the answer, they could more easily search the Internet while completing the survey. In this research, to ensure this did not happen, a time was marked for each survey to see how long it took the participant to complete the survey. If it took the participant significantly longer to complete the survey compared to other participants, the researcher examined if the survey was completed unfairly (research answers on-line before submitting) and then did not include that survey into the data analysis. Also, if, as a part of a survey, the researcher is examining participants' spelling and punctuation, when completing the survey on a computer often spellcheck automatically corrects the participant's spelling and therefore can affect the accuracy of the data. For the purpose of this research, spelling and grammar of participants in the survey did not matter. As a result, spelling and grammar did not affect the results of the data collection and analysis. Additionally, Zhang (2000) noted that all participants might not have equal access to the Internet or any required software in order

to complete the surveys. Furthermore, Kapowitz et al. stated that there are people who may not know how to use the Internet or are not comfortable using the Internet, resulting in their not completing the questionnaire. Moreover, Kaplomitz, Hadlock and Levine (2004), stated that because of Internet security, surveys might not reach the participants and instead end up in their spam or junk mail.

There have been many improvements in the development of Internet surveys.

However, K. B. Wright (2005) noted that some Internet surveys can be very timeconsuming in their creation. Furthermore, Wright noted that not all groups allow their email list to be given to researchers, making it difficult to contact target participants. As a
result, the survey was administered through teachers' Facebook pages so that the survey
did not need to be e-mailed to a set list of possible participants. Moreover, Andrews et al.
(2003) stated that a concern with Internet surveys is that it is possible to have individuals
who are not in your population complete the survey. To ensure participants were from the
population that the research is focused on, there is a demographic portion of the survey
that asks specific questions, such as whether the participant is a teacher and what grade
the participant teaches. For those participant responses that do not qualify in the study
population, responses were not included in data analysis.

Wright (2005) explained that in order to get better response rates, researchers could offer a financial incentive, such as a gift certificate, to those participants who complete the survey. The low response rate does not only affect Internet surveys but all surveys that are administered to individuals. As a result, in both postal and Internet administered surveys, a financial incentive is one way the researcher could promote participation to receive a higher response rate. Furthermore, Wright stated that adding a postal reminder

or another method to remind participants to complete the survey has also been proven to increase the response rates for the survey. As a result, for this survey five participants were randomly selected to receive a \$20 gift card to Chapters.

Though there were a number of negatives for Internet surveys, the list of benefits of using Internet surveys is larger. One of the most cited benefits of using Internet surveys is the low research cost. Unlike postal surveys where researchers have to pay for paper, envelopes, postal stamps, and return postal stamps, Internet surveys have very little cost (Kaplowitz et al., 2004; Wright, 2005; Zhang, 2000). Second, Internet surveys generally have a shorter response time compared to postal surveys. This shorter response time allows the researcher to collect the data more quickly and therefore be able to start analyzing the data sooner (Wright, 2005; Zhang, 2000). Third, by using an Internet survey, the researcher is able to have participants respond from geographically remote areas and thus the researcher is not confined to a specific region (Wright, 2005; Zhang, 2000). Fourth, Zhang (2000) listed the advantage of being able to survey people who are in a group with a sensitive nature, which in any other case would be more difficult to identify or contact (for example, gays, lesbians, drug users, etc.). Internet surveys allow researchers to efficiently survey a large number of people (Zhang, 2000). Last, transcribing and coding errors are minimal (Zhang, 2000) because many Internet survey programs automatically collect and sort the data, therefore limiting the possible human error that may occur when manually inputting the data (Wright, 2005).

Why Internet Surveys Were Used to Answer the Research Questions

There are a number of reasons why Internet survey research was selected for this research on primary teachers' knowledge about LD. One reason why survey research was

selected was that many other studies examining teachers' attitudes and opinions had previously used surveys to collect their data. Therefore, there are a number of surveys published that can be used as guidelines in order to create a survey that will collect information about teachers' knowledge. A second reason why Internet survey research was selected is that it allows the researcher to collect data from a large population in a short period of time. Therefore, the researcher can get data on a general trend of teacher knowledge without having to spend an extended period of time collecting the data.

Furthermore, conducting Internet research not only cuts down the time it takes to send the instrument to the participants, but it also limits the cost of collecting the data.

A fourth reason why the researcher determined that a survey would be most appropriate to collect the data is that teachers are often very busy and have a lot going on. As a result it can be difficult to get teachers to do an interview or another form of research collection that would take an extended period of time. Therefore, the researcher decided that an Internet survey would result in teachers having easy access to the surveys and the survey would not take an extended period of time. This is an important consideration, as the amount of time it takes to complete a survey can often be a factor for why teachers do not complete the survey. Furthermore, by e-mailing the survey, it also takes less time for teachers, as they do not have to write but can type their response and, when they have completed the survey, they have to select *send* and are done, unlike with postal surveys where participants not only have to complete the survey, but then they also have to mail the survey back to the researcher. Therefore, because of the aforementioned benefits, I determined that the most appropriate research method to collect the data would be an Internet survey.

Developing the Survey

When developing the survey to address the five stated research questions, a lot of thought and exploration of different literature occurred to create the most effective and efficient survey. When exploring previously administered surveys for research that examined teachers' knowledge, attitudes, opinions, or perspectives, it was discovered that each survey had two sections. One section was a demographic portion, and the other section had questions regarding the information the researchers were trying to target (Wright, 2008). When creating the survey for this research, a number of previously used surveys were examined to give me ideas as to what questions should be in the survey. Ko (2007) and Parker (2006) both included questions regarding the participants' gender, level of education, and amount of teaching experience in the demographic portion of their surveys. As a result, I included similar types of questions in the demographic portion of my survey. This information is important when it comes to analyzing the data as it allows me to determine demographic influences that might affect teachers' knowledge of LD. Therefore, when answering the research questions about what level of knowledge primary teachers' have of LD, I can determine if a correlation exists between teachers' level of knowledge and their teaching experience.

The first section of my survey was called Part I: Learning Disability Knowledge Survey. For the development of these questions, recommendations from surveys conducted by Brown (2007) and Wright (2008) were used because these surveys researched similar content to the present research. The remaining questions were developed based on the literature review. For the questions in the Part I: Learning Disability Opinion Survey section of the survey, a Likert scale was used. There was one

question in which the Likert scale was not used as it is an open-ended question asking participants what they would do in a certain situation. A Likert scale is a common type of tool used in educational research (Clason & Dormody, 1994) because it is easy to construct and there are fewer statistical assumptions (Karavas-Doukas, 1996). Likert first proposed a summate scale to assess participants' attitudes (Clason & Dormody, 1994). Likert's scale has five responses a participant can choose: strongly approve, approve, undecided, disapprove, and strongly disapprove (Clason & Dormody, 1994), although Likert did note that the number of responses does not have to be limited to these five categories. Using a Likert scale in the survey allows the researcher to obtain a better understanding of the participant's answer to a question than a simple yes or no answer. Using an attitude scale, such as the Likert, allows one to use a measuring device in which the participant must express his/her degree of disagreement or agreement to the statement given (Karavas-Doukas, 1996).

One last consideration that occurred when creating the survey was which section to put first. It was determined that it was more beneficial to put the opinion section first and the demographic section second. The reason is that if the demographic section was first, participants might be a little hesitant to answer all questions honestly as they are not sure what will be asked in the remainder of the survey. However, by having the demographic section second, it allows the participants to have already completed the opinion section of the survey; therefore they know what questions were asked and will more likely be more honest in this section. Finally, additionally, the survey was carefully reviewed to ensure that participants could understand the statement and that the statement answers could be analyzed so that they would answer the five stated research questions

Steps Used to Collect Research

The first step in collecting the data was to determine who the participants in the study would be. The participants selected for this study were Ontario primary school teachers. For the purpose of this study, "primary school teachers" will be the term used to describe teachers teaching kindergarten to grade 3 students. The participants were contacted through the following on-line teacher Facebook pages: Nipissing University Teachers, Ontario Occasional Teachers, Ontario Teachers (Primary)- resource and idea sharing, Ontario Teachers – resource and idea sharing, as well as through my (Julie Kocsis) and Dr. Lorraine Frost's personal Facebook pages. Additionally, Dr. Lorraine Frost sent out an e-mail to Nipissing University Schulich School of Education faculty asking them to advertise the survey to primary teachers they know.

There are a number of reasons for choosing this process. One reason is that by distributing the surveys to primary school teachers on Facebook, I had direct access to potential participants. Additionally, professors and teachers on Facebook were able to share the survey with past students or colleagues who they thought would qualify to complete the survey. The participants were able to see the letter addressing the purpose for the research and decide if they were willing to participate or not in the research. A second reason is that I had immediate access to participants. Therefore, multiple different school boards did not need to be contacted for approval for teachers' in their school boards to participant in the study. Facebook offered a variety of other benefits, for example it was able to contact a larger variety of primary teachers from all across Ontario. Therefore my research does not focus on a specific school board or geographical region. However, there was also the disadvantage that teachers who were

not members of the selected Facebook groups did not have access to the survey unless the survey was e-mailed to them. Additionally, people may have completed the survey that did not meet my criteria for my research. An additional disadvantage is that there may be respondents outside of Ontario. These problems were controlled for in the survey by collecting demographic details, whereby surveys that did not meet the research criteria were discarded.

The second step was to determine what instrument would be used to collect the data. For this study a cross-sectional Internet Facebook survey was used, developed with Fluid Survey. Fluid Survey was used instead of a different program because it was a Canadian-based program that the Nipissing University Research Ethics Board approved for using based on participants' privacy. The average time it took participants to complete the survey was 15 minutes and 47 seconds

The final step when conducting survey research is to report my results. In addition to writing my thesis, I created a final report about the research to be disseminated to participants who requested a copy. In the final report there are charts, quotes, and statistics used to show the readers the results of data and how they answered the research questions. Moreover, in the final report there is an interpretation of the results and a discussion of what the results mean. Furthermore, there is a statement on how the results relate to current education and suggested future steps in education but also in further research in this same area.

Study Sample

The sample population for this study was selected from a number of teacher Facebook groups. Prior to putting the research survey on the group page, the

administrators of these Facebook groups were contacted for permission. The participants were offered a chance to win one of five \$20 gift cards to Chapters. This was offered to help with the response rate of the participants. The survey was administered in October 2014; it was determined that during October teachers would be less busy with the rush of the beginning of the school year and there would be a little bit of down time before report cards begin. For the purpose of collecting the information, I aimed for a sample population with at least 50 completed surveys. However this target was surpassed with 187 respondents completing the survey. Of the 187 only the 144 respondents who were currently Ontario primary teachers or taught primary classes in Ontario within the last two years were included in the study.

Description and Preparation

Fluid Survey sorts the data into an Excel spreadsheet that can be imported into SPSS. SPSS is a quantitative computer software analysis program. The responses were examined and any responses that were from participants who were not primary school teachers were removed from the data so that they did not influence the results.

I used the software program SPSS Version 22 and the data analysis tools in Fluid Survey to analyze my data. Some of the analyses I completed on the data in order to get answers for the research questions are: frequency, ANOVA, and chi-square analysis. The first analysis I conducted was a frequency test; the reason for this is that it gives me an initial overview of the data collected. I was able to determine the mean, median, and mode of responses, along with examining the frequency distribution of each response. Furthermore, through the frequency analysis I could also determine primary teachers' confidence in their responses by examining how many participants strongly

agreed/disagreed to a statement compared to those who stated they agreed/disagreed. Additionally, a chi-square test of independence was used to determine if an independent variable affected teachers' knowledge of LD. Therefore, a chi-square analysis was used to determine if there was a significant difference between two variables that were examined. A chi-square could only be conducted when there were two variables (i.e., through participants who had a family member with a LD and those participants who did not have a family member with a LD). As a result a chi-square analysis was conducted when the following variables were examined: participants with family members who have LD, participants with close friends who have a LD, and participants attending workshops on LD. Finally, an ANOVA was used when chi-square analysis could not be conducted. An ANOVA is used to see if independent variables such as years of teaching experience and grade teachers taught influenced primary teachers' knowledge of LD. An ANOVA determined if there was a significant relationship among the responses in the different categories being analyzed, therefore determining if the variable being examined affected teachers' knowledge of LD. An ANOVA was used instead of a chi-square in circumstances where there were more than two categories that were being examined (i.e., years of teaching experiences: 5 or less, 6 to 10, 11 to 15, 16 to 20, etc.).

Ethical Considerations

An ethical concern in this research would be the protection of individuals' identification. This survey was anonymous. The only situation in which contact information was received is when a participant wanted to receive a report of the survey, and at this point the participants provided an e-mail address for the information to be sent. With Fluid Survey, it is possible to separate the survey from the request for a report.

Chapter Four: Results of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine primary teachers' knowledge of LD. The reason this study examined primary teachers' knowledge was because in many studies, such as Reschly (2005), Scruggs and Mastropieri (2002), and Felton (1992), the researchers determined that the earlier a student with a LD is diagnosed, the more likely he/she is to succeed academically in his/her future education. As a result, primary school teachers are among the first educators to come in contact with students and therefore are the first teachers who would have the opportunity to distinguish if a student possibly has a LD. Primary school teachers can then be the first to intervene and to make accommodations and modifications to students' learning to help them succeed academically. Therefore it was determined to examine primary teachers' level of knowledge about LD.

For this research there was an expectation that approximately 50 individuals would complete the survey. However, there were 154 qualified participants who completed the full questionnaire and an additional 34 participants completed the majority of the questionnaire. Therefore, the total number of participants in this data collection was 187. I did not reject the participants who did not complete the entire survey their results were still valid. These participants completed the majority of the questions and skipped or did not complete less than 5 questions on the survey. As a result, Fluid Survey marked their survey responses as incomplete; however they still had provided a sufficient amount of information for effective analysis to be conducted with their responses.

Part One: Demographics of Participants

It is important to develop a clear understanding of the demographics of the participants prior to examining the results of the survey. Therefore, in Part One of the results, the demographics of the participants will be examined.

Demographic Profile of Participants

The survey was administered through four different Facebook pages, as well as posted on my personal Facebook wall; consequently the participants could have been from around the world and were not directly from one school board, area, or country. However, when examining the participants' location, 82% of the participants were from Ontario, while the remaining 18% of participants were from other provinces or territories in Canada or other regions around the world (including United Kingdom, Cambodia, China, Honduras, Hong Kong, South Korea, and Netherlands). Of the large majority of participants being from Ontario and a very small minority from other regions around the world, it was determined that only the responses from participants from Ontario would be analyzed, as this would allow a more accurate analysis of a specific group of primary teachers (primary teachers in Ontario) and a more in-depth analysis of Ontario primary teachers' knowledge of LD. The final study population was 143 participants and all remaining analysis was based on the responses of these 143 participants (female: n = 137, 96.5%; male: n = 5, 3.5%).

The disproportionate number of female participants may be considered a limitation of the data; however, the uneven distribution may be reflective of the fact that there are more female teachers in primary grades than male teachers. This is substantiated by a Statistics Canada 2006 report that indicated that at the preschool and primary level

there were 218, 740 female teachers and 42, 935 male teachers (Canada, 2013). That means that 86.3% of primary teachers were females and 16.4% of primary teachers were male (Canada, 2013). Though these proportions are not the same as the proportions from this survey, it does help explain the huge gender difference in respondents.

Current Teaching Position

All of the 143 participants in the study were teaching in an elementary school in Ontario. Of those 143 participants, 72.8% had a full-time teaching position, 8.8% had a part-time teaching position, and the remaining 18.4% of the participants were supply teachers who worked mostly with primary students or were long-term occasional teachers working with primary students. Table 1 depicts that the majority of the participants (75.5%) were general education teachers (regular classroom teachers), while 12.6% of the participants were special education teachers. Of the 11.8% participants who responded *other*, a couple were vice-principals who also taught some primary planning time, 9.7% primary planning time teachers¹, 1.4% music teachers, and 1.4% were French teachers who teach primary students on a regular basis.

¹ Primary planning time teachers are teachers who teach a variety of different subjects and classes, as they come into a regular classroom to teach while the regular classroom teacher recesses a period to do lesson planning, marking, and any preparation for his/her class.

Table 1

Frequency Distribution of Type of Educator

Variables	Number	Percentage
Type of educator		
General education teacher	108	75.5
Special education teacher	18	12.6
Other	17	11.8
Total	143	100

Table 2 presents the participants' teaching position at the time of completing the survey. Sixty percent of the respondents responded *other* to this question and also provided a description of their current teaching position. The majority of participants responded *other* because they were teaching split grades, primary special education, or were a primary planning time teacher. I analyzed the written *other* comments and sorted them into different categories which were included in the analysis. As a result, a number of the categories were added after analyzing the data. A recommendation for improving this survey would be to add additional options, such as a mixture of the above and split grades. Overall there was a good mixture of different types of primary teachers who participated in the survey. The 11.9% of participants that were still in the *other* category included participants who were on maternity leave, participants who taught a mixture of special education and planning time, or the participants who did not identify their current teaching position. Years

Table 2
Frequency Distribution of Current Teaching Position

Variables	Number	Percentage
Current teaching position		_
Pre/junior kindergarten (age 4)	3	2.1
Senior kindergarten (age 5)	6	4.2
Grade 1	13	9.1
Grade 2	16	11.2
Grade 3	16	11.2
Other	17	11.9
Primary special education teacher	12	8.4
Primary planning time teacher	14	9.8
Primary supply/substitute teacher	6	4.2
Primary French	2	1.4
Grades SK/JK	9	6.3
Grades SK/1	2	1.4
Grades 1/2	3	2.1
Grades 2/3	5	3.5
Grades 3/4	4	2.8
Grades 1/2/3	3	2.1
All of the above	7	4.9
Taught primary in the past	5	3.5
Total responses	143	100.0

Table 3 displays the years the participants in the survey have taught. The majority of the participants were within their first 10 years of teaching, with 40.1% of the participants being within their first five years of teaching and only 3.4% of participants have taught more than 20 years. This is an important point to considerate when analyzing

the data, as the majority of teachers are in the beginning stages of their careers and there is not an even spread of participants throughout their careers. This disparity may be attributed to the fact that younger teachers are more likely to be on social media and use social media than older teachers (Duggan & Brenner, 2013). Since the survey was administered through Facebook, the younger teachers (less experienced teachers) might be more likely to have Facebook accounts compared to older teachers who may not feel comfortable using the social media website. These variables may explain why there were so few participants who have been teaching for more than 25 years.

Table 3

Years of Teaching (Intervals)

Variables	Number	Percent
Years of experience intervals		
1–5	59	40.1
6–10	41	27.9
11–15	23	15.6
16–20	7	4.8
21–25	3	2.0
26–30	2	1.4
No response	12	8.1
Total	147	100.0%

Professional Development

Teachers are strongly encouraged throughout their careers to continue learning and to participate in some form of professional development. This can include professional development courses, workshops, or conducting their own personal reading or research. Of the 143 participants in the survey, 115 (85.2%) of the participants stated that they had participated in some form of professional development, such as attending a

course or conference, to improve their knowledge of special education. A possible explanation for the high number of participants partaking in professional development is that fact that school boards often provide their schools with funds for professional development. Furthermore, there is a belief among teachers in Ontario that they will increase the likelihood of getting hired for a teaching job if they have completed their Special Education Part 1 course.

One method in which teachers can participate in professional development is by attending workshops. The majority of participants (61.2%) have attended at least one workshop on learning disabilities. Of those participants who attended a workshop on LD, 24.4% had attended one workshop on LD, 17.1% had attended two workshops, 13.4% had attended three workshops, 1.2% had attended four workshops, and 43.9% of participants had attended five or more workshops on LD. Workshops can be organized and presented by a teacher's school board, another school board, Ministry of Education, government, or another organization could have organized the workshops that the participants attended.

As a part of professional development, it is common for teachers to complete additional qualification courses and additional basic qualification courses. Of the 143 Ontario primary school teachers who participated in the study, 88.2% had taken or were currently enrolled in at least one additional course. A large majority (88.2%) of participants had completed at least one additional course in special education.

Of those participants who had taken at least one additional course in special education; 3.4% of participants had completed a half course (approximately 36 hours of course work), 46.6% of participants had completed one full course (approximately 72

hours of course work), 4.3% had completed 1.5 courses (approximately 108 hours of course work), 13.8% had completed 2 full courses (approximately 144 hours of course work), 1.5% had completed 2.5 courses (approximately 180 hours of course work), and 21.6% had completed 3 courses (approximately 216 hours of course work), and 8.6% of the participants selected the *other* option in this question and commented on their current course-related professional development. The majority of the participants completed one full course. Of the 10 participants who stated *other*, some were currently in the middle of a course or they had completed a specialist qualification. Additionally, one member also had completed a Master of Education.

A third method in which educators often participate in continuous professional development is through conducting their own personal research on special education topics. Only 27.7% of participants had conducted any personal research in the area of special education. However, even though 72.9% of participants answered *no* to this question, a number of participants stated that they had done some Internet-based searching about special education when they had a special needs student in their class or when they suspected one of their own children had a learning disability.

Finally, it is common for teachers to complete some reading on different topics they are teaching or have to deal with in their teaching. As a result, when participants were asked if they had ever completed any personal reading on special education, 75.4% stated they had, while 24.6% stated they had not. Many of the participants stated that they had read on-line articles about different disabilities and different teaching strategies to help students in the classroom. Furthermore, numerous participants had read books and

articles or books on autism, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), assistive technology, LD, and behavioural disorders.

Participants' Relationship with LD

One of the questions in the demographic section of the survey asked participants if they had a close friend with a LD. This question was important to include, as participants who have close friends or family members with a LD may have a different outlook and level of comprehension on the disability. Just over half of the participants (58.7%) stated they had either a close friend, sibling of a friend, or a roommate that had a LD. One possible reason why there were more respondents who had a friend with a LD compared to those who did not have a friend with a LD (41.3%) could be that those respondents that had a friend with a LD were more interested in the survey.

Participants were also asked if they had a family member with a LD. There was almost an even 50% split of participants who had and who did not have a family member with a LD, with 51% of participants stating they did have a family member with a LD and 49% of participants stating they did not have a family member with a LD. This is very interesting, and it also demonstrated that there was an even number of participants who had associated with people that had a LD on a regular basis outside of school and those who did not. Of those participants who stated they did have a family member with a LD, many of those individuals were mothers, brothers, sisters, children, cousins, or even themselves. There were also a number of participants who had multiple family members who were diagnosed with a LD.

Part Two: Knowledge of Learning Disabilities

In the section of the survey that examined teachers' knowledge of LD there were five parts: characteristics of LD, risk factors that cause LD, teaching strategies for students with LD, teaching students with LD, and support for teachers teaching students with LD. A Likert scale was used for participants to answer the questions in this section. Using the Likert scale allowed the researcher to assess the level of confidence that the respondents had in their answers. To conduct the analysis of this section, the data were coded and imported into SPSS for statistical analysis to be conducted. During the coding, the following codes were given to the responses from the Likert scale: 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = don't know, 4 = agree, and 5 = strongly agree. At the end of each section participants had the opportunity to use the provided textbox to record additional comments.

The first analysis that occurred in each part was a frequency analysis. This included the frequency, mean, median, and mode of the responses to each questions. Additionally there were five cross-analyses that were conducted during the analysis of the data. When conducting cross-analyses on the results, either a chi-square test or an ANOVA was conducted. A chi-square analysis was used during the cross-tab analysis because chi-square tests are used to determine if there is a significant difference between the expected frequency and the observed frequency in the data. A chi-square test was conducted when there were only two variables of data that were being analyzed, for example, those participates who did have a family member with a LD and those participants who did not have a family member with a LD. A chi-square test for independence between the two variables was used. For a chi-square test to be used you

have to combine the responses to make smaller groups. Therefore when a chi-square test was used in the analysis, the following codes were given to the Likert scale responses for chi-square analysis to be conducted: $1 = strongly \ disagree/disagree$, $2 = don't \ know$, $3 = strongly \ agree/agree$.

An ANOVA test helps to determine if there are significant differences among responses in the different groups/categories that are being analyzed. ANOVA tests were used instead of a chi-square when there were more than two groups of categories required. For example, there were seven categories of teaching experience: 1 to 5 years, 6 to 10 years, 11 to 15 years, 16 to 20 years, 21 to 25 years, and 26 to 30 years. When conducting the ANOVA the following codes were given to the Likert scale responses to questions in the survey: 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = don't know, 4 = agree, and 5 = strongly agree. An ANOVA helps to determine if there is a significant relationship among the responses in the different groups/categories that are being analyzed.

The first cross-analysis examines teachers' years of experience and their knowledge of LD. When examining this cross-analysis, it was important to remember that approximately 77% of the respondents had been teaching for 10 years or less, with. 48% of the respondents being within their first 5 years of teaching. There were very few respondents who had taught longer than 10 years, and therefore that needed to be taken into consideration when examining the data. It is important to note that most teachers had fewer than 10 years teaching experience because, when analyzing the data we cannot assume with strong accuracy that the factor of years of *teaching experiences* affected teachers' responses to the questions. During this cross-analysis an ANOVA test was

conducted. The variables were split into seven categories of teacher experience for this ANOVA test to be conducted. The seven were; 1 to 5 years, 6 to 10 years, 11 to 15 years, 16 to 20 years, 21 to 25 years, and 26 to 30 years Additionally, a second cross-tab analysis examined if primary teachers' level of knowledge on LD depended on their teaching position. This is important to study, as it will give insight to determine if the grade teachers teach or the teaching position they have affects their level of knowledge about LD. For this cross-tab analysis, the different teaching positions were divided into nine sections: junior and/or senior kindergarten teachers, grade 1 teachers, grade 2 teachers, grade 3 teachers, split grade teachers (teachers who are teaching a split class, such as a grade 1/2 class), planning time/prep teachers, substitute/supply teachers, special education/resource teachers, and other (category for all other primary teacher participants who don't fall into the other eight categories). As a result of there being nine categories, an ANOVA test was administered.

The third cross-tab analysis examines if primary school teachers' level of knowledge differs depending on whether they have a family member with a LD or not. This is important to examine as it would determine if primary teacher level of knowledge about LD was dependent on whether the teacher had a family member with a LD or not. ANOVA tests were not used for this analysis because there were only two groups of participants (those with a family member with a LD and those who did not have a family member with a LD). As a result, a chi-square test for independence was used. Responses were combined to make smaller groups.

The fourth cross-analysis of the data assessed the responses from participants who had a close friend with a LD and those participants who did not have a close friend with a

LD. This was important to examine, as it would help determine if a correlation existed between primary teachers who have a close friend with a LD and teachers' level of knowledge about LD. A chi-square test was used in this cross-analysis.

The fifth cross-tab analysis of the data examined whether attending a workshop influenced teachers' level of knowledge about LD. This is important to investigate, as it will determine if workshops on LD are really useful and help provide important information about the disability to teachers. A chi-square test was conducted for this cross-analysis.

Characteristics of LD

Table 4 outlines the participants' knowledge about the characteristics of a LD (The frequency chart of participants' responses can be found in Appendix D, Table 4.1).

Table 4
Statistical Analysis of Participants' Responses to Characteristics of LD

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
1. A learning disability can be	4.45	5.00	5
expressed as a significant disability	Agree	Strongly agree	Strongly agree
in reading.			
2. A learning disability can be	4.38	5.00	5
expressed as a significant disability	Agree	Strongly agree	Strongly agree
in communication.			
3. A learning disability can be	4.51	5.00	5
expressed as a significant disability	Half way between	Strongly agree	Strongly agree
in written language.	agree and strongly		
	agree		
4. A learning disability can be	4.40	5.00	5
expressed as a significant disability	Agree	Strongly agree	Strongly agree
in mathematics.			
5. A learning disability can be	3.85	4.00	4
expressed as a significant disability	Agree	Agree	Agree
in social skills.			
6. A learning disability can be	4.32	4.00	5
expressed as a significant disability	Agree	Agree	Strongly agree
in oral language.		-	
7. A person with a learning	4.69	5.00	5
disability can also be identified with	Strongly agree	Strongly agree	Strongly agree
another disability.	0.0	0, 0	
8. A person with a learning	4.54	5.00	5
disability can also be identified as	Strongly agree	Strongly agree	Strongly agree

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
gifted.			
9. Fidgeting is a typical	2.71	2.00	2
characteristic of a student with a	Don't know	Disagree	Disagree
learning disability.		O	C
10. Shouting out is a typical	2.31	2.00	2
characteristic of a student with a	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
learning disability.		Ü	
11. Hitting is a typical characteristic	2.07	2.00	2
of a student with a learning	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
disability.			
12. Slower processing speed is a	3.78	4.00	4
typical characteristic of a student	Agree	Agree	Agree
with a learning disability.			
13. Difficulty comprehending	3.84	4.00	4
written materials is a typical	Agree	Agree	Agree
characteristic of a student with a			
learning disability.			
14. Difficulty with sentence	3.49	4.00	4
structure is a typical characteristics	Don't Know	Agree	Agree
of a students with a learning			
disability			
15. Excellent spelling is a typical	2.03	2.00	2
characteristic of a student with a	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
learning disability.			
16. Good ability to express ideas is a	2.41	2.00	2
typical characteristic of a student	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
with a learning disability.			
17. Difficulty copying notes from	3.52	4.00	4
the chalkboard is a typical	Agree	Agree	Agree
characteristic of a student with a			
learning disability.			
18. Good ability to use phonics is a	2.20	2.00	2
typical characteristic of a student	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
with a learning disability.			
19. The severity of a student's	1.76	2.00	2
learning disability fades with age.	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
20. Atypical human growth is a	2.06	2.00	2
characteristic of a student with a	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
learning disability.			_

When examining participants' level of knowledge on characteristics of LD, the majority of the participants (more than 70%) answered 19 out of the 20 LD characteristics, suggesting that primary school teachers have a more than adequate level of knowledge on characteristics of LD. The first six questions pertained to the specific types of LD (reading, writing, communication, and mathematics). The medians and modes of the responses to the first six questions indicated that the participants had more

confidence in these answers, as they responded *strongly agree* compared to the other questions which pertained to the typical characteristics of LD (questions 7 to 20). As a result, it seems that

primary school teachers are more confident in their knowledge of the different types of LD, compared to typical characteristics students with a LD might have.

Question 5 in this section asked if a learning disability could be expressed as a significant disability in social skills. When developing this question, the anticipated informed response was disagree/strongly disagree because a deficit in social skills is not a classification of LD. However, after examining the results and conducting further research on the topic of social skills and classification of LD, it was determined that there was no correct or incorrect response to this question. When examining the results displayed in Table 4, it can be noted that both the median and mode responses for this question were agree (4). Furthermore, a very small minority of the participants (21.7%) selected disagree/strongly disagree to the question compared to a large majority (76.3%) of respondents responding who selected agree/strongly agree (see Table 4.1 in Appendix D). When developing this survey to examine teachers' knowledge, questions one to five were created to examine primary teachers' knowledge of the different classifications of LD (reading, writing, communication, and mathematics). When a student with a LD has a significant disability in their social skills, it is generally the result of a secondary disability/diagnosis, such as Asperger (Learning Disabilities Association of Canada, 2015). As identified by Logan (2009) social skills is not a classification of LD with which an individual would be identified. However, because of the wording of the question, some participants may have viewed this question as not asking if social skills was a

classification of LD, but instead asking if someone with a LD could also have difficulties with their social skills. In that case, if a student is struggling in one or more of the classifications of LD (i.e. reading, writing, communication, and mathematics) it could affect the student's ability to interact with their peers. For example, if a student has a LD in communication that results in the student having troubles with oral expression and comprehensions, this would have an impact on the student's social interaction with their peers. A student who has a LD that affects oral expression and comprehension is less able to benefit from instructions given by parents, teachers or other care givers and therefore may not develop social skills in the way that other students do. The likelihood of a student solely being identified with a LD and that having a significant effect on their social skills is limited (Learning Disabilities Association of Canada, 2015). However, McKinney (1989) discovered in his research that students who have a LD were more likely to present maladaptive behaviours (i.e. acting out in class, not staying focused on work). Often students with a LD use maladaptive behaviours as an avoidance tactic, to either hide from their peers that they don't understand or cannot comprehend the concept being learned, or to distract themselves or others so that they do not have to do the work. Furthermore, while investigating the results for this question further I came across a publication by Kavale and Mostert (2004). Kavale and Mostert noted that in reality a significant number of youth with a LD have social problems; these social problems include; anxiety, motivation, social behaviours, social relationships, peer status, social cognition, classroom behavious, social adjustment, etc. Kavale and Mostert noted that there has been an increase in the recognition of deficits in social skills for students with specific LD. This recognition of deficits in social skills for students with LD has resulted

In the results from this research, the majority of participants states that students' with LD may display some form of social difficulty, which suggests that they subscribe to the view that having an LD may result in a student having some form of social difficulty.

Participants' responses to questions examining primary teachers' knowledge of typical characteristics of a student with a LD can be viewed in Table 4, questions 7 to 20. In all cases the mean, median, and mode suggest that participants were aware of the typical characteristics of a LD, therefore determining that Ontario primary teachers do have a more than adequate level of knowledge about typical characteristics a student with a LD might portray. However, when comparing these means, medians, and modes to the first six questions that examined teachers' knowledge of types of LD, it can be noted that their responses are not as *strongly agreed* or *strongly disagreed*. This suggests that teachers may not be as confident in their knowledge about typical characteristics of LD compared to their confidence in their knowledge of the different types of LD.

After this section on the survey, participants had the option to make any additional comments. Thirty-two of the participants added additional comments about

their views on typical characteristics of students with a LD. The participants indicated that the characteristics of a LD included: easily frustrated when not given appropriate accommodations or differentiations (accurate), shouting out (misconception), extremely good behaviour so teachers do not call on them (misconception), attention-seeking for things the students do well (misconception), developing self-help habits (misconception), confusion (accurate), marked discrepancy between student and age level peers in terms of quantity of work produced (accurate), spending greater time on task but output less than peers (accurate), difficulty understanding nonverbal communication (accurate), fighting (misconception), velling (misconception), fidgeting (misconception), and humming/singing to self (misconception). According to the Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario, some of these suggested were typical characteristics of a student with a LD, while others are typical characteristics of another disability or typical childhood behaviours. However, a student with a LD can also have another disability; as a result people sometimes believe a characteristic that a person is portraying is because they have a LD, when actually it is a result of another disorder (Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario, 2007). Moreover, many participants commented on the term "typical characteristic" that was used in many of the questions. Many participants suggested that there was such a wide range of characteristics for students with LD that what was considered typical for some students may not be typical for other students. One participant noted, "students with a learning disability vary greatly in their strengths and weaknesses" (participant comment, 2014). Therefore, two participants responded that all characteristics addressed in the questions could be typical characteristics of a student with a LD.

In the first cross-analysis that was conducted, teachers' years of experience and their knowledge of LD was examined. Table 5 depicts the results of an ANOVA test conducted on teachers' years of experience and their level of knowledge on characteristics of LD. There was no relationship between teachers' years of experience and their level of knowledge on the characteristics of LD.

Table 5

Analysis of Variance Test on Teachers' Years of Experience and Their Level of Knowledge of Characteristics of LD.

				Mean		
		Sum of squares	df	square	F	Sig.
1. A learning	Between groups	1.116	5	.223	.394	.852
disability can be	Within groups	71.906	127	.566		
expressed as a	Total					
significant disability		73.023	132			
in reading.	_	4.000	_			
2. A learning	Between groups	1.828	5	.366	.492	.782
disability can be	Within groups	95.906	129	.743		
expressed as a	Total	07.722	124			
significant disability		97.733	134			
in communication.	Daturaan anauma	1 252	5	.251	.571	.722
3. A learning	Between groups	1.253 56.180	5 128	.439	.3/1	.122
disability can be expressed as a	Within groups Total	30.180	128	.439		
significant disability	Total	57.433	133			
in written language.		37.733	133			
4. A learning	Between groups	2.512	5	.502	.765	.577
disability can be	Within groups	84.085	128	.657	.,,	.577
expressed as a	Total	01.000	120	.00,		
significant disability		86.597	133			
in mathematics.						
5. A learning	Between groups	1.755	5	.351	.251	.939
disability can be	Within groups	180.571	129	1.400		
expressed as a	Total					
significant disability		182.326	134			
in social skills.						
6. A learning	Between groups	1.875	5	.375	.545	.742
disability can be	Within groups	88.762	129	.688		
expressed as a	Total					
significant disability		90.637	134			
in oral language.	_		_			
7. A person with a	Between groups	3.006	5	.601	1.781	.121
learning disability	Within groups	43.542	129	.338		
can also be identified	Total	46.540	124			
with another		46.548	134			
disability.						

				Mean		
		Sum of squares	df	square	F	Sig.
8. A person with a	Between groups	3.046	5	.609	.909	.478
learning disability	Within groups	86.480	129	.670		
can also be identified	Total	89.526	134			
as gifted.						
9. Fidgeting is a	Between groups	7.013	5	1.403	1.093	.367
typical characteristic	Within groups	165.535	129	1.283		
of a student with a	Total	172.548	134			
learning disability.						
10. Shouting out is a	Between groups	4.731	5	.946	.917	.472
typical characteristic	Within groups	132.052	128	1.032		
of a student with a	Total	136.784	133			
learning disability.						
11. Hitting is a	Between groups	3.703	5	.741	.966	.441
typical characteristic	Within groups	98.934	129	.767		
of a student with a	Total	102.637	134			
learning disability.	D :			1.00#		101
12. Slower	Between groups	9.024	5	1.805	1.543	.181
processing speed is a	Within groups	150.902	129	1.170		
typical characteristic	Total	1.50.02.6	104			
of a student with a		159.926	134			
learning disability.	D.4	5.074	5	1 175	1 1 4 4	2.41
13. Difficulty	Between groups	5.874	5	1.175	1.144	.341
comprehending	Within groups	132.497	129	1.027		
written materials is a	Total					
typical characteristic of a student with a		138.370	134			
learning disability. 14. Difficulty with	Datayaan graung	2.447	5	.489	.402	.847
sentence structure is	Between groups Within groups	157.256	129	1.219	.402	.047
	Total	137.230	129	1.219		
a typical characteristic of a	Total					
student with a		159.704	134			
learning disability.						
15. Excellent spelling	Retween groups	4.249	5	.850	1.159	.333
is a typical	Within groups	94.565	129	.733	1.139	.555
characteristic of a	Total	74.303	12)	.133		
student with a	Total	98.815	134			
learning disability.		70.013	154			
16. Good ability to	Between groups	2.516	5	.503	.457	.808
express ideas is a	Within groups	142.077	129	1.101	. 137	.000
typical characteristic	Total	112.077	12)	1.101		
of a student with a	10111	144.593	134			
learning disability.		111.373	13.			
17. Difficulty	Between groups	3.670	5	.734	.540	.746
copying notes from	Within groups	175.412	129	1.360	.5 10	., 10
the chalkboard is a	Total	170.112	12)	1.500		
typical characteristic	Total					
of a student with a		179.081	134			
learning disability.						
18. Good ability to	Between groups	3.517	5	.703	.858	.512
use phonics is a	Within groups	105.816	129	.820		

				Mean		
		Sum of squares	df	square	F	Sig.
typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	Total	109.333	134	-		
19. The severity of a	Between groups	1.702	5	.340	.653	.660
student's learning	Within groups	67.232	129	.521		
disability fades with age.	Total	68.933	134			
20. Atypical human	Between groups	5.372	5	1.074	1.226	.301
growth is a	Within groups	112.150	128	.876		
characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	Total	117.522	133			

As indicated in Table 6 it can be noted that only one variable achieved significance. Question 5, which asked participants if a LD can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills, had a significance number of p < 0.022. Specifically, the groups of teachers in the categories planning time/prep teacher, substitute/supply teacher, and other teachers were more likely to agree/strongly agree compared to the teachers who were teaching their own classroom grade or a special education/resource teacher. This suggests that teachers who are teaching a specific grade or special education are more likely to state that social skills problem are not characteristic of LD, while other groups of teachers are more likely to state that it is a classification. However, it is interesting to note that teachers who spend more time with the students with LD (grade teachers) don't see them as having social skills issues, whereas the teachers who spend less time, and perhaps on an infrequent basis (supply teachers), see students with LD as having social skills problems. Overall, the result of the ANOVA analysis implies that teaching position does not influence teachers' level of knowledge of LD characteristics, as only one out of the 20 questions on LD characteristics showed that there was a significant difference between what grade teachers are teaching and their knowledge on LD characteristics.

Table 6

Analysis of Variance for the Teaching Position and Teachers' Knowledge of LD Characteristics

		Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
1. A learning	Between groups	2.949	8	.369	.676	.712
disability can be expressed as a	Within groups Total	72.001	132	.545		
significant disability in reading.		74.950	140			
2. A learning	Between groups	6.392	8	.799	1.149	.335
disability can be	Within groups	93.216	134	.696	1.1 17	.555
expressed as a	Total	, <u></u>		.0,0		
significant disability in communication.		99.608	142			
3. A learning	Between groups	2.266	8	.283	.658	.727
disability can be	Within groups	57.206	133	.430	.000	.,_,
expressed as a	Total					
significant disability in written language.		59.472	141			
4. A learning	Between groups	8.451	8	1.056	1.640	.119
disability can be expressed as a	Within groups Total	85.669	133	.644		
significant disability in mathematics.		94.120	141			
5. A learning	Between groups	23.439	8	2.930	2.330	.022*
disability can be expressed as a	Within groups Total	168.477	134	1.257	_,_,	
significant disability in social skills.	Town	191.916	142			
6. A learning	Between groups	3.809	8	.476	.642	.741
disability can be	Within groups	99.394	134	.742	.0.2	., .1
expressed as a	Total					
significant disability in oral language.		103.203	142			
7. A person with a	Between groups	3.454	8	.432	1.285	.256
learning disability can also be identified	Within groups Total	45.008	134	.336		
with another disability.		48.462	142			
8. A person with a	Between groups	5.794	8	.724	1.132	.346
learning disability	Within groups	85.744	134	.640		
can also be identified as gifted.	Total	91.538	142			
9. Fidgeting is a	Between groups	7.843	8	.980	.724	.670
typical characteristic	Within groups	181.402	134	1.354		
of a student with a learning disability.	Total	189.245	142			
10. Shouting out is a	Between groups	7.728	8	.966	.864	.548
typical characteristic	Within groups	148.638	133	1.118		
of a student with a learning disability.	Total	156.366	141			
11. Hitting is a	Between groups	5.530	8	.691	.829	.579
typical characteristic	Within groups	111.770	134	.834		

		Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
of a student with a	Total	117.301	142			
learning disability.	D			5 2.5	620	= 60
12. Slower	Between groups	5.881	8	.735	.620	.760
processing speed is a	Within groups	158.959	134	1.186		
typical characteristic	Total	164.020	1.40			
of a student with a		164.839	142			
learning disability.	D /	4.260	0	522	501	020
13. Difficulty	Between groups	4.260	8	.533	.521	.839
comprehending	Within groups	137.041	134	1.023		
written materials is a	Total					
typical characteristic		141.301	142			
of a student with a						
learning disability.	D.(10.262	0	1 202	1.020	410
14. Difficulty with	Between groups	10.262	8	1.283	1.039	.410
sentence structure is	Within groups	165.472	134	1.235		
a typical	Total					
characteristic of a		175.734	142			
student with a						
learning disability.	D.(5.212	0	(52	022	402
15. Excellent spelling		5.213	8	.652	.933	.492
is a typical	Within groups Total	93.612	134	.699		
characteristic of a	Total	00.025	1.40			
student with a		98.825	142			
learning disability.	Daturaan anauma	0.262	0	1 170	1.110	.360
16. Good ability to	Between groups	9.363 141.294	124	1.170	1.110	.300
express ideas is a	Within groups Total	141.294	134	1.054		
typical characteristic of a student with a	Total	150.657	142			
learning disability.		130.037	142			
17. Difficulty	Between groups	9.424	8	1.178	.866	.547
copying notes from	Within groups	182.241	134		.800	.547
the chalkboard is a	~ .	182.241	134	1.360		
typical characteristic	Total					
of a student with a		191.664	142			
learning disability.						
18. Good ability to	Between groups	7.238	8	.905	1.167	.324
use phonics is a	Within groups	103.881	134	.775	1.107	.524
typical characteristic	Total	103.001	134	.113		
of a student with a	Total	111.119	142			
learning disability.		111.117	172			
19. The severity of a	Between groups	4.686	8	.586	1.194	.307
student's learning	Within groups	65.747	134	.491	1.17	.507
disability fades with	Total			.471		
age.	Total	70.434	142			
20. Atypical human	Between groups	2.814	8	.352	.394	.922
growth is a	Within groups	118.736	133	.893	.574	.) 22
characteristic of a	Total	110./30	133	.073		
student with a	10111	121.549	141			
learning disability.		121,54)	171			
the incoming disability.	1					

^{*} sig.<0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

** sig.<0.01 indicating that a very strong significant relationship is present.

Table 7 displays the results for the chi-square test conducted to determine if participants relationship with close family member who has a LD influences their knowledge of the characteristics of LD. Only one question, question 5, asking participants if a LD can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills was significant, $\chi^2(2, N=143)=0.020$, p=0.05. These findings suggest that primary school teachers who do have a family member with a LD are more likely to believe that a LD can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills compared to teachers who do not have a family member with a LD. The reason why the participants who have a close family member with a LD were more likely to believe that a LD can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills could be because they might have witnessed situations in which having a LD has affected an individual's social skills.

Overall, there was no significant relationship in the level of knowledge participants had on LD characteristics between participants who had a family member with a LD and those participants who did not have a family member with a LD. As a result the level of knowledge primary teachers' have on the characteristics of LD is not dependent on whether or not a teacher has a family member with a LD.

Table 7

Chi-Square Close Family Member With a LD and Teachers' Level of Knowledge on Characteristics of LD.

7	VFM (n = 73)		NFM	(n = 70)			
	Strongly disagree/	Strongly agree/	Don't know	Strongly disagree/	Strongly agree/	Don't know	$X^2(1)$
	disagree	agree		disagree	agree		
1. A learning disability can	4	68	0	1	66	2	.152
be expressed as a significant disability in reading.	İ						
2. A learning disability can	3	70	0	5	65	0	.430
be expressed as a significant disability in communication							

Y	FM (n = 73)		NFM	(n = 70)			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	$X^2(1)$
3. A learning disability can	3	70	0	0	69	0	.089
be expressed as a significant							
disability in written							
language.	7		0	•	67	0	100
4. A learning disability can	7	66	0	2	67	0	.102
be expressed as a significant							
disability in mathematics.	9	62	2	22	47	1	.020*
5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant	9	02	2	22	4/	1	.020
disability in social skills.							
6. A learning disability can	5	68	0	6	64	0	.699
be expressed as a significant	3	00	U	O	O-T	Ü	.077
disability in oral language.							
7. A person with a learning	2	71	0	0	70	0	.163
disability can also be							
identified with another							
disability.							
8. A person with a learning	2	70	1	4	66	0	.423
disability can also be							
identified as gifted.							
9. Fidgeting is a typical	41	28	4	43	23	4	.789
characteristic of a student							
with a learning disability.		1.0					0.5.5
10. Shouting out is a typical	55	13	4	52	14	4	.955
characteristic of a student							
with a learning disability.	60	8	5	62	5	3	.402
11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student	60	0	3	62	3	3	.402
with a learning disability.							
12. Slower processing speed	18	55	0	11	59	0	.184
is a typical characteristic of	10	33	O	11	37	V	.101
a student with a learning							
disability.							
13. Difficulty	13	60	0	9	61	0	.412
comprehending written							
materials is a typical							
characteristic of a student							
with a learning disability.							
14. Difficulty with sentence	21	50	2	19	51	0	.359
structure is a typical							
characteristic of a student							
with a learning disability.	<i>(</i> 2	0	2	61	4	-	27.1
15. Excellent spelling is a	63	8	2	61	4	5	.274
typical characteristic of a							
student with a learning							
disability.	54	16	3	52	15	3	.996
16. Good ability to express ideas is a typical	34	10	3	32	13	3	.990
characteristic of a student							
with a learning disability.							
man a rearming discountry.							

	VFM (n = 73)		NFM	(n = 70)			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	$X^2(1)$
17. Difficulty copying notes from the chalkboard is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	22	50	1	18	51	1	.841
18. Good ability to use phonics is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	58	11	4	56	8	6	.655
19. The severity of a student's learning disability fades with age.	68	2	3	64	2	4	.904
20. Atypical human growth is a characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	55	7	11	50	4	15	.458

Note. YMF = Participant has a family member with LD, NFM = Participant does not have a family member with a LD.

Table 8 presents the results of chi-square tests examining the relationship between teachers' level of knowledge on LD characteristics and whether they have a close friend with a LD. As indicated in Table 8, none of the questions produce a chi-square value of less than 0.05. Therefore, there is no relationship between primary teachers having a close friend with a LD and their level of knowledge on typical characteristics of LD.

Table 8

Chi-Square Test Close Friend with a LD and Teachers' Knowledge of LD Characteristics

	YC	F(n = 84)		NCF $(n = 59)$			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
1. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in reading.	3	80	0	2	54	2	.234
2. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in communication.	3	81	0	5	54	0	.209

^{*}p <0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

	YCF (<i>n</i> = 84)			NCF $(n = 59)$			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.	2	81	0	1	58	0	.770
4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.	7	77	0	2	56	0	.240
5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.	16	68	0	15	41	3	.063
6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.	6	78	0	5	45	0	.769
7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.	1	83	0	1	58	0	.800
8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted.	2	81	1	4	55	0	.311
9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	49	30	5	35	21	3	.974
10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	63	18	2	44	9	6	.108
11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	71	8	5	51	5	3	.724
12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	16	68	0	13	46	0	.662
13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	10	74	0	12	47	0	.169
14. Difficulty with sentence structure is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	23	60	1	17	41	1	.948
15. Excellent spelling is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	70	10	4	54	2	3	.195

	YC	F(n = 84)		NC	F(n = 59)		
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
16. Good ability to express ideas is a typical characteristic of a student	60	20	4	46	11	2	.676
with a learning disability. 17. Difficulty copying notes from the chalkboard is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	24	59	1	16	42	1	.954
18. Good ability to use phonics is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	69	11	4	45	8	6	.448
19. The severity of a student's learning disability fades with age.	77	3	4	55	1	3	.797
20. Atypical human growth is a characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	64	6	14	41	5	12	.797

Note. YCF = Participant has a close friend with LD, NCF = Participant does not have a close friend with a LD.

Table 9 depicts the results of a chi-square test conducted to determine if a relationship existed between participants who had attended a workshop on LD and primary teachers' knowledge of characteristics of LD. Question 4, which asked whether a learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics, was significant, $\chi^2(2, n = 129) = 0.029$, p = 0.05. This suggests that teachers who did not attend workshops were aware that a student could have a LD in math. This finding is interesting, as one would assume that teachers who had attended LD workshops might have been more knowledgeable about this than those who did not attend a LD workshop. However, this could be because the LD workshop mainly focused on LD in language rather than mathematics.

Furthermore, question 9, which asked participants if fidgeting was a typical characteristic a student with a LD, was also significant, $\chi^2(2, n = 129) =$

0.04, p = 0.05. This suggests that teachers who attended a workshop on LD are more likely to successfully know that fidgeting is not a typical characteristic of students with LD.

For the remaining questions the chi-square test value was greater than 0.05, thereby indicating that no significant correlation existed between teachers' who attended workshops on LD and their level of knowledge on LD characteristics.

Table 9

Chi-Square Test Participants Attended LD Workshop and Teachers' Knowledge on Characteristics of LD

	AW	$\sqrt{(n=79)}$		NW			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
1. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in reading.	4	72	1	0	50	0	.185
2. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in communication.	4	75	0	2	48	0	.780
3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.	3	75	0	0	50	0	.161
4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.	7	71	0	0	50	0	.029*
5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.	12	66	1	15	33	2	.066
6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.	4	75	0	5	45	0	.284
7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.	2	77	0	0	50	0	.257
8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted.	4	75	0	1	49	0	.380

	AW	$\sqrt{(n=79)}$		NW			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	$\frac{V(n=50)}{\text{Strongly agree/}}$	Don't know	X^2 (1)
9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student	41	34	4	37	11	2	.040*
with a learning disability. 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning	60	16	3	37	8	4	.521
disability. 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	70	8	1	41	5	4	.238
12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student	19	60	0	8	42	0	.273
with a learning disability. 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	16	63	0	6	44	0	.225
characteristic of a student with a learning disability. 14. Difficulty with sentence structure is a typical characteristic of a student	26	52	1	11	38	1	.400
with a learning disability. 15. Excellent spelling is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	67	9	3	44	3	3	.519
16. Good ability to express ideas is a typical characteristic of a student	63	12	4	32	16	2	.078
with a learning disability. 17. Difficulty copying notes from the chalkboard is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	22	55	2	14	36	0	.524
18. Good ability to use phonics is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	63	11	5	39	6	5	.730
19. The severity of a student's learning disability	71	4	4	48	0	2	.255
fades with age. 20. Atypical human growth is a characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	60	8	11	36	2	11	.257

Note. AW = Participant had attended at least one workshop on LD, NW = Participant has not attended a workshop on LD.

* p < 0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

In conclusion, the participants did have a well-established knowledge of the typical characteristics of a LD. The participants were very confident in their knowledge of the types of LD (questions 1 to 5). Furthermore, when examining the cross-tab analysis there was no significant evidence that teachers' level of knowledge on the characteristics of LD was a result of any of the factors examined. Oveall, teacher's years of experience, teaching position, family member with a LD, close friend with a LD, and attending a workshop on LD had no significant influence on teachers' knowledge of the characteristics of LD.

Potential Risk Factors

When examining teacher knowledge of LD it was important to examine teachers' knowledge of the potential risk factors that may cause an individual to develop a LD. If primary teachers have a significant level of knowledge on potential risk factors that may cause someone to have a LD, they would be able to use this information to screen for potential students with LD in their class and therefore be able to identify these students early in their education. Table 10 depicts participants' knowledge of the different risk factors that may cause a student to develop a LD (See Table 10.1 in Appendix D for the frequency chart of participants' responses to questions on risk factors of LD). Questions 21 to 36 examined the participants' knowledge about the potential LD risk factors. In 13 of the 16 questions asked more than 50% of the participants indicated that they were aware of LD risk factors. Additionally, there was a high number of participants who responded *don't know* to the questions in this section, with *don't know* responses in this section ranging from 4% to 39.4% of participants' responses (See Table 10.1 in Appendix D). Specifically for three of the questions (question 26 asking participants if

lead poisoning increases the risk of LD; question 28 asking participants if an infection in the central nervous system increases the risk of LD; and question 29 asking participants if cancer treatment increases the risk of having LD) the mode for these three questions was the response *don't know*. These results suggest that participants are familiar and do have a basic understanding about possible risk factors that cause LD. However, their confidence in their understanding of the potential risk factors is not evident. Instead, it demonstrated that there is more room for teachers to gain knowledge and confidence in their knowledge about the risk factors that could result in a student having a LD.

Question 22 asked participants if poor nutrition increases the risk of an individual having a LD. While 35% of the participants where aware that poor nutrition does increase the risk of a person developing a LD, 54.3% of participants were not aware of this information (See Table 10.1 in Appendix D). As previously stated in the literature review, a contributing factor to LD is poor nutrition (Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario, 2014).

Table 10
Statistical Analysis of Participant's Responses to Potential Risk Factors That Can Cause LD

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
21. A family history of a learning disability	3.96	4.00	4
increases the risk of having a learning	Agree	Agree	Agree
disability.			
22. Poor nutrition increases the risk of having	2.79	2.00	2
a learning disability.	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
23. A history of head injury increases the risk	3.65	4.00	4
of having a learning disability.	Agree	Agree	Agree
24. Child abuse increases the risk of having a	3.18	3.00	4
learning disability.	Don't know	Don't know	Agree
25. Complications during pregnancy increase	3.76	4.00	4
the risk of having a learning disability.	Agree	Agree	Agree
26. Lead poisoning increases the risk of	3.48	3.50	3
having a learning disability.	Don't know	Half way between	Don't know
		don't know and	
		agree	

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
27. Lack of parental support increases the risk	2.42	2.00	2
of a learning disability.	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
28. Infection in the central nervous system	3.44	3.00	3
increases the risk of having a learning	Don't know	Don't know	Don't know
disability.			
29. Cancer treatment increases the risk of	2.82	3.00	3
having a learning disability.	Don't know	Don't know	Don't know
30. Poor parenting style increases the risk of	2.27	2.00	2
having a learning disability.	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
31. Low child activity level increases the risk	2.49	2.00	2
of having a learning disability.	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
32. Cultural practices increase the risk of	1.98	2.00	2
having a learning disability.	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
33. Poor living environment increases the risk	2.61	2.00	2
of having a learning disability.	Don't know	Disagree	Disagree
34. Taking medication increases the risk of	2.44	2.00	2
having a learning disability.	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
35. Genetic factors increase the risk of having	3.99	4.00	4
a learning disability.	Agree	Agree	Agree
36. Neurological factors increase the risk of	3.97	4.00	4
having a learning disability.	Agree	Agree	Agree

Question 24 in this section asked participants if child abuse increases the risk of an individual having a LD. Tables 10 depicted participants' limited knowledge on the relationship between child abuse and LD, with all three forms of analysis (mean, median and mode) indicating that participants did not know if child abuse was a risk factor. Specifically, 36.6% of participants stated that child abuse does not increase the risk of LD, while 48.6% of participants stated that child abuse does increase the risk of LD (See Table 10.1 in Appendix D). Child abuse does increase the risk of LD, especially if damage is done to the brain (National Center for Learning Disabilities, 2014). As previously stated in the literature review, there is still debate over brain injuries and their relationship to LD.

As shown in Table 10.1 in Appendix D, approximately 50% of participants knew that an infection in a person's central nervous system increased the risk of an individual developing a LD (question 28). However, there was a large number (39.4%) of

participants who did not know that infection in a person's central nervous system can cause a LD.

Similarly, in Table 10 all three analyses (mean, median, and mode) outcomes were *don't know* from the participants' responses. This raised the question, do primary school teachers realize that a LD is formed in the brain and can be a result of an infection to the central nervous system (that affects the brain) and could possibly affect an individual's learning? The participants' results indicate that primary school teachers are unsure on the relationship between the central nervous system and LD.

When asked whether cancer treatment (question 29) could cause an individual to develop a LD, a minority (37.8%) of respondents acknowledged that they did not know if it was a risk factor. Furthermore, only 23.8% of participants were aware that cancer treatment is a risk factor that can cause a LD. Since cancer and infection in the central nervous system are not risk factors that teachers come in contact with on a daily basis, their ability to observe these factors causing a student to have a LD is not as frequent compared to other risk factors such as genetic factors or family history that are more commonly seen in the classroom. Therefore, teachers require additional education in this area.

There were 13 participants who provided additional comments about the risk factors portion of the survey. Ten out of the 13 participants who left comments stated that they did not believe that some of the factors mentioned, such as poor living environment, could cause a LD. However, these factors can hinder academic achievement in a student with a LD. These statements provided by the participants are true; factors that affect an individual's environment in which they live are not a risk factor that can cause an

individual's ability to succeed academically (Lyon et al., 2001). For example, lack of parental support does not cause an individual to have a LD. However, lack of parental support can affect the degree of an individual's disability and also contribute to the success of a child's education. Desforges and Abouchaar (2003) noted the importance that parental support plays in a child's education. They found that students who have poor parental support may develop poor attitudes toward school and therefore not put effort into their schoolwork. As a result, environmental factors can hinder a student's with LD academic progress, but it is not a risk factor that can cause an individual to develop a LD.

Table 11 examined the results of an ANOVA test that was conducted on teachers' years of experience and their level of knowledge on possible risk factors that may result in a student developing a LD. The findings indicated that there is no significant relationship between teachers' years of experience and their level of knowledge of the possible risk factors that may cause a student to have a LD.

Table 11

Analysis of Variance of Teachers' Years of Experience and their Level of Knowledge on LD Risk Factors

		Sum of				
		squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
21. A family history of	Between groups	1.562	5	.312	.479	.791
learning disability	Within groups	83.431	128	.652		
increases the risk of	Total					
having a learning		84.993	133			
disability.						
22. Poor nutrition	Between groups	8.801	5	1.760	1.400	.229
increases the risk of	Within groups	158.381	126	1.257		
having a learning disability.	Total	167.182	131			
23. A history of head	Between groups	3.698	5	.740	.773	.571
injury increases the	Within groups	122.511	128	.957		

		Sum of	1.0		П	a.
	m · 1	squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
risk of having a	Total	126.209	133			
learning disability.	D /	11.550	-	2.210	1.050	102
24. Child abuse	Between groups	11.552	5	2.310	1.878	.103
increases the risk of	Within groups	157.500	128	1.230		
having a learning disability.	Total	169.052	133			
25. Complications	Between groups	3.075	5	.615	.727	.604
during pregnancy	Within groups	108.298	128	.846		
increase the risk of	Total					
having a learning disability.		111.373	133			
26. Lead poisoning	Between groups	3.528	5	.706	.766	.576
increases the risk of	Within groups	117.852	128	.921		
having a learning	Total					
disability.		121.381	133			
27. Lack of parental	Between groups	6.204	5	1.241	1.009	.415
support increases the	Within groups	157.386	128	1.230		
risk of a learning	Total	162 500	122			
disability.		163.590	133			
28. Infection in the	Between groups	3.159	5	.632	.861	.509
central nervous system	Within groups	93.864	128	.733		
increases the risk of	Total					
having a learning		97.022	133			
disability.						
29. Cancer treatment	Between groups	1.668	5	.334	.349	.882
increases the risk of	Within groups	123.413	129	.957		
having a learning	Total	125.081	134			
disability.		123.061	134			
30. Poor parenting	Between groups	6.023	5	1.205	1.009	.415
style increases the risk	Within groups	152.851	128	1.194		
of having a learning	Total	158.873	133			
disability.						
31. Low child activity	Between groups	4.527	5	.905	.905	.480
level increases the risk	Within groups	128.999	129	1.000		
of having a learning	Total	133.526	134			
disability.	_		_			
32. Cultural practices	Between groups	5.960	5	1.192	1.793	.119
increase the risk of	Within groups	85.773	129	.665		
having a learning	Total	91.733	134			
disability.	D 4			1.055	1.554	1.70
33. Poor living	Between groups	9.786	5	1.957	1.554	.178
environment increases	Within groups	161.236	128	1.260		
the risk of having a learning disability.	Total	171.022	133			

Table 12 outlines the results of an ANOVA test conducted to determine if teaching position influenced their level of knowledge on LD risk factors. Only question 23, which asked participants if a history of head injury increased the risk of an individual having a LD, was significant, p < 0.01. Specifically, teachers who taught a split grade,

planning time/prep and substitute/supply teachers more strongly agreed to question 23 and indicated that head injuries do increase the risk of an individual having a LD (although there is still some debate on whether head injuries cause LD). Overall, there is no significant relationship among the different teaching positions and the level of knowledge on LD risk factors.

Table 12

Analysis of Variance for the Teaching Position and Teachers' Knowledge on LD Risk Factors

		Sum of				
		squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
21. A family history of	Between groups	7.792	8	.974	1.440	.186
learning disability increases	Within groups	89.955	133	.676	10	.100
the risk of having a learning disability.	Total	97.746	141			
22. Poor nutrition increases	Between groups	11.242	8	1.405	1.081	.381
the risk of having a learning	Within groups	170.329	131	1.300		
disability.	Total	181.571	139			
23. A history of head injury	Between groups	19.096	8	2.387	2.661	.010**
increases the risk of having a	Within groups	119.298	133	.897		
learning disability.	Total	138.394	141			
24. Child abuse increases the	Between groups	7.219	8	.902	.684	.705
risk of having a learning	Within groups	175.379	133	1.319		
disability.	Total	182.599	141			
25. Complications during	Between groups	9.707	8	1.213	1.549	.146
pregnancy increase the risk of	Within groups	104.152	133	.783		
having a learning disability.	Total	113.859	141			
26. Lead poisoning increases	Between groups	6.470	8	.809	.904	.515
the risk of having a learning	Within groups	118.967	133	.894		
disability.	Total	125.437	141			
27. Lack of parental support	Between groups	8.493	8	1.062	.821	.585
increases the risk of a	Within groups	171.993	133	1.293		
learning disability.	Total	180.486	141			
28. Infection in the central	Between groups	2.952	8	.369	.490	.861
nervous system increases the	Within groups	100.097	133	.753		
risk of having a learning disability.	Total	103.049	141			
29. Cancer treatment	Between groups	6.382	8	.798	.829	.578
increases the risk of having a	Within groups	128.890	134	.962		
learning disability.	Total	135.273	142			
30. Poor parenting style	Between groups	8.831	8	1.104	.887	.529
increases the risk of having a	Within groups	165.458	133	1.244		
learning disability.	Total	174.289	141			
31. Low child activity level	Between groups	7.920	8	.990	.935	.490
increases the risk of having a	Within groups	141.814	134	1.058		
learning disability.	Total	149.734	142			
32. Cultural practices increase	Between groups	4.828	8	.603	.824	.583

		Sum of				
		squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
the risk of having a learning	Within groups	98.109	134	.732		
disability.	Total	102.937	142			
33. Poor living environment	Between groups	14.154	8	1.769	1.386	.208
increases the risk of having a	Within groups	169.761	133	1.276		
learning disability.	Total	183.915	141			
34. Taking medication	Between groups	6.099	8	.762	.821	.586
increases the risk of having a	Within groups	122.639	132	.929		
learning disability.	Total	128.738	140			
35. Genetic factors increase	Between groups	1.922	8	.240	.463	.880
the risk of having a learning	Within groups	69.071	133	.519		
disability.	Total	70.993	141			
36. Neurological factors	Between groups	2.758	8	.345	.624	.757
increase the risk of having a	Within groups	74.067	134	.553		
learning disability.	Total	76.825	142			

^{*} p < 0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

As depicted in Table 13 there were no significant differences between responses from participants who did have a family member with a LD compared to those who did not have a family member with a LD. Therefore, teachers' knowledge on LD risk factors is not affected by their connection to a family member with a LD.

Table 13

Chi Square Close Family Member With a LD and Teachers' Level of Knowledge on Risk Factors of LD.

	YFN	$\overline{\Lambda (n = 73)}$		NFM $(n = 70)$			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X ² (1)
21. A family history of learning disability increases the risk of having a learning disability.	3	65	4	11	56	3	.069
22. Poor nutrition increases the risk of having a learning disability.	37	27	7	39	22	8	.740
23. A history of head injury increases the risk of having a learning disability.	13	53	7	15	48	6	.837
24. Child abuse increases the risk of having a learning disability.	28	35	10	24	34	11	.879
25. Complications during pregnancy increase the risk of having a learning disability.	10	53	10	7	51	11	.778

^{**} p < 0.01 indicating that a very strong significant relationship is present.

	YFN	M(n = 73)		NFM $(n = 70)$			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
26. Lead poisoning	11	36	26	7	35	27	.667
increases the risk of having							
a learning disability.							
27. Lack of parental	53	14	6	46	20	3	.295
support increases the risk of							
a learning disability.							
28. Infection in the central	8	36	29	9	33	27	.929
nervous system increases							
the risk of having a							
learning disability.							
29. Cancer treatment	26	18	29	29	18	25	.77
increases the risk of having							
a learning disability.							
30. Poor parenting style	54	13	6	50	15	4	.74
increases the risk of having							
a learning disability.							
31. Low child activity level	48	11	14	42	20	8	.10
increases the risk of having							
a learning disability.							
32. Cultural practices	62	6	5	59	5	6	.90
increase the risk of having							
a learning disability.							
33. Poor living	47	21	5	39	21	9	.41
environment increases the							
risk of having a learning							
disability.							
34. Taking medication	45	11	17	41	13	14	.79
increases the risk of having							
a learning disability.							
35. Genetic factors increase	1	66	6	5	58	6	.45
the risk of having a							
learning disability.							
36. Neurological factors	3	64	6	2	60	8	.61
increase the risk of having							
a learning disability.							

Note. YMF = Participant has a family member with LD, NFM = Participant does not have a family member with a LD.

Table 14 depicts the results of a chi-square test that examined if a correlation exists between primary teachers' having a close friend with a LD and their level of knowledge of the possible risk factors that can cause an individual to have a LD. Question 23, which asked participants if a history of head injury increased the risk of a student's having a LD, was significant, $\chi^2(2, n = 143) = 0.011$, p = 0.05. This suggests that if a primary school teacher has a close friend with a LD, they are more likely to

know that a history of head injury can increase the risk of a LD. Additionally, question 24 asked participants if child abuse increases the risk of a student having a LD, $\chi^2(2, n = 143) = 0.023$, p = 0.05. The results for this question shows that primary teachers who have a close friend with a LD are more likely to respond that child abuse does increase the risk factor of a student having a LD.

Table 14

Chi-Square Test Close Friend with a LD and Teachers' Knowledge on LD Risk Factors

					:		
		F(n = 84)			NCF $(n = 59)$		
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	(1)
21. A family history of learning disability increases the risk of having a learning disability.	6	75	3	8	46	4	.258
22. Poor nutrition increases the risk of having a learning disability.	44	31	8	32	18	7	.740
23. A history of head injury increases the risk of having a learning disability.	11	67	5	17	34	8	.011*
24. Child abuse increases the risk of having a learning disability.	28	48	8	24	21	13	.023*
25. Complications during pregnancy increase the risk of having a learning disability.	10	66	8	7	38	13	.098
26. Lead poisoning increases the risk of having a learning disability.	10	45	29	8	26	24	.591
27. Lack of parental support increases the risk of a learning disability.	60	19	5	39	15	4	.867
28. Infection in the central nervous system increases the risk of having a learning disability.	8	42	34	9	27	22	.557
29. Cancer treatment increases the risk of having a learning disability.	30	22	32	25	12	22	.636
30. Poor parenting style increases the risk of having a learning disability.	61	17	6	43	11	4	.979
31. Low child activity level increases the risk of having	50	19	15	30	12	7	.530

	YCF $(n = 84)$			NCF			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don' know	
a learning disability.							
32. Cultural practices	72	5	7	49	6	4	.625
increase the risk of having a learning disability.							
33. Poor living	49	27	8	37	15	6	.723
environment increases the risk of having a learning disability.							
34. Taking medication	52	16	15	34	8	16	.350
increases the risk of having a learning disability.							
35. Genetic factors increase	2	78	4	4	46	8	.031*
the risk of having a learning disability.							
36. Neurological factors increase the risk of having a learning disability.	4	73	7	1	51	7	.735

Note. YCF = Participant has a close friend with LD, NCF = Participant does not have a close friend with a LD.

Finally, question 35, asking participants if genetic factors increase the risk of a student having a LD, was also significant, $\chi^2(2, n = 143) = 0.031$, p = 0.05, indicating that a relationship exists between primary school teachers who have a close friend with a LD and knowing that genetic factors increase the risk of a having a LD.

The remaining questions did not produce any significant differences. As a result, for primary teachers who have close friends with LD, their knowledge of the relationship between head injuries, child abuse, and genetic factors and LD was different than the knowledge of primary teachers who did not have a close friend with a LD. However no other differences were found.

Table 15 displays the results of chi-square tests conducted on whether participants' workshop attendance affected their knowledge of the possible risk factors that may cause a person to have a LD. Only question 33, asking participants if poor parenting style increased the risk of a child developing a LD, was significant, $\chi^2(2, n = 1)$

^{*} p < 0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

) = 0.034, p = 0.05. This suggests that participants who attended a workshop on LD were more likely informed that poor parenting style does not increase the risk of a child having a LD. The remaining questions generated no significant correlations, suggesting that primary teachers' knowledge about the risk factors of LD was not affected by workshop attendance.

Table 15

Chi-Square Test Participants Attended LD Workshop and Teachers' Knowledge of LD Risk Factors

	AW	$\sqrt{(n=79)}$		NW $(n = 50)$			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X ² (1)
21. A family history of learning disability increases the risk of having a learning disability.	8	69	2	5	40	4	.339
22. Poor nutrition increases the risk of having a learning disability.	47	25	7	23	17	7	.419
23. A history of head injury increases the risk of having a learning disability.	15	59	5	12	30	7	.196
24. Child abuse increases the risk of having a learning disability.	32	37	10	16	23	10	.436
25. Complications during pregnancy increase the risk of having a learning disability.	12	55	12	3	39	7	.280
26. Lead poisoning increases the risk of having a learning disability.	10	40	29	7	26	16	.889
27. Lack of parental support increases the risk of a learning disability.	60	14	5	29	16	4	.120
28. Infection in the central nervous system increases the risk of having a learning disability.	11	39	29	6	24	19	.951
29. Cancer treatment increases the risk of having a learning disability.	34	19	26	15	13	22	.297
30. Poor parenting style increases the risk of having a learning disability.	64	10	5	30	15	4	.034*

	AW $(n = 79)$			NW $(n = 50)$			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
31. Low child activity level increases the risk of having a learning disability.	48	17	14	31	12	7	.839
32. Cultural practices increase the risk of having a learning disability.	65	5	9	42	6	2	.209
33. Poor living environment increases the risk of having a learning disability.	50	20	8	28	16	6	.653
34. Taking medication increases the risk of having a learning disability.	53	12	14	26	8	14	.270
35. Genetic factors increase the risk of having a learning disability.	3	70	6	2	41	6	.668
36. Neurological factors increase the risk of having a learning disability.	2	69	8	2	43	5	.998

Note. AW = Participant had attended at least one workshop on LD, NW = Participant has not attended a workshop on LD.

In conclusion, the majority of participants were aware of the potential LD risk factors. However the participants were relatively less aware of the potential risk factors than they were of the characteristics of LD (that were examined in question 1 to 20 of the survey). As a result, it appears that teachers do have a general understanding about risk factors that could result in an individual having a LD. Nonetheless, participants' level of confidence in this area and their understanding of potential risk factors were not strong. Additionally, in the ANOVA and chi-square analyses that were conducted, there was no significant support that any of the factors examined (years of teaching experience, teaching position, family member or close friend with LD, or attending a workshop) affected teachers' knowledge of potential LD risk factors. Overall, the results suggested that primary teachers need more knowledge about possible risk factors of LD to ensure they can help detect students with LD early in their education careers.

^{*} p < 0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

Teaching Strategies

When creating this survey it was important to develop a portion of the survey that examined teachers' knowledge of effective teaching strategies to assist students with LD with their education, as it will help determine if teachers have adequate knowledge on how to effectively teach students with LD in their classrooms. This section of the survey focused on examining teachers' knowledge of different effective teaching strategies for students with LD (Table 16 and Table 16.1 in Appendix D). For nine of the 11 questions asked in this section, pertained to whether the participants believed they were informed of the effective or ineffective teaching strategies for students with a LD.

Table 16
Statistical Analysis of Participants' Responses for Teaching Strategies for Students with a LD.

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
37. You need to have an Individual Education	2.55	2.00	2
Plan before providing modifications and	Don't know	Disagree	Disagree
accommodations to students with a learning			
disability.	2.03	2.00	2
38. The students need to be formally identified		_,,,,	_
with a learning disability before you can	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
provide them with modifications and accommodations.			
39. Differentiated instruction is an effective	4.51	5.00	5
classroom strategy to use for students with a	Strongly agree	Strongly agree	Strongly
learning disability.	211 211 31 7 11 31 22	21.61.61, 116.11	agree
40. Direct instruction is an effective classroom	3.77	4.00	4
strategy to use for students with a learning	Agree	Agree	Agree
disability.	Ü	Ü	o o
41. Providing more work is an effective	1.55	1.00	1
classroom strategy to use for students with a	Disagree	Strongly	Strongly
learning disability.		disagree	disagree
42. Breaking lessons down into smaller parts is	4.66	5	5
an effective classroom strategy to use for	Strongly agree	Strongly agree	Strongly
students with a learning disability.			agree
43. Giving a student a computer is an effective	3.95	4.00	4
classroom strategy to use for students with a	Agree	Agree	Agree
learning disability.			
44. Instructing students to work by themselves	1.98	2.00	_ 2
is an effective classroom strategy to use for	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree
students with a learning disability.	2.02	2.00	
45. An effective classroom strategy for students	2.93	3.00	4

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
with a learning disability is to present	Don't know	Don't know	Agree
information orally and not in writing.			
46. Using graphic organizers is an effective	4.23	4.00	4
classroom strategy to use for students with a	Agree	Agree	Agree
learning disability.			
47. Medication should be used to reduce the	2.10	1.00	2
severity of a students' learning disability.	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree

Question 43 asked participants if giving a student a computer was an effective teaching strategy to use for students with LD. The acceptable response to this question was disagree, but, as indicated in Table, the mean, median, and mode of responses were all agree. This question had a considerably low percentage of participants (13.4%) who responded "disagree". I believe that this was because of the wording and misinterpretation of the question. It is widely known in schools that computers can be very beneficial and effective in assisting a student with LD succeed academically (Hasselbring & Williams Glaser, 2000). While there are many excellent software programs available for students with LD that have been proven to support the academic success of a student with LD, such as Kurzweil, Inspiration, Dragon, and so on (Floyd & Judge, 2012), just giving a student a computer is not an effective strategy to help the academic performance of a student with LD (Hasselbring & Williams Glaser, 2000). In order for a computer to be an effective tool, teachers and students must be trained on how to use the appropriate software (Hasselbring & Williams Glaser, 2000). Furthermore, Floyd and Judge (2012) determined in their research that designing the appropriate accommodations for a student's disability and for teachers to keep up to date with continual advancement in assistive technology is imperative for students' academic success.

Question 45 asked participants if presenting information orally, not written, to students with LD was an effective classroom strategy for these students. In Table 16 it

can be noted that the mean and median of the responses were don't know, while the mode was agree; 46.2% of participants stated it was not an effective classroom strategy for students with LD, 49% of participants stated it was an effective strategy. However, just providing information orally to a student with LD is not an effective strategy as all students learn differently. There are three ways in which people learn: auditory, kinesthetic, and visual (Learning Disabilities Association of Canada, 2015). Additionally, many people learn best by incorporating more than one of these methods such as auditory/visual or visual/kinesthetic. Presenting information orally only appeals to one learning style. All LD learning styles are not the same, and therefore presenting the information only orally will not benefit all LD learners. Furthermore, it is commonly assumed that when an individual has a LD they have difficulties with reading (Mayes & Calhoun, 2007); by presenting the information in writing it would not be an effective classroom strategy to assist a student with LD. As a result, teachers may believe that it is an effective strategy to orally present the information to the student, thereby resulting in a close margin between the two categories of responses.

Additional comments about teaching strategies were left by 44 participants. Of the 44 comments 18% of the comments indicated that a computer can really help students with a LD; however, only when it is used appropriately. As they have seen in education settings, computers are being used as "baby-sitters" in which educators have students with LD go on the computer and play a game because they are either distracting the class, or the teacher does not have time to assist the student. Additionally, 45.5% of the participants who commented mentioned that the effectiveness of a strategy used would depend on the student as each student with a LD is different and a strategy that works for

one student may not work for another student. Furthermore, 43.2% of participants commented that in the education system, an IEP is not needed for accommodations, but one is needed in order for modifications to be made to a student's learning. As one participant commented, "An IEP is not required for accommodations. If students' program needs to be modified to a different grade level an IEP must be in place (sic)" (participant, 2014). It is important to note that if this survey was used again, making questions 37 (asking participants if they need an IEP before they can provide modifications and accommodations to students) and 38 (asking participants if students need to be formally identified with a LD before a teacher can provide accommodations and modification to students) both into two questions, one asking about accommodations and one about modifications, would allow for a better analysis of teachers' comprehension of teaching students with and LD.

Table 17 presents the results of an ANOVA test that examined teachers' years of experience and their level of knowledge on effective teaching strategies for students with a LD. As a result of the ANOVA test conducted, there were no significant relationships between the responses to the questions on effective teachers' strategies and years of teaching experience.

Table 17

Analysis of Variance for Teachers' Years of Experience and Their Level of Knowledge on Effective Teaching Strategies for Students With a LD.

		Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
37. You need to have an Individual Education Plan	Between groups	4.150	5	.830	.467	.800
before providing modifications and	Within groups	229.184	129	1.777		
accommodations to students with a learning disability.	Total	233.333	134			

		Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
38. The students need to be	Between	*		•		
formally identified with a	groups	6.910	5	1.382	1.158	.333
learning disability before you	Within	152.004	120	1 102		
can provide them with	groups	153.904	129	1.193		
modifications and	Total	160.815	134			
accommodations.		100.813	134			
39. Differentiated instruction	Between	1.470	5	.294	.554	.735
is an effective classroom	groups	1.170	5	.27 .	.551	.,,50
strategy to use for students	Within	68.000	128	.531		
with a learning disability.	groups Total	69.470	133			
40. Direct instruction is an	Between	09.470	133			
effective classroom strategy	groups	2.983	5	.597	.461	.804
to use for students with a	Within					
learning disability.	groups	166.751	129	1.293		
Temming unsuccessive.	Total	169.733	134			
41. Providing more work is	Between		_	105	4.4.5	017
an effective classroom	groups	.974	5	.195	.445	.817
strategy to use for students	Within	56.551	120	120		
with a learning disability.	groups	30.331	129	.438		
	Total	57.526	134			
42. Breaking lessons down	Between	.239	5	.048	.205	.960
into smaller parts is an	groups	.237	5	.010	.200	.,,00
effective classroom strategy	Within	30.087	129	.233		
to use for students with a	groups	20.226	124			
learning disability.	Total Between	30.326	134			
43. Giving a student a computer is an effective	groups	1.528	5	.306	.328	.895
classroom strategy to use for	Within					
students with a learning	groups	119.285	128	.932		
disability.	Total	120.813	133			
44. Instructing students to	Between			022	1 1 4 1	2.42
work by themselves is an	groups	4.658	5	.932	1.141	.342
effective classroom strategy	Within	105.313	129	.816		
to use for students with a	groups		129	.810		
learning disability.	Total	109.970	134			
45. An effective classroom	Between	4.652	5	.930	.583	.713
strategy for students with a	groups					
learning disability is to	Within	205.896	129	1.596		
present information orally and	groups	210 549	124			
not in writing. 46. Using graphic organizers	Total Between	210.548	134			
is an effective classroom	groups	4.116	5	.823	1.683	.143
strategy to use for students	Within					
with a learning disability.	groups	62.608	128	.489		
with a realising allowering.	Total	66.724	133			
47. Medication should be	Between			650	71.5	612
used to reduce the severity of	groups	3.293	5	.659	.715	.613
a students' learning disability.	Within	110 011	120	021		
-	groups	118.811	129	.921		
	Total	122.104	134			

Table 18 depicts the results of an ANOVA test that examined whether the participants' teaching position influenced their knowledge of effective classroom teaching strategies for students with a LD. Except for question 39, there was no significant relationship between teaching position and knowledge of effective teaching strategies. Question 39 asked participants if differentiated instruction was an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a LD, p < 0.032. All of the different groups of teaching grades examined agreed that differentiated instruction was an effective strategy. However, teachers who taught a split grade (for example, taught a class of grade 1 / 2) strongly agreed with this statement and had more confidence with differentiated instruction being an effective strategy. This may be due to the fact that teachers who teach split classes on a daily basis generally have to differentiate their instruction because they are teaching two different curriculum grade levels in one classroom. Therefore in order to teach both grades effectively, they already had to differentiate instruction for their two grade levels. As a result, they see this as an effective classroom strategy when teaching multiple grades in one class; it might also then be an effective classroom strategy for teaching students with a LD who may be at a different learning level in some subjects being taught in the class. Overall, the ANOVA tests indicated that there was no significant relationship between teaching position and level of knowledge of effective classroom teaching strategies for students with LD.

Table 18

Analysis of Variance Test for the Teaching Position and Teachers' Knowledge of Effective Teaching Strategies for Students with LD

Effective Teaching Stra	tegies joi stud	Sum of				
		squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
37. You need to have an	Between	15.772	8	1.972	1.182	.315
Individual Education Plan	groups				1.102	.515
before providing	Within groups	223.584	134	1.669		
modifications and	Total					
accommodations to		239.357	142			
students with a learning						
disability. 38. The students need to be	Between					
formally identified with a		12.738	8	1.592	1.430	.189
learning disability before	groups Within groups	149.150	134	1.113		
you can provide them with	Total	149.130	134	1.113		
modifications and	Total	161.888	142			
accommodations.		101.000	172			
39. Differentiated	Between					
instruction is an effective	groups	8.333	8	1.042	2.194	.032*
classroom strategy to use	Within groups	63.139	133	.475		
for students with a learning	Total			,0		
disability.	10141	71.472	141			
40. Direct instruction is an	Between		_			
effective classroom	groups	6.736	8	.842	.605	.773
strategy to use for students	Within groups	186.648	134	1.393		
with a learning disability.	Total	193.385	142			
41. Providing more work is	Between		0	225	766	(22
an effective classroom	groups	2.600	8	.325	.766	.633
strategy to use for students	Within groups	56.855	134	.424		
with a learning disability.	Total	59.455	142			
42. Breaking lessons down	Between	1 750	8	.220	.967	.464
into smaller parts is an	groups	1.758	0	.220	.907	.404
effective classroom	Within groups	30.451	134	.227		
strategy to use for students	Total	32.210	142			
with a learning disability.		32.210	142			
43. Giving a student a	Between	11.228	8	1.404	1.646	.118
computer is an effective	groups	11.226	o		1.040	.110
classroom strategy to use	Within groups	113.427	133	.853		
for students with a learning	Total	124.655	141			
disability.		124.033	171			
44. Instructing students to	Between	3.883	8	.485	.607	.770
work by themselves is an	groups				.007	.,, 0
effective classroom	Within groups	107.055	134	.799		
strategy to use for students	Total	110.937	142			
with a learning disability.						
45. An effective classroom	Between	2.991	8	.374	.232	.984
strategy for students with a	groups		124			
learning disability is to	Within groups	216.310	134	1.614		
present information orally	Total	219.301	142			
and not in writing.	Datwaan					
46. Using graphic	Between	1.907	8	.238	.474	.873
organizers is an effective	groups					

		Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
classroom strategy to use	Within groups	66.881	133	.503		
for students with a learning disability.	Total	68.789	141			
47. Medication should be used to reduce the severity	Between groups	4.299	8	.537	.570	.801
of a students' learning	Within groups	126.330	134	.943		
disability.	Total	130.629	142			

^{*} p < 0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

Table 19 displays the results of a chi-square analysis that was conducted on the effect of participants having a family member with a LD and participants' knowledge about effective teaching strategies for students with a LD. There was no significant difference between the two groups (participants with a family member with a LD and participants who did not have a family member with a LD) and their knowledge of effective teaching strategies, except for question 41. Question 41, which asked participants if providing more work is an effective classroom strategy for LD, was significant, $\chi^2(2, n = 143) = 0.047$, p = 0.05. Specifically, participants who did not have a family member with a LD were more likely to be aware that providing more work is not an effective teaching strategy compared to participants who did have a family member with a LD.

It should be noted that for question 42, which asked participants if breaking lessons down into smaller parts was an effective classroom strategy for teaching students with a LD, both groups (participants with a family member with a LD and participants who did not have a family member with a LD) were aware that breaking lessons down into smaller parts was an effective teaching strategy for students with LD. Therefore there is no difference between the two groups' responses. In conclusion, aside from the provision of more work, there was no significant difference between the teachers' level of knowledge of effective teaching strategies and whether or not the primary teachers had a

family member with a LD.

Table 19

Chi-Square Test Close Family Member with a LD and Teachers' Knowledge on Effective Teaching Strategies for Teaching Students with LD

	YFN	$\sqrt{M(n=73)}$		NFN	$\overline{\Lambda (n = 70)}$		
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
37. You need to have an Individual Education Plan before providing modifications and accommodations to	48	24	1	48	22	0	.599
students with a learning 38. The students need to be formally identified with a learning disability before you can provide them with modifications and	57	15	1	61	8	1	.332
accommodations. 39. Differentiated instruction is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	1	72	0	5	64	0	.082
40. Direct instruction is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	16	53	4	15	53	2	.728
41. Providing more work is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	70	3	0	70	0	0	.047
42. Breaking lessons down noto smaller parts is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	0	73	0	0	70	0	a
13. Giving a student a computer is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	9	63	1	10	57	2	.751
14. Instructing students to work by themselves is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	65	6	2	59	7	4	.615
45. An effective classroom strategy for students with a earning disability is to	39	32	2	27	38	5	.108

	YFM $(n = 73)$			NFM $(n = 70)$			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
present information orally and not in writing. 46. Using graphic organizers is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning	2	71	0	2	66	1	.332
disability. 47. Medication should be used to reduce the severity of a students' learning disability.	58	7	8	48	8	14	.226

Note. YMF = Participant has a family member with LD, NFM = Participant does not have a family member with a LD.

Table 20 displays the chi-square results examining the correlation between primary school teachers with a close friend with a LD and their level of knowledge about effective teacher strategies for students with LD with LD. None of the 11 questions asked in this section established a significant chi-square value. Question 42, asking participants if breaking lessons down into smaller parts is an effective classroom strategy, was unable to create a chi-square test value as both portions of the test responded with 100% *strongly agree/agree*, therefore both groups of participants examined were aware that breaking lessons down into smaller sections was an effective teaching strategy for students with LD.

^{*} p < 0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

a. No statistics are computed because 42, breaking lessons down into smaller parts is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability, is a constant

Table 20
Chi-Square Test Close Friend with a LD and Teachers' Knowledge on Effective Teaching Strategies for Teaching Students with a LD

	YCF(n = 84)			NC:	F(n = 59)		
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
37. You need to have an Individual Education Plan	60	24	0	36	22	1	.246
before providing modifications and accommodations to students with a learning							
38. The students need to be formally identified with a learning disability before you can provide them with modifications and accommodations.	72	12	0	38	11	2	.173
39. Differentiated instruction is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	4	80	0	2	56	0	.702
40. Direct instruction is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	19	61	4	12	45	2	.860
41. Providing more work is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	81	3	0	59	0	0	.089
42. Breaking lessons down into smaller parts is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	0	84	0	0	59	0	a
43. Giving a student a computer is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	12	70	2	7	50	1	.892
44. Instructing students to work by themselves is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	74	7	3	50	6	3	.834
45. An effective classroom strategy for students with a learning disability is to present information orally and not in writing.	40	41	3	26	29	4	.634

	YCF(n = 84)			NCF $(n = 59)$			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
46. Using graphic organizers is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	4	79	1	0	58	0	.235
47. Medication should be used to reduce the severity of a students' learning disability.	65	8	11	41	7	11	.442

Note. YCF = Participant has a close friend with LD, NCF = Participant does not have a close friend with a LD

a. No statistics are computed because 42, breaking lessons down into smaller parts is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability, is a constant.

As indicated in Table 21, no significant correlation was found between teachers' workshop attendance and their knowledge of effective classroom teaching strategies for students with LD. Workshops are a common method for professional development to be provided to teachers. Yet, it seems that these workshops on LD have not provided them with a significant amount of more information. A recommendation for future research would be that the nature of workshops on LD should be investigated to find more suitable content or strategies so that teachers gain the needed knowledge from them.

Table 21

Chi-Square Test Participants Attended LD Workshop and Teachers' Knowledge of Effective Teaching Strategies for Students with LD

	AW(n = 79)			NW			
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X ² (1)
37. You need to have an Individual Education Plan before providing modifications and accommodations to students with a learning	52	27	0	32	17	1	.450
38. The students need to be formally identified with a learning disability before you can provide them with	66	10	0	39	9	2	.190

	AV	V(n=79)		NW	(n = 50)		
	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	Strongly disagree/ disagree	Strongly agree/ agree	Don't know	X^2 (1)
modifications and	-						
accommodations.							
39. Differentiated	2	77	0	2	47	0	.624
instruction is an effective							
classroom strategy to use							
for students with a learning							
disability.	10		2	0	4.0	2	5.40
40. Direct instruction is an	19	57	3	8	40	2	.548
effective classroom strategy							
to use for students with a							
learning disability.	78	1	0	48	2	0	.315
41. Providing more work is an effective classroom	78	1	U	48	2	U	.313
strategy to use for students							
with a learning disability.							
42. Breaking lessons down	0	79	0	0	50	0	a
into smaller parts is an	O	1)	U	U	30	U	а
effective classroom strategy							
to use for students with a							
learning disability.							
43. Giving a student a	11	64	3	4	46	0	.198
computer is an effective							
classroom strategy to use							
for students with a learning							
disability.							
44. Instructing students to	68	8	3	44	3	3	.624
work by themselves is an							
effective classroom strategy							
to use for students with a							
learning disability.							
45. An effective classroom	39	34	6	20	29	1	.153
strategy for students with a							
learning disability is to							
present information orally							
and not in writing. 46. Using graphic	1	77	1	2	47	0	.441
organizers is an effective	1	//	1	2	4/	U	.441
classroom strategy to use							
for students with a learning							
disability.							
47. Medication should be	60	9	10	38	4	8	.851
used to reduce the severity	20		- 0	- 0	•	~	
of a students' learning							
disability.							

Note. AW = Participant had attended at least one workshop on LD, NW = Participant has not attended a workshop on LD.

a. No statistics are computed because 42, breaking lessons down into smaller parts is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability, is a constant.

Of all the types of knowledge examined by the survey, the majority of participants were most knowledgeable about effective classroom strategies, with 85% of the participants answering 6 of the 11 questions. As a result, primary teachers appear to have a more than adequate level of knowledge about teaching strategies. However, it is important for teachers to stay current on this information as new, more effective strategies are always being introduced into the education setting. Additionally, the ANOVA and chi-square analysis also determined that there was no significant evidence that determined that one of the factors examined (years of teaching experience, teaching position, family member with LD, close friend with LD, and attending a workshop in LD) affected a primary teachers' knowledge on effective teaching strategies for students with LD.

Confidence Teaching Students With Learning Disabilities

One of the final sections in the survey examined teachers' confidence and comfort in their ability to teach students with LD. This section was important to include in the survey, as teachers' opinions on their ability to teach students with LD would affect their ability to identify and accommodate these students in the classroom. Table 22 depicts the mean, median, and mode of the results from the section of the survey that asked teachers about their comfort in teaching students with LD (See Table 22.1 in Appendix D for the frequency of participants' responses to the questions in this section). Questions 48 to 54 examined how comfortable teachers were with teaching a student with a LD. Of the participants, 76.2% felt they understood LD, and 63% of participants felt they were informed enough to teach students with a LD. Furthermore, 68.5% of participants felt they were prepared enough, meaning participants felt they had enough knowledge and

resources to teach students with LD; 83.2% of participants felt comfortable enough to teach students with a LD. While the participants indicated that they had the knowledge and comfort levels to teach students with LD effectively, both the mode and median of responses in questions 51 demonstrated that teachers feel as though they do not have adequate resources to teach students with LD. This can also be noted in Table 22.1, where 57.4% of participants did not believe they had adequate resources to teach students with a LD and therefore believed they needed more information on LD to help teach these students. Twenty-two participants contributed additional comments to this section of the survey. Many participants noted that there is always more to learn, especially in the field of special education. Furthermore, one participant commented that early on in her career she did not feel comfortable teaching special education or students with LD; however because of participating in an AQ course and many professional development programs her board has offered, she feels more prepared now than before, although, she did note, like so many other participants, that there is constantly new information to learn about LD.

Table 22
Statistical Analysis of Participant Response Teaching Students With LD

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
48. I understand learning disabilities enough to	3.75	4.00	4
teach students with this identification.	Agree	Agree	Agree
49. I feel well informed about teaching students	3.42	4.00	4
with a learning disability.	Don't Know	Agree	Agree
50. I feel prepared to teach students with learning	3.55	4.00	4
disabilities.	Agree	Agree	Agree
51. I have adequate resources to teach students	2.86	2.00	2
with learning disabilities.	Don't know	Disagree	Disagree
52. I feel comfortable teaching students	3.86	4.00	4
identified with a learning disability.	Agree	Agree	Agree
53. I need more information on learning	3.93	4.00	4
disabilities to help teach identified students.	Agree	Agree	Agree
54. I am aware of accommodations and	4.30	4.00	4
modifications to assist students with learning disabilities.	Agree	Agree	Agree

Table 23 displays the results of an ANOVA test conducted on teachers' years of experience and their opinions on teaching students with a LD. The findings indicate that there were no significant relationships between years of teaching experience and their feelings towards teaching students with a LD.

Table 23

Analysis of Variance for Teachers' Years of Experience and Their Opinions on Teaching Students with a LD.

		Sum of				
		squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
48. I understand learning	Between groups	4.599	5	.920	.852	.515
disabilities enough to	Within groups	139.282	129	1.080		
teach students with this identification.	Total	143.881	134			
49. I feel well informed	Between groups	8.881	5	1.776	1.284	.275
about teaching students	Within groups	178.452	129	1.383		
with a learning disability.	Total	187.333	134			
50. I feel prepared to teach	Between groups	7.985	5	1.597	1.420	.221
students with learning	Within groups	145.096	129	1.125		
disabilities.	Total	153.081	134			
51. I have adequate	Between groups	15.498	5	3.100	2.118	.067
resources to teach students	Within groups	188.828	129	1.464		
with learning disabilities.	Total	204.326	134			
52. I feel comfortable	Between groups	4.830	5	.966	1.112	.357
teaching students	Within groups	112.029	129	.868		
identified with a learning disability.	Total	116.859	134			
53. I need more	Between groups	1.758	5	.352	.399	.849
information on learning	Within groups	113.575	129	.880		
disabilities to help teach identified students.	Total	115.333	134			
54. I am aware of	Between groups	1.279	5	.256	.925	.467
accommodations and	Within groups	35.654	129	.276		
modifications to assist	Total					
students with learning disabilities.		36.933	134			

Tables 24 showcases the results of an ANOVA test conducted examining whether teaching position influenced the participants' opinions about teaching students with a LD. There were no significant relationships between the different groups of teachers and their confidence to teach students with LD in their classrooms.

Table 24

Analysis of Variance Test for the Teaching Position and Teachers' Opinions Towards Teaching Students with LD

		Sum of				
		squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
48. I understand learning disabilities enough to teach	Between groups	14.105	8	1.763	1.678	.109
students with this	Within groups	140.832	134	1.051		
identification.	Total	154.937	142			
49. I feel well informed about teaching students with	Between groups	14.451	8	1.806	1.327	.235
a learning disability.	Within groups	182.374	134	1.361		
Ç	Total	196.825	142			
50. I feel prepared to teach students with learning	Between groups	8.284	8	1.035	.883	.533
disabilities.	Within groups	157.171	134	1.173		
	Total	165.455	142			
51. I have adequate resources to teach students	Between groups	12.762	8	1.595	1.056	.398
with learning disabilities.	Within groups	202.440	134	1.511		
Č	Total	215.203	142			
52. I feel comfortable teaching students identified	Between groups	7.536	8	.942	1.073	.386
with a learning disability.	Within groups	117.667	134	.878		
-	Total	125.203	142			
53. I need more information on learning disabilities to	Between groups	6.521	8	.815	.952	.477
help teach identified	Within groups	114.779	134	.857		
students.	Total	121.301	142			
54. I am aware of accommodations and	Between groups	3.973	8	.497	1.660	.114
modifications to assist	Within groups	40.097	134	.299		
students with learning disabilities.	Total	44.070	142			

Table 25 displays the results of the chi-square test that was conducted on participants if teachers had a family member with a LD and their confidence of teaching students with a LD. As can be noted in Table 25, there was no relationship between primary teachers who do or do not have a family member with a LD and their confidence in teaching students with LD.

Table 25

Chi-Square Test Close Family Member With a LD and Teachers' Opinions on Teaching Students With a LD

	YFM	1 (n = 73)		NFM $(n = 70)$			
	Strongly disagree/disa	Strongly agree/agr	Don't know	Strongly disagree/disa	Strongly agree/agr	Do n't	$X^2(1)$
	gree	ee		gree	ee	kno w	
48. I understand learning disabilities enough to teach students with this identification.	12	59	2	18	50	2	.390
49. I feel well informed about teaching students with a learning disability.	24	47	2	27	43	0	.282
50. I feel prepared to teach students with learning disabilities.	17	53	3	24	45	1	.248
51. I have adequate resources to teach students with learning disabilities.	42	30	1	40	28	2	.824
52. I feel comfortable teaching students identified with a learning disability.	10	53	0	12	56	2	.319
53. I need more information on learning disabilities to help teach identified students.	10	63	0	9	61	0	.703
54. I am aware of accommodations and modifications to assist students with learning disabilities.	0	73	0	2	67	1	.202

Note. YFM = Participant has a family member with LD, NFM = Participant does not have a family member with a LD.

As depicted in Table 26, no significant difference was found between participants who had a close friend with a LD and their comfort in teaching students with a LD.

Table 26

Chi-Square Test Close Friend With a LD and Teachers' Opinions on Teaching Students with LD

	YCF $(n = 84)$			NCF $(n = 59)$			
	Strongly	Strongly	Don't	Strongly	Strongly	Don't	X^2
	disagree/	agree/	know	disagree/	agree/	know	(1)
	disagree	agree		disagree	agree		
48. I understand learning	16	65	3	14	44	1	.659
disabilities enough to teach							
students with this							
identification.							
49. I feel well informed	27	56	1	24	34	1	.456
about teaching students							
with a learning disability.							
50. I feel prepared to teach	24	57	3	17	41	1	.798
students with learning							
disabilities.							
51. I have adequate	50	33	1	32	25	2	.592
resources to teach students							
with learning disabilities.							
52. I feel comfortable	13	70	1	9	49	1	.947
teaching students identified							
with a learning disability.							
53. I need more	13	71	0	6	53	0	.270
information on learning							
disabilities to help teach							
identified students.							
54. I am aware of	1	82	1	1	58	0	.681
accommodations and							
modifications to assist							
students with learning							
disabilities.							

Note. YCF = Participant has a close friend with LD, NFM = Participant does not have a close friend with a LD

A chi-square test was conducted to determine if teachers' opinions on teaching students with LD were related to whether the teacher had attended a LD workshop or not. As depicted Table 27, question 49, which asked participants if they felt well informed about teaching students with a LD, was significant, $\chi^2(2, n = 129) = 0.003, p = 0.05$. This suggests that teachers who had attended a workshop on LD felt more informed about teaching students with LD than those who had not attended a LD workshop. It is interesting to note that in the results workshops did not necessarily affect teachers'

amount of knowledge about LD, although the results indicated that workshops created more confidence in teachers' ability to teach students with LD.

In addition, question 48, which asked participants if felt they understood LD enough to teach students with a LD, approached significance, p = 0.055. Specifically the teachers who had attended a LD workshop felt more strongly that they were prepared enough to teach students with LD compared to those teachers who had not attended a LD workshop.

Table 27

Chi-Square Test Participants Attended LD Workshop and Teachers' Opinions Towards Teaching Students with LD

	AW	$\sqrt{(n=79)}$		NW			
	Strongly disagree/	Strongly agree/	Don't know	Strongly disagree/	Strongly agree/	Don't	
48. I understand learning	disagree 8	agree 68	3	disagree 13	agree 36	1	.055*
disabilities enough to teach students with this identification.	o	00	3	13	30	1	.033
49. I feel well informed about teaching students with a learning disability.	17	62	0	23	25	2	.003*
50. I feel prepared to teach students with learning disabilities.	15	63	1	16	32	2	.124
51. I have adequate resources to teach students with learning disabilities.	44	34	1	28	20	2	.591
52. I feel comfortable teaching students identified with a learning disability.	5	73	1	10	39	1	.104
53. I need more information on learning disabilities to help teach identified students.	12	67	0	7	43	0	.707
54. I am aware of accommodations and modifications to assist students with learning disabilities.	0	78	1	1	49	0	.330

Note. AW = Participant has attended at least one workshop on LD, NFM = Participant has not attended a workshop on LD.

^{*} p < 0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

In conclusion, generally teachers are confident and comfortable in their ability to teach students with a LD. The ANOVA tests did determine that the factors of years of teaching experience and teaching position did not influence a teacher's comfort level in teaching students with LD. Furthermore, the chi-square tests that examined the factors of primary teachers who have a family member or a close friend with LD also determined that these factors did not influence a teacher's comfort teaching students with LD. However, the chi-square tests did suggest that teachers who attended a workshop on LD not only felt more informed about teaching students with LD, they also felt more prepared to teach students with LD compared to those primary school teachers who had not attended a workshop on LD.

Support for Teaching Students with LD

Table 28 examines the support participants received to help them with teaching students with a LD (See Table 28.1 in Appendix D for the frequency of the responses). More than 55% of participants agreed or strongly agreed that they received support from a school board expert/consultant, vice-principal, or principal. Approximately 80% of participants stated that they received support from a resource teacher or another teacher in their school with teaching students with LD. Almost 60% of participants also receive support from an education assistant. Furthermore the mode and median for all of the questions in this section, except question 60, were *agree*. Question 60 asked participants if they received support for teaching students with LD from sources that were not mentioned in the other questions. Other areas of support identified from participants' comments were: teacher Facebook groups, parents, professional development sessions, books, Master of Education classes, volunteers, child youth worker, personal research,

internet, speech pathologists, occupational therapists, and educational psychologists. However, there were several comments from participants that indicated there was not enough support for teaching students with a LD. Seven of the 35 participants' comments mentioned that either their school board is limiting the number of education assistants or that the support in their school is going to students with behavioral problems, and students with LD were being missed. Furthermore, one planning time teacher mentioned that she has no support and has not seen any of her students' Individual Education Plans (IEP).

Table 28

Statistical Analysis of Participants' Responses for Support Teachers Receive for Teaching Students with a LD

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
55. I receive support from a consultant or other	3.34	4.00	4
school board experts to assist me with teaching	Don't know	Agree	Agree
students with learning disabilities.			
56. I receive support from my principal or vice-	3.13	4.00	4
principal to assist me with teaching students	Don't know	Agree	Agree
with a learning disability.			
57. I receive support from a resource teacher to	3.87	4.00	4
assist me with teaching students with a learning	Agree	Agree	Agree
disability.			
58. I receive support from other teachers at my	3.87	4.00	4
school to assist me with teaching students with a	Agree	Agree	Agree
learning disability.			
59. I receive support from education assistants	3.28	4.00	4
to assist me with teaching students with a	Don't know	Agree	Agree
learning disability.			
60. I receive additional support for teaching	2.71	2.00	2
students with a learning disability from sources	Don't Know	Disagree	Disagree
other than those mentioned above (please			
comment below).			

Table 29 displays the results of an ANOVA test conducted on teachers' years of experience and the support they have received for teaching students with LD. Similar to the other findings they examined teachers' years of experience this ANOVA test also determined that there was no significant relationship between years of teaching

experience and the support teachers receive for teaching students with a LD.

Table 29

Analysis of Variance for Teachers' Years of Experience and the Support They Receive for Teaching Students with LD.

		Sum of		Mean		
		squares	df	square	F	Sig.
55. I receive support from a consultant or other school	Between groups	9.755	5	1.951	1.222	.303
board experts to assist me with teaching students with	Within groups	205.979	129	1.597		
learning disabilities.	Total	215.733	134			
56. I receive support from my principal or vice-principal to	Between groups	9.168	5	1.834	1.115	.356
assist me with teaching students with a learning	Within groups	212.165	129	1.645		
disability.	Total	221.333	134			
57. I receive support from a resource teacher to assist me	Between groups	4.681	5	.936	.772	.571
with teaching students with a learning disability.	Within groups	156.356	129	1.212		
	Total	161.037	134			
58. I receive support from other teachers at my school	Between groups	3.279	5	.656	.676	.642
to assist me with teaching students with a learning	Within groups	125.047	129	.969		
disability.	Total	128.326	134			
59. I receive support from education assistants to assist	Between groups	6.351	5	1.270	.642	.668
me with teaching students with a learning disability.	Within groups	255.383	129	1.980		
	Total	261.733	134			
60. I receive additional support for teaching students	Between groups	2.324	5	.465	.295	.915
with a learning disability from sources other than those	Within groups	199.931	127	1.574		
mentioned above (please comment below)	Total	202.256	132			

Table 30 examines the results of an ANOVA test conducted to determine if teaching position influenced the level of support teachers received. When looking at the ANOVA results, it can be seen that out of the six questions, three indicated there was no significant difference between the different groups' responses. A significant difference was found between teaching position and the support received from other teachers, p

<0.01. Specifically the grade 1, grade 2, and grade 3 teacher groups commented that they received less support from other teachers for teaching students with LD. It is possible that, for the other categories of teachers because of their teaching positions; they might be required to receive more support from one another. For example, split grade teachers are more likely to talk and seek advice and ideas from other teachers and planning time/prep teachers move among different classroom and therefore are more likely to talk to other teachers, especially the home room class teacher, on a regular basis about issues they are having or have noticed in the class. Furthermore special education and resource teachers would most likely talk to different homeroom teachers on a regular basis to see how the students with LD are doing. As a result, teachers who are teaching a single grade may not get as many opportunities to talk to other teachers about students in their class, as maybe they feel it is their responsibility to discover how best to help the students. Additionally, question 59, which asked participants if they received support from educational assistants to teach students with LD was also significant, p < 0.044. This finding may be attributed to the fact that the grade 1 and grade 2 teachers stated that they did not receive support from an education assistant to teach students with LD, while planning time/prep teachers and substitute/supply teachers stated that they did receive support from educational assistants to teach students with LD.

Table 30

Analysis of Variance Test for the Teaching Position and Support Teachers Received for Teaching Students with LD

	Sum of		Mean		
	squares	df	square	F	Sig.
55. I receive support from Between groups	14.154	8	1.769	1.118	.355
a consultant or other school Within groups board experts to assist me Total	212.055	134	1.583		
with teaching students with learning disabilities.	226.210	142			

		Sum of		Mean		
		squares	df	square	F	Sig.
56. I receive support from	Between groups	20.354	8	2.544	1.613	.127
my principal or vice-	Within groups	211.380	134	1.577		
principal to assist me with	Total					
teaching students with a		231.734	142			
learning disability.						
57. I receive support from	Between groups	5.976	8	.747	.627	.754
a resource teacher to assist	Within groups	159.758	134	1.192		
me with teaching students	Total	165.734	142			
with a learning disability.		103.734	142			
58. I receive support from	Between groups	17.709	8	2.214	2.630	.010
other teachers at my school	Within groups	112.767	134	.842		
to assist me with teaching	Total					
students with a learning		130.476	142			
disability.						
59. I receive support from	Between groups	30.150	8	3.769	2.064	.044*
education assistants to	Within groups	244.661	134	1.826		
assist me with teaching	Total					
students with a learning		274.811	142			
disability.						
60. I receive additional	Between groups	38.460	8	4.807	3.719	.001**
support for teaching	Within groups	170.618	132	1.293		
students with a learning	Total					
disability from sources						
other than those mentioned		209.078	140			
above (please comment						
below).						

^{*} p < 0.05 indicating that a significant relationship is present.

Question 60, which asked participants if they had received support for teaching students with LD from any other person/area that was not previously stated in the other five questions in this section was also significant, p < 0.001. Teachers teaching split class, planning time/prep teachers, substitute/supply teachers, and special education/resource teachers all stated that they had received additional support from areas that were not stated in the other five questions. The results suggest that teaching position influences the type of additional support received for teaching students with LD.

To examine the frequency of support received by the teachers, their responses were coded as follows; 1 = Daily, 2 = Weekly, 3 = Monthly, 4 = Once a Term (3 months), 5 = Once a Year and 6 = Never. The findings indicate that both the mode and median of the responses were 2 or weekly (See Table 31.2 in Appendix D). Specifically,

^{**} p < 0.01 indicating that a very strong significant relationship is present.

57.2% of participants reported receiving support on a weekly or daily basis to help teach students with a LD. Of the participants 38.6% indicated that they receive support weekly, 18.6% of participants receive support daily, and 15% receive support monthly. This indicates that approximately 72% of teachers were receiving assistance on a frequent basis. In contrast the data presented in Table 31.1 also indicates that 27.9%, one in four teachers, received support to teach students with LD only once a term, once a year, or never. That is, 3.6% of participants reported receiving support only once a year or term and 15.7% of participants reported never receiving support to assist teaching students with LD. Overall this suggests that while the majority of teachers are receiving regular support, a quarter of primary school teachers are not receiving support on a regular basis.

An ANOVA test was conducted on teachers' years of experience and how often they receive support for teaching students with a LD. The results of the ANOVA test were; F(5,126) = 1.90, p = 0.1. As a result, this ANOVA test determined that there was no significant difference between teachers' years of experience and support they receive to teach students with LD.

In conclusion, the majority of teachers receive their support for teaching students with LD from resource teachers and educational assistants, with a majority of the participants receiving support on a daily or weekly basis. However, interestingly, the findings also indicated that one fourth of teachers do not receive support for teaching students with LD on a regular basis. Furthermore, the ANOVA tests that were conducted also determined that teachers who teach split grades, planning time/prep teachers, or special education/resource teachers receive more support than single grade primary

teachers. However, it is important to note that a significant number of teachers did state that they feel they could use more support to teach students with LD.

What to Do if a Student has a Learning Disability

Table 32 displays participants' answers to a written response question that asked participants what steps they would take if they believed a student in their class had a LD. Each participant could have stated more than one category, as participants discussed the steps they would take if they believed a student in their class had a LD. Therefore, the count in Table 32 is the number of participants who stated they would do the specific action, while the percentage looks at how many of the 114 participants that answered the question stated they would do that action. Participants could have included multiple actions in their plan, and this is why the count does not add up to 114.

Table 32

Frequency Distribution of Participants' Responses to What They Would Do if They Suspect a Student in their Class had a LD

Variables	Percentages	Count
Accommodate or modify learning for student	7.9	9
Anecdotal records	33.3	38
Discuss with resource teacher	64.0	73
Do further investigating on the student	0.9	1
Fill out referral and send to resource teacher	0.9	1
Form a Plan of Action (growth plan) and prepare IEP	14.9	17
In school assessment	14.0	16
Meet with a school team	22.8	26
Meet/consult with parents	40.4	46
Provide differentiated instruction	1.8	2
Refer for psychoeducational assessment	12.3	14

Variables	Percentages	Count
Talk to previous teachers	13.2	15
Talk to principal/administration	19.3	22

The majority of participants (64.0%) stated that they would discuss the student's academics and next steps that should be taken with a resource teacher. In addition, 40.4% of participants discussed the importance of including the parents and communicating with the parents throughout the whole process of determining if their child had a LD. Furthermore, 33.3% of the participants talked about the importance of keeping anecdotal records, so that during the process there was a record of the student's struggles, growth, and documentations of characteristics the student portrayed in the classroom that made the teacher suspect the student had a LD. The importance of making these anecdotal records to bring to meetings with parents, administration, resource teachers, and psychologist to provide evidence as to why they believed a child might have a LD was another common action stated by participants.

Overview

One hundred and forty-three primary teachers from Ontario, Canada responded to the survey that was administered for this research. When assessing the findings on primary teachers' knowledge of typical characteristics of LD, the primary teachers in this study did have a well-established knowledge of these characteristics and were very confident in their understanding of LD classification. Additionally, the primary school teachers had a general understanding and knowledge on potential risk factors that may cause a student to develop a LD. However, their confidence in their knowledge on LD risk factors was not strong. Furthermore, primary school teachers are very knowledgeable

in knowing effective classroom strategies that would benefit students with a LD. This is the section in which primary school teachers were most knowledgeable.

The majority of primary school teachers reported that they were confident in their ability to teach students with LD and were comfortable teaching students with LD in their classrooms. Furthermore, a majority of teachers receive support to teach students with LD from resource teachers and educational assistants on a daily or weekly basis.

However, one fourth of teachers received support only once a term, once a year, or never.

During the analysis, there were a number of cross-tab analyses that were conducted. The purpose of these cross-tab analyses was to determine if there were factors that influenced primary teachers' knowledge of LD. During the cross-tab analysis to determine if years of teaching experience contributed to teachers' knowledge of LD, there was no significant relationship determined in any of the tests. As a result, it can be determined that no relationship is present between teachers' years of experience and their level of knowledge about LD. It should be remembered, however, that most teachers in the sample had less than 10 years of experience. An analysis was conducted to determine if teaching position affected teachers' knowledge of LD. In this analysis there was limited significant difference between teaching position and primary school teachers' level of knowledge about LD. However, there was some support in different areas that did determine that some groups of teachers (teacher teaching split grades and special education teachers) have a better understanding of certain aspects of LD. It can be noted in this section that different groups (planning time teachers, split grade teachers, and special education teachers) of teachers do receive additional support from different areas.

Additional analysis was done to examine if primary teachers who have a family member with LD or if primary teachers who have a close friend with LD influenced their knowledge on LD. It was apparent in the analysis that primary teachers' level of knowledge on LD was not dependent on whether they had a family member with a LD. Primary teachers who have close friends with LD had significantly different knowledge of the relationship between head injuries, child abuse, and genetic factors and LD. However, no other difference between primary teachers' friendship with an individual who has a LD and their level of knowledge LD was found. Therefore there was not significant evidence to support that a primary school teacher having a close friend with LD affects their knowledge of LD.

Last, an analysis was conducted to determine if attending a workshop on LD affected a teacher's knowledge of LD. Overall, there was no significant evidence that teachers' level of knowledge on LD is related to whether they had attended a workshop on LD. However, there were a few instances where some important correlations were supported, such as, teachers who have attended a LD workshop felt that they understand LD and informed enough to teach students with a LD compared to those teachers who had not attended a workshop. Additionally, when examining characteristics of LD, teachers who had attended a workshop on LD did show traits of better understanding of typical LD characteristics, although, overall there is not sufficient evidence to state that primary teachers' level of knowledge on LD was dependent on whether they had attended a workshop on LD.

Chapter Five: Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine primary teachers' knowledge of LD. It is important to examine primary teachers' knowledge of LD because primary teachers are among the first educators who come in contact with students; therefore, they would be among the first to screen or detect possible signs of a student having a LD and initiate some form of intervention. As a result, this study was conducted to determine if primary teachers' level of knowledge of LD is sufficient for assisting students with LD early in their education careers. Specifically, this study examined the following research questions:

- 1. What level of knowledge do primary teachers' have about LD?
- 2. Where do teachers get their knowledge about LD?
- 3. Do primary teachers believe they fully understand LD?
- 4. How frequently do primary teachers receive additional support for students with LD at school?
- 5. Are teachers comfortable teaching students with LD? Do they feel prepared enough to teach?

To answer these research questions, a survey was administered to Ontario primary school teachers through teacher Facebook pages. The 143 surveys were analyzed using frequency of responses, ANOVA, and chi-square tests. This section disseminates the findings as they pertain to each of the five research questions.

1. What level of knowledge do primary teachers' have about LD?

The findings of this study suggest that primary teachers' level of knowledge of LD changes depending on the specific area of LD that is being examined. When examining

primary school teachers' knowledge on the different classifications of LD, the participants were very confident and knowledgeable in the classifications of reading, writing, mathematics, and oral communication, with the majority of participants identifying the classifications. However, for one question there is a debate over the correct response (i.e., LD can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills). Many participants stated that it was a classification of LD; nonetheless, it was determined that there was no correct or incorrect response to this question. This is a result of there being disagreements in some of the literature over whether social skills issues are found in students with LD. There is convincing evidence that social skill problems are fairly common in students with LD as symptoms of their communication issues.

The findings of the current study also suggest that teachers have some knowledge of the risk factors that could result in the development of a LD; however, the teachers' level of knowledge and their confidence in their knowledge were low. For example, it was apparent in the results that only some of the teachers (48.6%) realized that infection in the central nervous system could increase the risk of a person having a LD. Thus, as previously discussed in the literature review, primary teachers may require further training to understand the concept of brain injury or neurological risk possibly affecting the development of the brain and the connection to LD. Consequently, primary teachers need more knowledge about possible risk factors of LD to ensure they can help detect students with LD early in their education careers. By knowing what the LD risk factors are, teachers can then keep a close eye on students to determine if they have LD. Early identification is key to ensure intervention occurs in order to help put the steps in place for students with LD to be successful in their education (Kirby, et al., 2005).

The findings of the current study contradict past research. For example, the current findings suggest that teachers' knowledge of the characteristics of LD is quite strong. In contrast, Wright (2008), who examined teachers' level of knowledge about nonverbal LD, found that a huge majority (95%) of teachers did not know the indicators/characteristics of someone with a nonverbal LD. The discrepancy between these two findings may be attributed to a number of factors. First, Wright examined teachers' knowledge of one specific classification of LD, nonverbal LD; meanwhile, the current research examined teachers' knowledge of all classifications of LD. Therefore teachers may be more likely to understand broader terms of LD than the specific classification of the diagnosis. A second factor that could result in the discrepancy between the two findings is that the current research included primary teachers who taught kindergarten to grade 3, while Wright examined teachers who had taught kindergarten to grade 8. Thus, the demographic of the teaching positions between the two studies were different. Additionally, a third factor explaining the difference could be because Wright's study was conducted eight years prior to this study. These factors may explain why the current study suggests that primary school teachers are well informed about the different characteristics of LD, compared to Wright's findings suggesting that teachers are not informed about nonverbal LD. Therefore, as teachers teach higher grades, their knowledge about LD may decrease. Primary school teachers may be more aware of the characteristics of LD because they are the first educators to come into contact with these students, compared to the demographic the Wright examined in which students might be identified with LD before reaching junior and intermediate grade. However, there are currently no studies to support these assumptions, as no studies have

examined teachers' level of knowledge of LD based on the grade they taught. Therefore, teachers who teach higher-grade levels might be less informed about the potential risk factors a student with a LD would portray.

Not only do the findings from the current study suggest that teachers are knowledge

about LD, but they also suggest that the areas in which the teachers were most knowledgeable were accommodations and effective teaching strategies. Accommodations and effective teaching strategies are an important component of teachers' knowledge because they are the first measures teachers can put into action to help assist a student who they believe might have LD. It makes sense that this is the area in which teachers had the most knowledge because these are the strategies teachers use on a daily basis. However, Brook et al.'s (2000) research contradicted these findings. Brook et al.'s findings suggest that teachers' knowledge of LD is limited, which affects the teachers' ability to identify LD and provide students with appropriate accommodations. The inconsistency between these two studies' results may be attributed to the demographics of the teachers that were examined. Brook et al.'s study population was selected from teachers in Israel, while this study's sample population was selected from Ontario, Canada. There may be cultural differences or differences in teacher preparation between these two demographic regions that could have caused the difference between the suggested findings.

Additionally, Aladwani and Al Shaye's (2012) research findings also contradicted the current research findings. Aladwani and Al Shaye determined that teachers' knowledge about LD was insufficient and that they were unable to detect early signs that a primary student may have LD. Therefore, Aladwani and Al Shaye suggested that

primary teachers' knowledge of the characteristics and potential risk factors of LD are very limited. The findings from the current research suggest that the area in which primary teachers know the least is the potential risk factors that can cause a student to have a LD. Furthermore, the findings indicate that teachers have a great source of knowledge about the characteristics a student with a LD may portray. The disagreement between these two findings may once again be a result of the two different demographics that were examined. Aladwani and Al Shaye (2012) examined teachers in Kuwait, compared to this study that examined Ontario, Canadian teachers. There may be cultural differences or differences in teacher preparation between these two demographic regions that can be the cause of the vastly different results.

In relation to the theoretical framework of the current study, the findings suggest that primary school teachers are following the roles for educators that Dewey stated in his philosophies. Specifically, Dewey states that teachers are supposed to help guide students' learning (Noddings, 2012). In order for teachers to fulfill Dewey's philosophy to support and guide their students, teachers must have a base of knowledge about students' educational needs so that they can assist students according to their needs. The current research findings indicate that teachers have obtained enough knowledge of LD to help guide and support students with LD through their education. As a result, teachers might then be able to help students with LD to have the same academic opportunities as their peers. The findings also support Wolfensberger's Theory of Normalization (Wolfensberger & Tullman, 1982). Wolfensberger's Theory of Normalization states that every member of society has a right to a normal life and that different members of our society play different critical roles to ensure that those members of society that have

special needs are able to achieve a normal life. Since the primary teachers in the current study have a sufficient amount of knowledge on LD, they will be able to support students with LD to be successful academically and effectively function in society.

Overall the findings suggest that primary teachers have a high level of knowledge and understanding about effective teaching strategies that assist students with LD in their education. Teachers, however, have a weaker level of knowledge when it comes to risk factors that cause LD and typical characteristics of a student with LD. Therefore, teachers' level of knowledge is adequate for making adaptions to assist these students in the classroom. An area of improvement is the knowledge needed to help identify the students with a LD. The participants in this study did understand that there were different classifications of LD; however their knowledge and confidence in the characteristics that students with LD may portray was not as strong. This shows that primary teachers know how to accommodate students with a LD, but when it comes to identifying these students, their level of knowledge is weaker. This is the area that needs improvement, as it is important to identify students early so that a plan can be established and put in practice to help the students with LD succeed academically.

2. Where do teachers get their knowledge about LD?

Seventy-six percent of the participants believed they understood LD well enough to effectively teach students with LD, in their classrooms. In order for teachers to feel they can effectively teach students with LD they first need to obtain some knowledge about LD. The majority of participants in this study had obtained some knowledge of LD from completing some form of an additional professional development course or workshops in which they enrolled after graduating with their Bachelor of Education. A majority of

participants (88.2%) also stated that they obtained their knowledge of LD through an additional qualifications course in special education. Specifically the participants noted they had taken Special Education Part I as a requirement by their school board in order to gain employment. A minority of participants stated that they had increased their knowledge of LD from completing their Master of Education and through their own personal research (internet, books, etc.). Dewey's philosophy believes that teachers' involvement in students' education is one of the more important components in ensuring students have academic success (Noddings, 2012). As a result, teachers are responsible for keeping their knowledge current and up-to-date on educational information; this will ensure that they provide the most relevant support and education to their students. The findings from the research suggest that the majority of teachers are continuously learning and developing their knowledge of LD in multiple formats, such as taking courses or doing personal research.

Furthermore, the findings indicated that some teachers obtain their knowledge about LD from being in close contact with individuals who have been identified with a LD. Of the participants, 58.7% indicated that they had a close friend, sibling of a friend or roommate who had a LD while 51% of participants stated that they have a family member with a LD. There was a large number of participants who completed the survey and were closely connected to a person with LD. This could be because they might have been more motivated to complete the survey than those teachers who were not personally connected to someone with LD. It is interesting to note that the findings also suggest that the teachers' level of knowledge on LD was not related to having a close friend or family member with a LD. This finding corresponds to Saravanabhavan and Saravanabhavan's

(2010) research that indicated that familiarity with a person with a LD did not affect a teachers' level of knowledge of LD. Therefore, the findings of the current study further support that teacher's knowledge of LD may not be strengthened simply because of their relationship with individuals identified with LD.

The current research findings also suggest that teachers who had attended workshops on LD did know more about possible risk factors that can cause a student to have LD; however, their knowledge in other areas of LD (i.e., classification of LD, characteristics of LD, and effective classroom strategies for LD) was not affected. Some aspects of these findings are similar to Saravanabhavan and Saravanabhavan's (2010) and Wright (2008) findings, while some components are different. Saravanabhavan and Sarayanabhayan's findings suggested that teachers who attend additional training (i.e., workshops) have a significantly higher level of basic knowledge of LD compared to teachers who do not attend a workshop on LD. Furthermore, Saravanabhavan and Saravanabhavan noted that poor training negatively influenced teachers' knowledge of LD and did not equip teachers with the necessary knowledge they need to teach students with LD. Consequently, if teachers did not get the training they needed, teachers would become overwhelmed, and this could result in the development of negative attitudes towards teaching students with LD. Therefore, Saravanabhayan and Saravanabhayan suggested that appropriate training was critical for teachers to not only improve their knowledge but also to positively impact their teaching attitudes towards students with LD.

The current research finding does not suggest that teachers who had attended a workshop on LD were more knowledgeable about basic facts of LD. However, the

current research findings did indicate that participants who attended a workshop on LD may have obtained more knowledge of the LD risk factors. The difference between these two studies (the current research findings and Saravanabhavan and Saravanabhavan's, 2010) may be a result of the different format of questionnaire that was administered and the format in which the analysis of the data took place. The questionnaire that was administered for the current research was separated into different sections based on the content of the knowledge the questions were targeting (i.e., characteristics of LD, potential risk factors of LD, effective classroom strategies, etc.). Therefore, for the analysis of the data that was collected during this study, primary teachers' knowledge was examined in each of the different sections of the survey separately. However, Saravanabhavan and Saravanabhavan's questionnaire was not organized in this format; instead their questions that examined different areas of knowledge were all categorized in one section. As a result, their analysis was also conducted examining the participants' knowledge overall and not broken down into the different categories. This resulted in the suggested findings from this current study determining a specific area in which the factor of attending a workshop increases teachers' knowledge of LD instead of an overall knowledge assessment.

As mentioned previously, the findings for the current study suggest that teachers who have attended a workshop on LD generally have developed more knowledge on risk factors that may cause an individual to have a LD. Wright's (2008) findings indicated that teachers' knowledge about LD was improved when they were given an information sheet about the disability. Both studies suggest that when teachers are given a resource, such as an information sheet or attending a workshop, their knowledge about LD

increases. As a result, professional development resources such as a workshop or information sheet may increase a teacher's understanding about LD and how to best assist students with LD with their academics.

As mentioned in the discussion pertaining to Question 1, the current research findings suggest that teachers have a well-established knowledge about LD. However, Abercrombie (2009) suggests that teachers need more training in special education so that they can fully understand how to support students with LD. Abercrombie also suggests that teachers' background and the institution they attended for school did not influence their level of LD knowledge. As discussed previously, Saravanabhavan and Saravanabhavan's (2010) findings suggested that teachers who attended workshop/training have a higher level of knowledge on LD than those who do not. The findings from this study suggested that this is not true in all categories of knowledge of LD; however it is true in regard to teachers' knowledge of potential LD risk factors. Through this study, the section in which primary teachers' knowledge of LD could improve the most is in the potential LD risk factors that may cause an individual to have a LD. The study determined that there was a difference in responses between those participants who had attended a workshop on LD compared to those participants who had not attended a workshop on LD. This may suggest that teacher training and workshops do influence their knowledge of LD. As a result the nature of the workshops provided to teachers on LD should be examined to see if they could be made more effective.

Desforges's theory (1995) states that experienced teachers are more knowledgeable about LD than new teachers because teachers gain their knowledge from experiences in the education setting. The findings from the current study suggest that the years of

teaching experience did not significantly affect teachers' knowledge of LD, which directly contradicts Desforges's theory. However, this discrepancy could be a result of the population of the participants who participated in this research, where 74% of the participants had been teaching or 10 years of less. This could cause a discrepancy because there were not an equal number of participants in each grouping. For example, there were 59 participants who had taught for 5 years or less, while only two participants had taught for 26 to 30 years. Therefore, when comparing the knowledge level between these two groups, the knowledge for those teachers teaching less than 5 years had 59 responses compared to only two responses from teachers teaching for 26 to 30 years.

In conclusion, the findings suggested that most primary school teachers obtained their knowledge of LD from professional development courses, workshops on LD, additional qualifications special education courses, or through personal reading. Furthermore, it can be noted that workshops on LD help increase teachers' knowledge of LD risk factors. Therefore, it is recommended that school boards continue to provide training to teachers and that the school boards assess their current training programs. It is important for school boards to assess their current training programs to ensure that they are of the highest standards, because the quality of the training affects the teachers' knowledge of LD; which, in turn, affects the teachers' ability to identify students with LD early in their education to provide them with the accommodation they need to succeed academically.

3. Do primary teachers believe they fully understand LD?

A large majority of participants (88%) had received training for teaching students with LD in the classroom through an additional qualifications course; however,

approximately one quarter of the primary teachers indicated that their knowledge of LD was not sufficient and that there was a need to increase their understanding of the disability. Although 76% of participants believed they understood LD well enough to teach students who have a LD, 23.8% of teachers believed they do not fully understand LD or were unsure of their own understanding of LD. This finding suggests that the majority of primary school teachers in this study have confidence in their understanding of LD and therefore believe they have sufficient knowledge of LD in order to teach these students. These findings are similar to Bennett's (2009) research pertaining to the inclusion of students with exceptionalities in the regular classroom. Bennett discovered that in general, teachers have a positive attitude towards the inclusion of students with exceptionalities in a regular classroom, where their positive attitude is a result of teachers believing that they are able to make adjustments to their teaching so that all students can succeed academically. In the present study, primary school teachers did note that they felt they had sufficient knowledge to teach students with a LD. Primary teachers believed that they were able to assist students with a LD through making appropriate accommodations and modifications, similar to Bennett's study, which stated that teachers were able to make adjustment to help all students succeed academically. Furthermore, Bennett did note that teachers are concerned that their limited training, classroom management, lack of support and resources, and collaboration between regular classroom teachers and special education teachers can establish a negative attitude towards inclusive classrooms. Though this current study did not determine that the factors mentioned contributed to negative attitudes, it did determine that teachers did feel as though they could have more support to teach students with a LD.

Greer and Meyen (2009) noted in their research that teachers' understanding of LD is important so that they are able to translate curriculum expectations into content that can be effectively taught to students with LD. Therefore, the more teachers know about LD, the more likely they will be able to teach the curriculum expectations using strategies that will work best for students' with LD learning needs. If teachers understand LD adequately, they will be more able to fulfill Dewey's philosophy that teachers have the role to guide students' learning. Additionally, teachers may also be able to support Wolfensberger's Theory of Normalization because they will be enabling students with LD to obtain an education equivalent to their peers, thereby ensuring that they are contributing members in today's society (Noddings, 2012; Wolfensberger & Tullman, 1982).

As with previous research (i.e., Mayes & Calhoun, 2007), the majority of the participants believed that they understand LD well enough to teach students with LD and have the confidence to improve/adapt their instructional practices to assist students who have LD. This supports Jordan et al.'s (2009) supposition that successful inclusion of students with a disability (e.g., LD) is dependent on teachers' confidence in their comfort level and preparedness to teach students with a LD. Inclusion of students in a regular classroom is important for the academic and social development success of students with LD (Jordan, et al., 2009). As a result, Jordan et al. suggested that teachers who have a positive perspective towards teaching students with LD are more likely to create an effective inclusive learning environment. Therefore, with 88% of participants in the current study feeling comfortable and confident in teaching students with LD in an inclusive classroom, their students should be more likely to experience academic success.

Saravanbhavan and Saravanbhavan (2010) noted in their research that teachers who have limited knowledge of LD might also have a negative attitude towards teaching students with LD. Furthermore, Kirby et al. (2005) noted that teachers might not be able to accommodate students with LD in their classes if their knowledge is limited. However, when teachers feel they understand LD well enough to teach students with LD, they are more willing and able to accommodate these students. Since the majority of the primary school teachers in the current study indicated that they understood and are comfortable teaching students with LD in the classroom, this suggests that they are more likely to have a positive attitude towards teaching students with LD. Furthermore, the findings also indicated that there are still areas for improvement in primary teachers' knowledge and confidence in teaching students with LD, as one quarter of the participants in the study did indicate that they did not feel they knew enough about LD to teach students with LD effectively. This number is high and should not be ignored. Of the 25% who indicated they did not feel they knew enough about LD to teach students with LD; 94% indicated they needed more information about LD, 42% indicated they had attended a workshop on LD, 81% had taken additional course in special education, 30% indicated they had done personal research on LD, while 76% stated they had done additional reading on LD. The findings of this study did not determine the best intervention to assist with teachers' understanding of LD, as none of the factors, such as additional courses, workshops, personal research, teaching experience and so on, was determined to be more effective in improving teaching knowledge of LD. The only factor that was shown to improve teachers' understanding of LD was that workshops helped increase teachers' understanding of potential risk factors that may cause students to have

4. How frequently do elementary school teachers receive additional support for students with LD at school?

The majority of participants, approximately 57%, did receive support for teaching students with LD on a daily or weekly basis. There is a concerning percentage of participants (27.9%) who stated they never or very rarely receive support for teaching students with LD. The majority of support the teachers received was from fellow teachers, resource room teachers, educational assistants, and school administration. Some teachers also received support for teaching students with LD from experts at the school board, interaction through teachers on social media, parents, books, personal research, Internet, speech pathologists, occupational therapists, and educational psychologists. Jordan et al. (2009) noted in their research findings that schools that have the most support available to their students and staff, have a higher achievement rate for those students with special needs who are educated in an inclusive classroom. This suggests that the amount of support teachers receive influences the academic progress of their students.

The majority of participants did agree that they received support from the various areas mentioned above; numerous participants commented that they did not feel they received enough support to assist them with teaching students who have LD. Of the 35 comments provided in this section, seven of the participants stated they felt the support provided was not adequate. Some indicated that their school board had limited educational assistant support in the school or that the support that was once provided to assist teachers with teaching students with LD was being taken away and put towards

students with behavioural difficulties. Moreover, a planning time teacher stated that she had no support and, as of the time in which she participated in the survey, she had yet to see any of her students' Individual Education Plans (IEP), even though she knew that some of her students have been identified with LD. If teachers do not receive adequate support to teach students with LD, this can then affect their attitude towards teaching these students, consequently affecting the educational instruction these students receive from their teachers. Desforges (1995) believed that teachers' attitudes toward students contributed to the teaching instruction the students received. Therefore, if teachers become overwhelmed because they are not receiving adequate support to teach students with LD, it may have a negative outcome towards the quality of instruction the teachers are providing students with LD and also the other students in the classroom. Teachers play an important role in teaching students with LD and assisting them to succeed; however when teachers are overwhelmed and are not provided the adequate support of resources needed, they are not able to provide the students with LD with the education and support they need to succeed (Brook et al., 2000). There are many factors that may cause a teacher to become overwhelmed. These include: insufficient preparation, teachers' amount of responsibility, and limited support teachers receive; these have a negative effect on teachers' knowledge of LD and understanding of how to effectively teach students with LD (Aladwani & Al Shaye, 2012; Greer & Meyen, 2009; Kirby et al., 2005; Saravanbhavan & Saravanbhavan, 2010). Additionally, if teachers are not getting the support they need, it ultimately could reflect on the education they give to their students.

Interestingly, the current findings suggest that the teaching position of a participant

affected the amount of support the participant received throughout the school year. The findings in the study indicated that different grade teachers received different support; grade 1, grade 2, and grade 3 teachers stated they received less support from fellow teachers compared to special education, split grade (teaching two grades in a classroom), and planning time/prep teachers. Furthermore, grade 1 and grade 2 teachers also stated that they did not receive as much support from educational assistants as other teachers did. This could be a result of the other teaching positions requiring more support from their peers. For example, split grade teachers might communicate and get advice from two different grade level teachers who might be teaching the same grades as them.

Overall, while approximately half of the teachers indicated that they received support on a consistent daily/weekly basis, about a quarter of teachers indicated that they did not receive regular support to assist teaching students with LD. This is an important finding because schools that have the most support for teachers of students with special needs have a higher achievement rate compared to schools that receive limited support (Jordan et al., 2009). Furthermore, as both Bennett (2009) and Desforges (1995) suggest, a lack of support may cause teachers to have a negative attitude towards inclusive classrooms and students with a LD, which in turn may affect the type and level of support students with a LD will receive. As a result, the type and level of support teachers receive influences the quality of teaching they are able to provide students with LD in the classroom.

5. Are teachers comfortable teaching students with LD? Do they feel prepared enough to teach?

A general consensus among the primary school teachers who participated in the

study was that they felt comfortable teaching students with LD. Additionally, the majority of participants believed they had an adequate understanding of LD, were well informed about how to teach students with LD, and were prepared to teach these students. Teachers' attitudes, comfort level, and beliefs about their ability to teach students with LD may contribute to their ability to effectively accommodate and identify these students early (Abercrombie, 2009). It is important for teachers to feel prepared and comfortable to teach students with LD so that they can identify and accommodate students early in their education careers to help reduce the psychological factors that may occur if intervention does not occur until later in the students' education (Spitzer & Aronson, 2015). Spitzer and Aronson (2015) stated that the longer it takes a child to get identified with a LD and the longer it takes for intervention to occur, the greater the likelihood that he/she will fall further behind in his/her education, thereby creating an atmosphere for a child to develop many psychological difficulties.

A large majority (86.7%) of primary school teachers in the current study stated that they need more information about LD, particularly in the form of resources, in order to help them identify students who have LD. If teachers do not have adequate access to appropriate resources, they will not be able to sufficiently accommodate students with LD (Kirby et al., 2005). The teachers also stated that if they had greater access to LD resources, it would increase their comfort level and preparedness to teach students with LD. If these teachers do not have their access to LD resources increased, it could result in poor instructional strategies for their students with LD (Aladwani & Al Shaye, 2012; Greer & Meyen, 2009; Kirby et al, 2005; Saravanbhavan & Saravanbhavan, 2010). This decrease in the quality of instructional strategies may be the result of the lack of

confidence the teachers have in their teaching abilities (Jordan et al., 2009). By providing additional support to teachers, schools will be able to increase the academic achievement of their identified students (Jordan et al., 2009).

The primary school teachers in the study do have a well-established knowledge of LD. However, their knowledge does differ slightly between different components of LD. The primary school teachers did have a high level of knowledge about effective teaching strategies to assist students with LD in their academics; however their level of knowledge was not as high in regards to potential risk factors that may cause someone to have a LD and characteristics of LD. Specifically, the primary teachers were good at accommodating students with LD in their classrooms, but were not as knowledgeable at identifying the possible characteristics students with LD may portray. Most teachers obtained their knowledge of LD from professional development courses, LD workshops, additional qualifications courses, or through personal research. Additionally, participants who had attended a workshop on LD did have more knowledge about LD risk factors. However, on a daily basis, one third of the teachers did not feel they received adequate support or resources. Although, this study's findings indicate that teachers felt they need more access to appropriate resources pertaining to LD to become more effective in teaching students with LD, the majority of teachers felt comfortable and prepared to teach students with LD in their classrooms.

Chapter Six: Conclusion

Limitations of Study

There are limitations with almost every study. This research is no different, and there are multiple limitations that need to be considered in relation to the findings of the current research. A main limitation in this study is the fact that the survey was conducted through the Internet, which limited the sample pool to people who had access to a Facebook account. Therefore, the portion of the population that did not have access to Facebook was not represented. In addition, some members of Facebook may have been hesitant to complete a survey presented on the website because of stigma. To help with this limitation, the survey was also e-mailed through Dr. Lorraine Frost to other faculty at Nipissing University's Schulich School of Education, in which faculty were asked to forward the e-mail on to individuals who they believed would be suitable participants in the research. Additionally, when analyzing the data, it needs to be cautioned that on Facebook there is a possibility that an individual's true identity may not always be the same as what is presented. For a precaution, it was asked if the participant was a primary school teacher. If they responded no, their responses were not included in the data analysis. However, when analyzing the data it should be taken into consideration that someone might have completed the survey that was not a primary school teacher and answered the questions falsely.

A second limitation that needs to be acknowledged is that since the survey was conducted on-line, participants had access to the Internet to look up information as they were completing the survey. Fluid Survey does not contain time limits, which then permits the participants to look up the responses on the Internet. However, Fluid Survey

does show in the data analysis section how long it took each participant to complete the survey. As a result, if a participant took a time that was significantly longer than other participants and there was suspicion that he/she could have been searching the answer online, his/her survey responses would not have been included in the data analysis.

Additionally, Fluid Surveys also provided an average time in which it took all participants to complete the survey. Once the data collection was completed, it took the 188 participants an average time of 15 minutes and 47 seconds to complete the survey. Furthermore, no participants took a significantly longer time than other participants to complete the survey, which limited the likelihood of a participant searching the web for possible answers.

Third, there was a considerable difference in the male to female ratio of the participants in this study. As it turned out, almost 97% of participants were female during the data collection. Although Statistics Canada states that 86.3% of primary teachers are females, there was a disproportionate number of females who took part in the study not consistent with the percentage of actual females primary school teachers (Canada, 2013). As a result, when analyzing the data we must make note that almost the whole population of the data collection came from females, while only a minority (less than 4%) came from male primary school teachers.

Fourth, a large (approximately 43.7%) number of participants who completed the questionnaire had been teaching for 5 years or less, while a large majority (approximately 74%) of participants had been teaching for 10 years or less. Therefore, when wanting to analyze if years of experience teaching had an effect on teachers' level of knowledge

about LD, this is very difficult, and results would be more informative if there was an even spread of years of experience.

A final limitation was noted by one of the participants in the study. The participant mentioned that the level of knowledge a teacher has about a LD may be a result of the institution or program where the teacher received the Bachelor of Education or additional special education courses. Therefore, it is noted that there is a difference in the quality of professional development experiences among participants that has not been reflected in the questions asked in the survey. The survey questions asked merely the number of courses that participants attended. Several institutions may be doing well at preparing teachers' knowledge of LD, while others may not. Therefore, a limitation in this study is that the quality of education received from certain institutions was not used to determine the participants' knowledge of LD. The number of courses completed was used as a measuring tool of teachers' knowledge.

Recommendations

There are a number of recommendations that can be made for future studies examining primary teachers' knowledge of LD. One recommendation would be to use a mixed methods approach, as the mixed methods research allows the researcher to collect both quantitative and qualitative data. By collecting both qualitative and quantitative data, the researcher could extend the understanding of primary teachers' knowledge of LD developed in this study. Furthermore, by including qualitative data, researchers could interview or also go into a classroom and observe teachers' interactions with students with LD. By conducting this type of research, the researcher could determine how the knowledge of LD a teacher has affects how they teach, identify, and assist students with

LD in the classroom. This information would then be able to answer more complex research questions, such as, how does teachers' level of knowledge affect students with LD?

A second recommendation for future researchers looking at conducting this research again would be to make modifications to the survey. A number of participants commented that the questions looking at the specific knowledge of LD were too broad and therefore needed to be more specific. A couple of participants commented that the wording of "typical characteristics" did not make sense, because each student with a LD has different characteristics. Therefore it is recommended that a longer preamble to the survey be given to the participants so that they better understand how to respond. In order to deal with the issues of the wording of questions and their broadness, a suggestion might be that the survey include a couple of scenarios of a LD and/or non-student with LD in the classroom. The survey could ask questions about the student in the scenario. The researcher could analyze if teachers would be able to identify a student with LD in the classroom through a more realistic scenario than just by the amount of knowledge that they have about the disability. This might measure more of primary teachers' knowledge of LD, as the participants have all been given the same information about the students and the researcher can analyze participants' knowledge of LD by the answers provided. Additionally, it is recommended that separate questions about accommodations and modifications be included in the survey, as those are two completely different instructional methods that are or are not provided to a student.

A third recommendation would be to have a larger population of participants. The findings were limited because of the small population of participants who took part in the

survey, especially when examining cross analysis with years of experience or gender. There were not enough males or teachers teaching for more than 15 years to determine if the findings were true for the whole primary teacher population or just for the participants in this survey. Therefore, in order to get a more confident statement about the findings in this survey, it is suggested that a larger population of primary teachers be studied. A larger sample population would help determine if a stronger correlation does exist between primary teachers' level of knowledge about LD and the different cross analyses that occurred. The small differences noted in the cross analysis section might be more present in a larger sample.

Finally, the last recommendation would be to look at a specific population of teachers when assessing primary teachers' knowledge of LD. As a result of this survey being administered through Facebook, primary school teachers around the world participated in the survey. However, only the surveys completed from teachers in Ontario were analyzed, as there were not enough teachers from other provinces or countries for effective analysis. The large majority of the participants were from Ontario; therefore I focused only on the Ontario participants to get a more in-depth analysis of Ontario primary teachers' knowledge on LD instead of focusing on a less in-depth worldwide group of teachers. As a result, a limitation of this study is that it did not compare primary teachers from different regions in Canada or the world to see if a difference was present in their knowledge of LD. Furthermore, this study analyzed primary school teachers all over Ontario and not just teachers from a specific region, school board, and so on.

Consequently, the researcher might have to choose a different method of recruitment other than Facebook to administer the survey to the research study population.

Additionally, the research could also examine the different institutions teachers attended to determine if different offerings of special education courses affect the teachers' knowledge.

As a consequence of this research, there are recommendations for future studies, but also a number of recommendations for schools, school boards and the Ministry to Education. One recommendation would be for schools, school boards and the Ministry of Education to provide workshops specifically on LD. The findings from this study suggested that workshops on LD helped to increase teachers' knowledge of LD risk factors, although their knowledge in other areas concerning LD was not different from those who had not attended workshops. This means that teachers who attend workshops on LD are more aware of risk factors that may cause a student to develop a LD, where, this knowledge can assist teachers in identifying possible students with a LD early in their education career. As discussed by Felton (1992) and Reschly (2005) early LD identification is critical for students as it ensures that they get the support they need for academic success. As a result it is recommended that school boards and the Ministry of Education continue to offer workshops on LD for primary school teachers, as these workshops allow teachers to have an increased level of knowledge on potential LD risk factors that can be used to help foster early identification for students with a LD. The earlier a student with a LD is identified the earlier the student can have access to the appropriate accommodations and modifications needed for him/her to succeed academically. Additionally, it is recommended that the content of workshops being offered should be examined as there were some areas of teachers' knowledge that were not affected by attending a workshop.

A second recommendation for school, school boards, and the Ministry of Education would be for them to evaluate the level of support given to students who have a LD and their teachers. Jordan et al., 2009, noted that schools that provide the most support to their students, teachers, and other staff members have higher achievement from their students with a LD compared to school whose members are not given adequate support (Jordan et al., 2009). Hence, it is recommended that schools and school boards evaluate their support given to students with a LD to ensure sufficient support is given to these students and all members involved in students with a LD education.

Future Studies

The data collection through this research expanded the field of knowledge pertaining to primary teachers' understanding of LD; however, there are multiple areas for further expansion. A next step would be to have a case scenario experiment to examine if primary teachers are able to use their level of knowledge about LD in order to identify students with LD. This is important to examine because, as discussed in the literature review, early detection of LD is crucial to a student's with LD academic success. This study did not determine teachers' ability to use their knowledge in the classroom to identify students with LD and to implement the intervention needed to ensure academic success for these students. Hence, future studies in the area of primary teachers' knowledge of LD should examine teachers' ability to use their knowledge to identify students early in their education.

Implication

The main implication of this study is the impact that teachers' knowledge may have on the early identification of students with LD in their education progress. This

study determined that teachers excelled in their knowledge of effectively accommodating students with LD in the classroom. However, primary school teachers were weaker in their knowledge of knowing potential risk factors or characteristics a child with LD might portray. These two areas of knowledge are both important to help screen for and identify possible students with LD in the classroom. Early identification is important because it allows the students to have access to the proper assistance they need to help them improve in their learning before they fall too far behind their peers (Felton, 1992). As a result, schools and school board officials should ensure that teachers are equipped with the knowledge and resources needed to help screen for possible students with LD in the younger grades (kindergarten/primary) so that these students with LD can be identified and provided the accommodation and modification to succeed in his/her education.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study did determine that primary teachers have a great deal of knowledge when it comes to effective teaching strategies for students with LD. Although teachers have an adequate understanding of possible risk factors, classifications, and characteristics of students with LD, there are still areas for improvement. Specifically, primary teachers can expand their knowledge to ensure that they are able to recognize students who have LD. Such knowledge would enable primary teachers to implement intervention strategies within the first few years of the students' education. As teachers mainly acquire their knowledge of LD from professional development courses, LD workshops, personal reading on LD, or through additional special education courses they have taken, school boards and the Ministry of Education need to encourage and support teachers' ongoing professional development through these venues.

References

- Abercrombie, D. D. (2009). The effects of institutional variables, teacher background variables, teacher preparedness, and teachers' performance drivers on teachers' attitudes toward students with learning disabilities in the inclusive classroom (Order No. 3388735). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses
- Global. (305064693). Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/ 305064693?accountid=12792
- Aladwani, A. M., & Al Shaye, S.S. (2012). Primary school teachers' knowledge and awareness of dyslexia in kuwaiti students. *Education*, *132*(3), 499–516. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.roxy.nipissingu.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=e hh&AN=73342097&site=ehost-live&scope=site. ISSN:0012-1172.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2014). *About DSM-5/frequently asked questions*.

 Retrieved 03 23, 2015, from American Psychiatric Association DSM-5

 Development: www.dsm5.org/about/Pages/faq.aspx
- Andrews, D., Nonnecke, B., & Preece, J. (2003). Electronic survey methodology: A case study in reaching hard-to-involve internet users. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 16(2), 185–210. doi:10.1207/S15327590IJHC1602_04
- Antoinette, M. L. (2002). Examining how the inclusion of disabled students into the general classroom may affect non-disabled classmates. *Fordham Urban Law Journal*, 30(6), 2039–2060. Retrieved from http://urbanlawjournal.com/
- Bennett, Sheila. "WHAT WORKS? Research into Practice." *exceptionality*10.12 (2009): 18-22. http://www2.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/literacynumeracy/inspire/research/Bennett.pdf

- Bennett, S., Dworet, D, & Daigle, R. (2001). Educational provisions for exceptional students in the province of Ontario. *Exceptionality Education Canada*, 11 (2-3), 99–122. ISSN-1183-322X
- Bennett, S. M., & Gallagher, T. L. (2013). High school students with intellectual disabilities in the school and worksplace: Multiple Perspectives on Inclusion. *Canadian Journal of Education*. 36(1), 96–64. http://www.jstor.org/stable/canajeducrevucan.36.1.96. ISSN: 03802361.
- Brahm, N., & Kelly, N. (2004). Pupils' views on inclusion: Moderate learning difficulties and bullying in mainstream schools. British Educational Research Journal, 30(1), 43–64. doi:10.1080/01411920310001629938
- Brook, U., Watemberg, N., & Geva, D. (2000). Attitude and knowledge of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and learning disability among high school teachers.

 *Patient Education and Counseling, 40(3), 247–252. doi:10.1016/S0738-3991(99)00080-4
- Wright, D. C. (2008). *Nonverbal learning disability in the classroom: An assessment of teachers' knowledge* (Order No. 3312913). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304831221). Retrieved from http://moxy.eclibrary.ca/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/304831221?accountid=12792
- Callinan, S., Cunningham, E., & Theiler, S. (2013). Revisiting Discrepancy Theory in Learning Disabilities: What Went Wrong and Why We Should Go Back. Australian Journal of Guidance and Counselling, 23, pp 1-17. doi:10.1017/jgc.2012.22.
- Campbell, J., Gilmore, L., & Cuskelly, M. (2003). Changing student teachers' attitudes towards disability and inclusion. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental*

- Disability, 28(4), 369–379. doi:10.1080/13668250310001616407
- Canada. (2013, May 13). Women in teaching-related professions, Canada, 1996 and 2006. Retrieved 12 29, 2014, from Statistics Canada: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-503-x/2010001/article/11542/tbl/tbl013-eng.htm
- Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms. (1982) Constitution Act, 1982 (79).
- Catts, H. W., Nielsen, D. C., Bridges, M. S., Liu, Y. S., & Bontempo, D. E. (2015). Early identification of reading disabilities within an RTI framework. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 48(3), 281–297. doi:10.1177/0022219413498115
- Creswell, J.W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th Ed.). New Jersey: Person Merrill-Prentice Hall. ISBN: 0137905025
- Clark, M. D. (1997). Teacher response to learning disability: A test of attributional principles. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *30*(1), 69–79. doi:10.1177/002221949703000106
- Clason, D. L., & Dormody, T. J. (1994). Analyzing data measured by individual Likert-type items. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *35*, 4. doi:10.5032/jae.1994.04031
- Crawford, C. (2005). *Inclusive education in Canada Key issues and directions for the*future. Roeher Institute. http://www.inclusiveeducation.ca/

 documents/ROEHER-STATE-OF-2005.pdf. Retrieved from

 http://inclusiveeducation.ca/
- Desforges, C. (1995). How does experience affect theoretical knowledge teaching? *Learning and Instruction*, *5*(4), 385–400. doi:1016/0959-4752(95)00024-0

- Desforges, C., & Abouchaar, A. (2003). The impact of parental involvement, parental support and family on pupil achievement and adjustment: A literature review.

 Department for Education and Skills. Nottingham, UK: DfES Publications.

 ISBN:1 84185 999 0
- Dewey, J. (2012). *The public and its problems: An essay in political inquiry*. Penn State Press. ISBN:978-0-271-05569-5
- Duggan, M., & Brenner, J. (2013, Feburary 14). *The demographics of social media*users 2012. Retrieved 05 06, 2015, from Pew Research Center; Internet,

 Science & Tech: http://www.pewinternet.org/2013/02/14/the-demographics-of-social-media-users-2012/
- Dworet, D. & Bennett, S. (2002). A view from the north: Canadian policies and issues in special education. *Teaching Exceptional Children*. *34*(5). 22-27. ISBN:0040-0599
- Felton, R. H. (1992). Early identification of children at risk for reading disabilities.

 *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 12(2), 212–229.

 doi:10.1177/027112149201200206
- Ferri, B. A., Connor, D. J., Solis, S., Valle, J., & Volpitta, D. (2005). Teachers with LD: Ongoing negotiations with discourses of disability. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *38*(1), 62–78. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.roxy. nipissingu.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ695584&site=ehost-live&scope=site;http://www.proedinc.com doi:10.117700222194050380010501
- Floyd, K. K., & Judge, S. L. (2012). The efficacy of assistive technology on reading comprehension for postsecondary students with learning disabilities.

 Assistive Technology Outcomes and Benefits, 8(1), 48–64. ISSN: 1938-727X

- Fricker, R. D., & Schonlau, M. (2002). Advantages and disadvantages of internet research surveys: Evidence from the literature. *Field Methods*, 14(4), 347–367. doi: 10.1177/152582202237725
- Fuchs, D., Mock, D., Morgan, P.L., & Young, C.L. (2003). Responsiveness-to-intervention: Definitions, evidence, and implications for the learning disabilities construct. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 18(3), 157–171. doi:10.1111/1540-5826.00072
- Graham, S., Harris, K. R., & Larsen, L. (2001). Prevention and intervention of writing difficulties for students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research* and *Practice*, *16*(2), 74–84. doi: 10.1111/0938-8982.00009
- Greer, D. L., & Meyen, E. L. (2009). Special education teacher education: A perspective on content knowledge. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, *24*(4), 196–203. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2009.00293.x
- Gresham, F. M. (2002). Responsiveness to intervention: An alternative approach to the identification of learning disabilities. *Identification of learning disabilities:*Research to practice, 467–519. ISBN: 080544473
- Gromoll, M. T. (2008). Teacher perceptions of the achievement of students with learning disabilities on statewide assessments(Order No. 3383007). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304379148). Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304379148?accountid=12792

 ISBN: 9781109479652
- Harrison, A. G. (2005). Recommended best practices for the early identification and diagnosis of children with specific learning disabilities in Ontario. *Canadian*

- Journal of School Psychology, 20(1/2), 21-43. doi:10.1177/0829573506295461
- Hasselbring, T., & Williams Glaser, C. (2000). Use of computer technology to help students with special needs. *The Future of Children*, *10*(2), 102–122. doi:10.2307/1602691
- Hsien, M., Brown, P. M., & Bortoli, A. (2009). Teacher qualifications and attitudes toward inclusion. *Australasian Journal of Special Education*, *33*(01), 26–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1375/ajse.33.1.26
- Insel, T. (2013, April 29). *Director's blog transforming diagnosis*. Retrieved 03 23, 2015, from National Institute of Mental Health: www.nimh.nih.gov/about/director/ 2013/transforming-diagnosis.shtml. doi:10.1136/medethics-2013-101762
- Jenkins, J. R., & O'Connor, R. E. (2002). Early identification and intervention for young children with reading/learning disabilities. *Identification of learning disabilities:**Research to practice, 99-149.
- Jordan, A., Schwartz, E., & McGhie-Richmond, D. (2009). Preparing teachers for inclusive classrooms. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25(4), 535–542. doi.10.1016/j.tate.2009.02.010
- Joy, M. (2007) Research methods in education (6th Ed.). *Bioscience Education*, *10*, doi: 10.3108/beej.10.r1
- Kaplowitz, M. D., Hadlock, T. D., & Levine, R. (2004). A comparison of web and mail survey response rates. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *68*(1), 94–101. doi:10.1093/pog/nfh006
- Karavas-Doukas, E. (1996). Using attitude scales to investigate teachers' attitudes to the communicative approach. *ELT Journal*, *50*(3), 187–198. doi:10.1093/elt/50.3.187

- Kavale, K. A. (2001). Discrepancy models in the identification of learning disability. Executive summary.
- Kavale, K. A., & Forness, S. R. (2000). What definitions of learning disability say and don't say: A critical analysis. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 33, 239–256. doi:10.1177/002221940003300303
- Kavale, K. A., & Mostert, M. P. (2004). Social skills interventions for individuals with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, *27*(1), 31-43. doi:10.2307/1593630
- Keenan, H. T., Runyan, D. K., Marshall, S. W., Nocera, M. A., Merten, D. F., & Sinal, S. H. (2003). A population-based study of inflicted traumatic brain injury in young children. *Jama*, *290*(5), 621-626. doi:10.1001/jama.290.5.621
- Kirby, A., Davies, R., & Bryant, A. (2005). Do teachers know more about specific learning difficulties than general practitioners? *British Journal of Special Education*, *32*(3), 122–126. doi:10.1111/j.0952-3383.2005.00384.x
 - Kirk, S. A., & Elkins, J. (1975) Characteristics of children enrolled in the child service demonstration centres. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 8, 31–33. doi:10.1177/002221947500801006
 - Ko, H. (2007). *IEP team's knowledge about student characteristics, legislation, AT devices and AT services on considering assistive technology in the IEP development for 3rd to 5th grade students with learning disabilities in reading and writing* (Order No. 3291155). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304780519). Retrieved from http://moxy.eclibrary.ca/login?url= http://search.proquest.com/docview/304780519?accountid=12792
 - Ladner, J. R. (2011). African American mothers' and professionals' perceptions of

transition to special needs preschool. ProQuest LLC). Proquest Llc, http://www.proquest.com.roxy.nipissingu.ca/en-US/products/dissertations/individuals.shtml)

Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.roxy.nipissingu.ca/login.aspx?direct=

true&db=eric&AN=ED533630&site=ehost-live&scope=site;http://gateway.

proquest.com.roxy.nipissingu.ca/openurl?url_ver=Z39.882004&rft_val_fmt=

info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:dissertation&res_dat=xri:pqdiss&rft_dat=xri:pqdiss:3471640

- Lange, S. M., & Thompson, B. (2006). Early identification and intervention for children at risk for learning disabilities. *International Journal of Special Education*, 21(3), 108–119. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialeducation.com/
- Learning Disabilities Association of Canada. (2015, March 2). Official definition of learning disabilities. Retrieved April 18, 2015, from Learning Disabilities

 Association of Canada: http://www.ldac-acta.ca/learn-more/ld-defined/official-definition-of-learning-disabilities
- Learning Disability Association of Canada. (2014). *Learning disability at a glance*.

 Retrieved 01/10, 2016, from http://www.ldac-acta.ca/learn-more/ld-basics
- Learning Disabilities Association of Canada. (2007). *Prevalence of learning disabilities*.

 Retrieved 06/01, 2014, from http://www.ldac-acta.ca/learn-more/ld-basics/prevalence-of-lds
- Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario. (2015). *Working description of learning disabilities*. Retrieved 01/10, 2016, from http://www.ldao.ca/introduction-to-ldsadhd/what-are-lds/a-working-description-of-learning-disabilities/
- Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario. (2014, September). LDAO position paper on interpretation of the LDAO definition of learning disabilities, 2001 in

- postsecondary settings. Retrieved 03/30, 2015, from Learning Disabilities

 Association of Ontario: http://www.ldao.ca/wp-content/uploads/LDAO-PositionPaper-on-Interpretation-of-the-LDAO-Definition-in-Postsecondary-Settings-Sept2014.pdf
- Learning Disabilities Association of Ontario. (2011). *Learning disabilities statistics*.

 Retrieved 06/01, 2014, from http://www.ldao.ca/introduction-to-ldsadhd/ldsadhs-in-depth/articles/about-lds/learning-disabilities-statistics/
- Logan, J. (2009, Janurary). *Learning disabilities: A guide for faculty at Ontario universities*. Retrieved April 18, 2015, from Council of Ontario Universities: http://www.cou.on.ca/publications/academic-colleague-papers/pdfs/learning-disabilities---a-guide-for-ontario-univer
- Lyon, G. R., Fletcher, J. M., Shaywitz, S. E., Shaywitz, B. A., Torgesen, J. K., Wood, F.
 B., ... Olson, R. (2001). Rethinking learning disabilities. *Rethinking Special Education for a New Century*, 259–287. Retrieved from ftp://64.88.0.172/psych/documents/special ed ch12.pdf
- Mayes, S. D., & Calhoun, S. L. (2007). Challenging the assumptions about the frequency and coexistence of learning disability types. *School Psychology International*, 28(4), 437–448. doi:10.1177/014303430784134
- McKinney, J. D. (1989). Longitudinal research on the behavioral characteristics of children with learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 22(3), 141–150. doi:10.1177/002221948902200302
- McLeskey, J. (1992). Students with learning disabilities at primary, intermediate, and secondary grade levels: Identification and characteristics. *Learning Disability*

- *Quarterly, 15*(1), 13–19. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com. roxy.nipissingu.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ444421&site=ehost-live&scope=site. doi:10.2307/1510560
- National Center for Learning Disabilities. (2014, November). *The state of learning disabilities; facts, trends and emerging issues (3rd ed.)*. Retrieved 03 23, 2015, from National Center for Learning Disabilities: www.ncld.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/2014-State-of-LD.pdf
- Noddings, N. (2012). *Philosophy of education* (3rd ed.). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Obrzut, J. E., & Hynd, G. W. (1987). Cognitive dysfunction and psychoeducational assessment in individuals with acquired brain injury. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 20(10), 596-602.
- Ontario Brain Injury Association. *What is ABI?* Retrieved from: http://obia.ca/what-is-abi/. doi:10.1177/002221948702001005
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2005, June 27). Education act; Ontario regulation

 181/94 identification and placement of exceptional pupils. Retrieved 03 23, 2015,
 from Special Education Regulations: www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/regs/english/
 elaws regs 980181 e.htm
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2007, July 26). *Teachers*. Retrieved 03 23, 2015, from Special Education Regulations: www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/general /elemsec/speced/regs.html
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2010, June 7). *Legislation and regulation amendments*.

 Retrieved 6 23, 2015, from Ontario Ministry of Education:

 https://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/teacher/legislation.html

- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2014, August 26). *Policy/program memorandum No. 8*.

 Retrieved 03 24, 2015, from Ontario Ministry of Education: www.edu.gov.on.ca
 /extra/eng/ppm/ppm8.pdf
- Parker, B. L. (2006). General educators' knowledge and use of technology with students with learning disabilities in the general education classroom (Order No. 3215121). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304919956). Retrieved from http://moxy.eclibrary.ca/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/304919956?accountid=12792
- Rees, S. A., & Skidmore, D. (2008). Redesigning the scaffolding metaphor to suit pupils with acquired brain injury. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 23(4), 379-392. doi:10.2080/08856250802387364
- Reeves, J. R. (2006). Secondary teacher attitudes toward including English-language learners in mainstream classrooms. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *99*(3), 131–143. doi:10.3200/JOER.99.3.131-143
- Reschly, D. J. (2005). Learning disabilities identification: Primary intervention, secondary intervention, and then what? *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *38*(6), 510–515. doi:10.1177/00222194050380060601
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Focus on research methods combining qualitative and quantitative sampling, data collection, and analysis techniques in mixed-method studies. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 23, 246–255. doi: 10.1002/1098-240X(200006)23:3<246::AID-NUR9>3.0.CO;2-H
- Saravanabhavan, S., & Rc. Saravanabhavan. (2010). Knowledge of learning disability among pre- and in-service teachers in India. *International Journal of Special*

- *Education, 25*(3), 132–138. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalof specialeducation.com/
- Scruggs, T. E., & Mastropieri, M. A. (2002). On babies and bathwater: Addressing the problems of identification of learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 25(3), 155–168. doi:10.2307/1511299
- Siegel, L. S. (1989). IQ is irrelevant to the definition of learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 22(8), 469–478. doi:10.1177/002221948902200803
- Siegel, L. S. (1999). Issues in the definition and diagnosis of learning disabilities: A perspective on Buckenberger v. Boston University. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *32*(4), 304–19. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.roxy. nipissingu.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ589567&site=ehost-live&scope=site. doi:10.1177/002221949903200405
- Simmons, D. C., Kameenui, E. J., & Chard, D. J. (1998). General education teachers' assumptions about learning and students with learning disabilities: Design-of-instruction analysis. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 21(1), 6–21. doi:10.2307/1511369
- Snowling, M. J. (2013). Early identification and intervention for dyslexia: a contemporary view. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 13(1), 7–14. doi:10.1111/j.1471-3802.2012.01262.x
- Spitzer, B., & Aronson, J. (2015). Minding and mending the gap: Social psychological interventions to reduce educational disparities. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 85, 1–18. doi:10.1111/bjep.12067
- Stanton-Chapman, T., Chapman, D. A., & Scott, K. G. (2001). Identification of early risk

- factors for learning disabilities. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 24(3), 193–206.

 Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.roxy.nipissingu
 .ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ645124&site=ehost-live&scope=site
 doi:10.1177/10538151010240030501
- Szalavitz, M. (2013, May 07). *Mental health researchs reject psychiatry's new disgnosistic "bible."* Retrieved 03 23, 2015, from Mental Illness: healthland.time.com/2013/05/07/as-psychiatry-introduces-dsm-5-researchabandons-it/
- Tannock, R. (2014, January). *DSM-5 changes in diagnostic criteria for specific learning disabilities (SLD) 1: What are the implications?* Retrieved 03 23, 2015, from The International Dyslexis Association: http://dyslexiahelp.umich.edu/sites/default/files/IDA DSM-5%20Changes.pdf
- United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (2006). Retrieved March, 09, 2012 from http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/crc.htm.
- Wagner, R. K., & Garon, T. (1999). Learning disabilities in perspective. R. J.

 Sternberg & L. Spear-Swerling (Eds.), Perspectives on learning disabilities:

 Biological, cognitive, contextual, 83–105. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Whetstone, L., & Carr-Chellman, A. A. (2001). Preparing preservice teachers to use technology: Survey results. *Techtrends*, 45(4), 11–17. doi:10.1007/BF02784820
- Wiener, J., & Tardif, C. Y. (2004). Social and emotional functioning of children with learning disabilities: does special education placement make a difference?. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, *19*(1), 20-32. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2004.00086.x

- Winzer, M. (1996). *Children with exceptionalities in Canadian classrooms* (4th ed.). Scarborough, Ontario: Allyn & Bacon.
- Wolfensberger, W., & Tullman, S. (1982). A brief outline of the principle of normalization. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 27(3), 131–145. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0090973
- Wolforth, J. (2012). Why we need reliable, valid, and appropriate learning disability assessments: The perspective of a postsecondary disability service provider.

 *Canadian Journal of School Psychology, 27(1), 58–71.

 doi:10.1177/0829573512437025
- Woloshyn, V., Bennett, S., & Berrill, D. (2003). Working with students who have learning disabilities: Teacher candidates speak out. Issues and concerns in preservice education and professional development. *Exceptionality Education Canada*, 13 (1), 7–29. Retrieved from: http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/eei/. ISSN: 1183-322X
- Woodcock, S., & Jiang, H. (2013). Teachers' causal attributional responses of students with learning disabilities in China. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *25*, 163–170. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2013.01.016
- Wright, D. C. (2008). Nonverbal learning disability in the classroom: An assessment of teachers' knowledge. (Order No. 3312913, Wilmington University (Delaware)). *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*, 115. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304831221?accountid=12792. (304831221).
- Wright, K. B. (2005). Researching Internet-based populations: Advantages and disadvantages of online survey research, online questionnaire authoring software packages, and web survey services. *Journal of Computer-Mediated*

- Communication, 10(3). doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2005.tb00259.x
- Zhang, Y. (2000). Using the internet for survey research: A case study. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science*, 51(1), 57–68. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4571(2000)51:1<57::AID-ASI9>3.0.CO;2-W
- Zinga, D., Bennett, S., Good, D., & Kumpf, J. (2005). Policy and practice: Acquired brain injury in Canadian education system. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy*. Retrieved from https://www.umanitoba.ca/publications/cjeap/

Appendix A

Advertisement for Participants to Participant in Study

First Post on Facebook

My name is Julie Kocsis and I am a Master of Education student at Nipissing University. I am currently completing a thesis on primary teachers' opinions of teaching students with learning disabilities.

If you have taught junior kindergarten to grade 3 (ages 4 to 9) I am inviting you to participate in my survey.

The survey should take approximately 25 minutes of your time and can be accessed at http://fluidsurveys.com/surveys/kocsis/primary-teachers-opinions-of-ld/

At the end of the survey, you have the option to enter your e-mail address (which will not be linked to your survey responses) for a chance to win one of five \$25 Chapters gift cards.

The survey will close on November 18, 2014, 11:59 p.m.

Thank you for your time,

Julie Kocsis

Reminder Note Posted on Facebook, 2 Weeks Later

Dear Teachers,

If you have already completed my survey about primary grade teachers' opinions of teaching students with learning disabilities, thank you. If you have not yet completed the survey, I am encouraging you to participate.

If you have taught junior kindergarten to grade 3 (ages 4 to 9) I am inviting you to participate in my survey.

The survey should take approximately 25 minutes of your time and can be accessed at http://fluidsurveys.com/surveys/kocsis/primary-teachers-opinions-of-ld/

At the end of the survey, you have the option to enter your e-mail address (which will not be linked to your survey responses) for a chance to win one of five \$25 Chapters gift cards.

The survey will close on November 18, 2014, 11:59 p.m.

Thank you for your time,

Julie Kocsis

Message Dr. Lorraine Frost was e-mailed to the Faculty of Education Professors at Schulich School of Education, Nipissing University

Dear Colleagues

I am forwarding this e-mail message from Julie Kocsis. I am supervising her Master's thesis. Would you kindly advertise this research study to any primary level teachers you may know?

Thank you for your support,

Lorraine Frost

Appendix B

Participant Information Letter



Participant Information Letter for Anonymous Participants

You are asked to participate in a research study entitled Primary Teachers' Opinions of Learning Disabilities conducted by Julie Kocsis from the Master of Education program at Nipissing University. *The results of this study will contribute to a thesis*. If you have any questions or concerns about the research, please feel free to contact Julie Kocsis by phone at 705-828-4411 or through e-mail at jakocsis483@community.nipissingu.ca. You may also contact Dr. Lorraine Frost, Thesis Advisor, Schulich School of Education, by phone at 705-474-3450, ext. 4563 or by e-mail at frost@nipissingu.ca .

The purpose of this research is to explore primary teachers' opinions of learning disabilities. Learning disability is the most common special education identification in school. The first point of contact students with a learning disability have at school is primary teachers. Additionally, early identification of learning disabilities is important for the students' future educational success. Therefore this survey aims to explore primary teachers' opinions about teaching students with learning disabilities.

Participation Procedures

If you volunteer to participate in this study, we would ask you to:

Complete the attached questionnaire. The questionnaire will take approximately 25 minutes to complete. The questionnaire will be available for 6 weeks after the original Facebook posting. You may complete it at your leisure. You will need a computer and Internet access. Once you are finished answering the questions please press SUBMIT.

Any information that is obtained from you in connection with this study is anonymous. Participation in this study is voluntary and you are free to withdraw at any time. You have the right to refuse to answer any question(s) that you find objectionable or which make you feel uncomfortable. Completion of this survey signifies your informed consent. Please keep a copy of this information letter for your records.

If you would like to receive the results of the study please provide your e-mail address at the end of the survey. It is anticipated the final report will be available by July 2015. Please be assured that your e-mail address will not be associated with your questionnaire. Your participation in this survey will remain anonymous. The software used to create this survey will separate the page with your contact information from your responses. Your e-mail, if provided, will be used to provide you with further information about the outcome of the research. It will only be used for the purpose of providing this information to you. It will not be given to anyone or be used for any other purpose. Currently, there are no foreseeable secondary uses for the data collected. However, the results may be

published in professional or academic journals and presented at professional or academic conferences.

There are no known risks to the participants in this study.

There are a number of benefits from your participation in this study, as it will help gain insight into teachers' opinions on teaching students with learning disabilities. The findings may be used to help develop more appropriate professional development programs to assist primary teachers in identifying and educating learning disabled students.

There are a number of benefits to society that can be expected from the findings of this research. There will be a better understanding of primary teachers' perceptions of students with learning disabilities. Furthermore, educational policymakers and school administrations will be able to use the findings as a basis for policy and action. Lastly, teachers, parents and community members who see the results will be more informed about learning disabilities.

All participants will have an opportunity to be randomly selected to receive one of five \$25.00 Chapters gift cards. If you would like to be placed into the random selection, please provide an e-mail address at the end of the survey. As mentioned previously, your survey responses will not be matched or stored with your email address.

All information and data collected by participants will be kept completely confidential. Participants will remain anonymous throughout the entire research collection and analysis of data.

Any information that is obtained from research participants in connection with this study is anonymous.

Participation in this study is voluntary and you are free to withdraw at any time. You have the right to refuse to answer any question(s) that you find objectionable or which make you feel uncomfortable.

Completion of this survey signifies your informed consent. Please keep a copy of this information letter for your records.

This study has been reviewed and received ethics clearance through Nipissing University's Research Ethics Board.

If you have questions regarding your rights as a research participant, contact:

Ethics Coordinator, F309 Telephone: 705-474-3450, ext. 4055

Nipissing University E-mail: ethics@nipissingu.ca

North Bay, ON P1B 8L7 Fax: 705-474-5878

Appendix C

Survey Administered to Participants on Fluid Survey

Part I: Learning Disability Opinion Survey

<u>Part 1:</u> For each statement, select the descriptor that best represents your opinion about the characteristics of a learning disability.

Strongly Disagree Agree Strongly Don't Agree Now Now Agree Now Now Agree Now	characteristics of a learning disability		· .	T .	T =: .	T
1. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in reading.** 2. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in communication.** 3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.* 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical			Disagree	Agree		
expressed as a significant disability in reading.** 2. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in communication.** 3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oscial skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical		Disagree			Agree	Know
in reading.** 2. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in communication.** 3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 7. A person with a learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
2. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in communication.** 3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability. an also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	, ,					
expressed as a significant disability in communication.** 3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
in communication.** 3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.* 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	2. A learning disability can be					
3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
expressed as a significant disability in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	in communication.**					
in written language.** 4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	3. A learning disability can be					
4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	expressed as a significant disability					
4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	in written language.**					
in mathematics.** 5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	4. A learning disability can be					
5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	expressed as a significant disability					
expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	in mathematics.**					
expressed as a significant disability in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	5. A learning disability can be					
in social skills.** 6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
expressed as a significant disability in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	6. A learning disability can be					
in oral language.** 7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
disability can also be identified with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
with another disability.** 8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
disability can also be identified as gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
gifted. ** 9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	1					
characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	1					
characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	9. Fidgeting is a typical					
learning disability.* 10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
learning disability.* 11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	_ , , ,					
11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
learning disability.* 12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical	,					
with a learning disability.* 13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical						
written materials is a typical						
	characteristic of a student with a					

	Strongly	Disagree	Agree	Strongly	Don't
	Disagree			Agree	Know
learning disability.*					
14. Difficulty with sentence					
structure is a typical characteristic					
of a student with a learning					
disability.*					
15. Excellent spelling is a typical					
characteristic of a student with a					
learning disability.*					
16. Good ability to express ideas is					
a typical characteristic of a student					
with a learning disability.*					
17. Difficulty copying notes from					
the chalkboard is a typical					
characteristic of a student with a					
learning disability.*					
18. Good ability to use phonics is a					
typical characteristic of a student					
with a learning disability.*					
19. The severity of a student's					
learning disability fades with age.*					
20. Atypical human growth is a					
characteristic of a student with a					
learning disability. *					

If you would like to provide additional comments about typical characteristics for students with a learning disability, please provide them in the text box below.

• Text box

Part 2: For each statement, select the descriptor that best represents your opinion on the risk factors that cause learning disabilities.

factors that cause learning disabilities	0.	1	ı	1	T
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know
21. A family history of learning					
disability increases the risk of					
having a learning disability. **					
22. Poor nutrition increases the risk					
of having a learning disability. **					
23. A history of head injury					
increases the risk of having a					
learning disability. **					
24. Child abuse increases the risk of					
having a learning disability. **					
25. Complications during pregnancy					
increase the risk of having a					
learning disability. **					
26. Lead poisoning increases the					
risk of having a learning disability.					
**					
27. Lack of parental support					
increases the risk of a learning					
disability. **					
28. Infection in the central nervous					
system increases the risk of having a					
learning disability. **					
29. Cancer treatment increases the					
risk of having a learning disability.					
**					
30. Poor parenting style increases					
the risk of having a learning					
disability. **					
31. Low child activity level					
increases the risk of having a					
learning disability. **					
32. Cultural practices increase the					
risk of having a learning disability.					
33. Poor living environment					
increases the risk of having a learning disability. **					
34. Taking medication increases the					
risk of having a learning disability.					
**					
35. Genetic factors increase the risk					

	Strongly	Disagree	Agree	Strongly	Don't
	Disagree			Agree	Know
of having a learning disability. **					
36. Neurological factors increase the risk of having a learning disability.					

If you would like to provide additional comments about risk factors for students with a learning disability, please provide them in the text box below.

• Text box

<u>Part 3:</u>
For each statement, select the descriptor that best represents your opinion on teaching strategies for students with learning disabilities.

2					
	Strongly	Disagree	Agree	Strongly	Don't
	Disagree			Agree	Know
37. You need to have an Individual					
Education Plan before providing					
modifications and accommodations					
to students with a learning					
disability. **					
38. The students need to be formally					
identified with a learning disability					
before you can provide them with					
modifications and					
accommodations.**					
39. Differentiated instruction is an					
effective classroom strategy to use					
for students with a learning					
disability.*					
40. Direct instruction is an effective					
classroom strategy to use for					
students with a learning disability.*					
41. Providing more work is an					
effective classroom strategy to use					
for students with a learning					
disability.*					
42. Breaking lessons down into					
smaller parts is an effective					
classroom strategy to use for					
students with a learning disability. *					
43. Giving a student a computer is					
an effective classroom strategy to					
use for students with a learning					
disability. **					
44. Instructing students to work by					
themselves is an effective classroom					
strategy to use for students with a					

learning disability.**			
45. An effective classroom strategy			
for students with a learning			
disability is to present information			
orally and not in writing. *			
46. Using graphic organizers is an			
effective classroom strategy to use			
for students with a learning			
disability. **			
47. Medication should be used to			
reduce the severity of a student's			
learning disability. **			

If you would like to provide additional comments about effective classroom strategies for students with a learning disability, please provide them in the text box below.

Text box

<u>Part 4:</u> For each statement, select the descriptor that best represents your opinion on teaching students with learning disabilities.

	Strongly	Disagree	Agree	Strongly	Don't
	Disagree			Agree	Know
48. I understand learning disabilities					
enough to teach students with this					
identification. *					
49. I feel well informed about					
teaching students with a learning					
disability. *					
50. I feel prepared to teach students					
with learning disabilities. *					
51. I have adequate resources to					
teach students with learning					
disabilities. **					
52. I feel comfortable teaching					
students identified with a learning					
disability.*					
53. I need more information on					
learning disabilities to help teach					
identified students. **					
54. I am aware of accommodations					
and modifications to assist students					
with learning disabilities. *					

If you would like to provide additional comments or opinions about students with learning disabilities, please provide them in the text box below.

• Text box

<u>Part 5:</u> For each statement, select the descriptor that best represents your opinion on support for teaching students with learning disabilities.

teaching students with learning disabi	Strongly	Disagree	Agree	Strongly	Don't
	Disagree	Disagice	Agicc	Agree	Know
55 I raccive support from a	Disagree			Agicc	IXIIUW
55. I receive support from a					
consultant or other school board					
experts to assist me with teaching					
students with learning disabilities.					
**					
56. I receive support from my					
principal or vice-principal to assist					
me with teaching students with a					
learning disability.**					
57. I receive support from a					
resource teacher to assist me with					
teaching students with a learning					
disability. **					
58. I receive support from other					
teachers at my school to assist me					
with teaching students with a					
learning disability. **					
59. I receive support from education					
assistants to assist me with teaching					
students with a learning					
disability.**					
60. I receive additional support for					
teaching students with a learning					
disability from sources other than					
those mentioned above (please					
comment below).*					
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	1	1	1	1

If you would like to provide additional comments or opinions about support your receive for teaching students with a learning disability. Please provide it in the text box below.

• Text box

	Never	Daily	Weekly	Monthly		Once a
					Term (3	Year
					months)	
61. How frequently do you receive support for teaching students with learning disabilities?*						

62. You suspect a student in your class has a learning disability; how should you proceed?**

Text box

Part II: Demographic

There is a text box after each question for comments you may wish to add.

- 63. Are you currently teaching? *
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If no, please continue to question 65

- 64. Are you teaching, **
 - a. Full-time
 - b. Part-time
 - c. Supply/Substitute teacher
 - d. Other: Please comment
- 65. In which country are you located? *
 - a. Text box
- 66. In which province/state/county are you located?*
 - a. Text box
- 67. Have you ever taught Kindergarten to grade 3 in the past?**
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
- 68. What level do you currently teach? *
 - a. Pre/junior Kindergarten (age 4)
 - b. Senior Kindergarten (age 5)
 - c. Grade 1
 - d. Grade 2
 - e. Grade 3
 - f. Other: please comment
- 69. What is your current position in the education system?*
 - a. General education teacher
 - b. Special Education teacher
 - c. Other: Please comment
- 70. Gender*
 - a. Male
 - b. Female
 - c. Other
- 71. How many years of completed teaching experience do you have as of June 2014?

,

- 72. Since completing your teacher education have you completed further professional development or study in special education? *
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If no, please skip to question 79.

- 73. Have you attended any workshops on learning disabilities? *
 - c. Yes
 - d. No

If no, please skip to question 75.

- 74. How many days of workshops on learning disabilities have you attended? *
 - a. 1
 - b. 2
 - c. 3
 - d. 4
 - e. 5 or more
- 75. Have you completed any additional courses in special education since completing your teacher education? *
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If no, please skip to question 77.

- 76. How many special education courses have you completed?*
 - a. 1 half course (approximately 36 hours)
 - b. 1 Full course (approximately 72 hours)
 - c. 1.5 courses (approximately 108 hours)
 - d. 2 courses (approximately 144 hours)
 - e. 2.5 courses (approximately 180 hours)
 - f. 3 courses (approximately 216 hours)
 - g. Other: Please comment
- 77. Have you completed any personal research on special education since completing your teacher education?*
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If yes, please describe the research you have completed.

- Text Box
- 78. Have you completed any personal reading on special education since completing your teacher education?*
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If yes, please describe the material you have read.

- Text box

- 79. Do you have any close friends with a learning disability?**
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

Comment: text box

- 80. Do you have any close family members with a learning disability?**
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

Comments: text box

- 81. Thank you for your time and participation in this research survey. If you would like to receive a summary of the research findings please provide your e-mail address in the text box below. It is anticipated that the final report will be available by July 2015. (Please be advised that the e-mail address will only be used to send a summary of the research to you.)
 - a. Text Box
- 82. As an appreciation for your participation in this research you are eligible to win one of five \$25 gift cards to Chapters. If you would like to be entered into the draw please provide your e-mail address in the text box below. Only winners will be contacted. (Please be advised that the e-mail address provided will only be used to contact you if you have won one of the gift cards.) The draw will be completed when the survey closes six weeks after the initial posting on Facebook.
 - a. Text Box

^{*} Question was created from Ko (2007), Parker (2006), Brown (2007) or Wright (2008).

^{**} Question was created based on findings from the literature review.

Appendix D

Frequency of Participants' Responses to Questions in Part One of the Survey

Table 4.1

Frequency Distribution Participants' Responses to Characteristics of LD

Variable	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	_
1. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in reading.	1 0.7%	4 2.8%	57 40.4%	77 54.6%	2 1.4%	<i>Total:</i> 141
2. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in communication.	3 2.1%	5 3.5%	62 43.4%	73 51.0%	0 0.0%	<i>Total:</i> 143
3. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in written language.	1 0.7%	2 1.4%	59 41.5%	80 56.3%	0 0.0%	<i>Total:</i> 142
4. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in mathematics.	1 0.7%	8 5.6%	57 40.1%	76 53.5%	0 0.0%	<i>Total:</i> 142
5. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in social skills.	4 2.8%	27 18.9%	61 42.7%	48 33.6%	3 2.1%	Total: 143
6. A learning disability can be expressed as a significant disability in oral language.	1 0.7%	10 7.0%	63 44.1%	69 48.3%	0 0.0%	Total: 143
7. A person with a learning disability can also be identified with another disability.	1 0.7%	1 0.7%	37 25.9%	104 72.7%	0 0.0%	Total: 143
8. A person with a learning disability can also be identified as gifted.	3 2.1%	3 2.1%	43 30.1%	93 65.0%	1 0.7%	Total: 143
9. Fidgeting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	15 10.5%	69 48.3%	44 30.8%	7 4.9%	8 5.6%	Total: 143
10. Shouting out is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	24 16.9%	83 58.5%	21 14.8%	6 4.2%	8 5.6%	<i>Total:</i> 142
11. Hitting is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	31 21.7%	91 63.6%	9 6.3%	4 2.8%	8 5.6%	<i>Total:</i> 143

Variable	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	_
12. Slower processing speed is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	5 3.5%	24 16.8%	83 58.0%	31 21.7%	0 0.0%	Total: 143
13. Difficulty comprehending written materials is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	6 4.2%	16 11.2%	94 65.7%	27 18.9%	0 0.0%	Total: 143
14. Difficulty with sentence structure is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	7 4.9%	33 23.1%	85 59.4%	16 11.2%	2 1.4%	Total: 143
15. Excellent spelling is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	29 20.3%	95 66.4%	9 6.3%	3 2.1%	7 4.9%	Total: 143
16. Good ability to express ideas is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	15 10.5%	91 63.6%	25 17.5%	6 4.2%	6 4.2%	Total: 143
17. Difficulty copying notes from the chalkboard is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	8 5.6%	32 22.4%	79 55.2%	22 15.4%	2 1.4%	<i>Total:</i> 143
18. Good ability to use phonics is a typical characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	21 14.7%	93 65.0%	17 11.9%	2 1.4%	10 7.0%	Total: 143
19. The severity of a student's learning disability fades with age.	52 36.4%	80 55.9%	3 2.1%	1 0.7%	7 4.9%	Total: 143
20. Atypical human growth is a characteristic of a student with a learning disability.	43 30.3%	62 43.7%	9 6.3%	2 1.4%	26 18.3%	Total: 142

Table 10.1

Frequency Distribution Participants' Responses to Potential Risk factors that can Cause LD

LD						
Variable	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	•
21. A family history of learning disability increases the risk of having a learning disability.	1 0.7%	13 9.2%	91 <i>64.1%</i>	30 21.1%	7 4.9%	Total: 142
22. Poor nutrition increases the risk of having a learning disability.	12 8.6%	64 45.7%	40 28.6%	9 6.4%	15 10.7%	Total: 140
23. A history of head injury increases the risk of having a learning disability.	3 2.1%	25 17.6%	80 56.3%	21 14.8%	13 9.2%	Total: 142
24. Child abuse increases the risk of having a learning disability.	7 4.9%	45 31.7%	54 38.0%	15 10.6%	21 14.8%	Total: 142
25. Complications during pregnancy increase the risk of having a learning disability.	2 1.4%	15 10.6%	81 57.0%	23 16.2%	21 14.8%	<i>Total:</i> 142
26. Lead poisoning increases the risk of having a learning disability.	4 2.8%	14 9.9%	52 36.6%	19 13.4%	53 <i>37.3%</i>	<i>Total:</i> 142
27. Lack of parental support increases the risk of a learning disability.	27 19.0%	72 50.7%	27 19.0%	7 4.9%	9 6.3%	Total: 142
28. Infection in the central nervous system increases the risk of having a learning disability.	2 1.4%	15 10.6%	56 39.4%	13 9.2%	56 39.4%	Total: 142
29. Cancer treatment increases the risk of having a learning disability.	11 7.7%	44 30.8%	28 19.6%	6 4.2%	54 37.8%	Total: 143

Variable	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	-
30. Poor parenting style increases the risk of having a learning disability.	33 23.2%	71 50.0%	22 15.5%	6 4.2%	10 7.0%	Total: 142
31. Low child activity level increases the risk of having a learning disability.	18 12.6%	72 50.3%	27 18.9%	4 2.8%	22 15.4%	<i>Total:</i> 143
32. Cultural practices increase the risk of having a learning disability.	38 26.6%	83 58.0%	9 6.3%	2 1.4%	11 7.7%	<i>Total:</i> 143
33. Poor living environment increases the risk of having a learning disability.	19 13.4%	67 47.2%	35 24.6%	7 4.9%	14 9.9%	Total: 142
34. Taking medication increases the risk of having a learning disability.	19 13.5%	67 47.5%	22 15.6%	2 1.4%	31 22.0%	<i>Total:</i> 141
35. Genetic factors increase the risk of having a learning disability.	0 0.0%	6 4.2%	97 68.3%	27 19.0%	12 8.5%	Total: 142
36. Neurological factors increase the risk of having a learning disability.	2 1.4%	3 2.1%	98 68.5%	26 18.2%	14 9.8%	Total: 143

Table 16.1

Frequency Distribution Participants' Responses for Teaching Strategies for Students with a LD

with a LD						_
Variable	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	
37. You need to have an Individual Education Plan before providing modifications and accommodations to students with a learning disability.	28 19.6%	68 47.6%	32 22.4%	14 9.8%	1 0.7%	Total: 143
38. The students need to be formally identified with a learning disability before you can provide them with modifications and accommodations.	48 33.6%	70 49.0%	19 13.3%	4 2.8%	2 1.4%	Total: 143
39. Differentiated instruction is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	0 0.0%	6 4.2%	50 35.2%	86 60.6%	0 0.0%	Total: 142
40. Direct instruction is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	6 4.2%	25 17.5%	65 45.5%	41 28.7%	6 4.2%	Total: 143
41. Providing more work is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	73 51.0%	67 46.9%	3 2.1%	0 0.0%	0 0.0%	Total: 143
42. Breaking lessons down into smaller parts is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	0 0.0%	0 0.0%	48 33.6%	95 66.4%	0 0.0%	Total: 143
43. Giving a student a computer is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	2 1.4%	17 12.0%	84 59.2%	36 25.4%	3 2.1%	Total: 142
44. Instructing students to	38	86	10	3	6	Total: 143

Variable	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	-
work by themselves is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	26.6%	60.1%	7.0%	2.1%	4.2%	-
45. An effective classroom strategy for students with a learning disability is to present information orally and not in writing.	20 14.0%	46 32.2%	62 43.4%	8 5.6%	7 4.9%	Total: 143
46. Using graphic organizers is an effective classroom strategy to use for students with a learning disability.	0 0.0%	4 2.8%	90 63.4%	47 33.1%	1 0.7%	Total: 142
47. Medication should be used to reduce the severity of a students' learning disability.	42 29.4%	64 44.8%	15 10.5%	0 0.0%	22 15.4%	Total: 143

Table 22.1

Frequency Distribution Participant Responses Teaching Students with LD

Variable	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	_
48. I understand learning disabilities enough to teach students with this identification.	2 1.4%	28 19.6%	79 55.2%	30 21.0%	4 2.8%	Total: 143
49. I feel well informed about teaching students with a learning disability.	4 2.8%	47 32.9%	67 46.9%	23 16.1%	2 1.4%	Total: 143
50. I feel prepared to teach students with learning disabilities.	1 0.7%	40 28.0%	76 53.1%	22 15.4%	4 2.8%	<i>Total:</i> 143
51. I have adequate resources to teach students with learning disabilities.	11 7.7%	71 49.7%	43 30.1%	15 10.5%	3 2.1%	Total: 143
52. I feel comfortable teaching students identified with a learning disability.	1 0.7%	21 14.7%	90 62.9%	29 20.3%	2 1.4%	Total: 143
53. I need more information on learning disabilities to help teach identified students.	2 1.4%	17 11.9%	92 64.3%	32 22.4%	0 0.0%	<i>Total:</i> 143
54. I am aware of accommodations and modifications to assist students with learning disabilities.	0 0.0%	2 1.4%	92 64.3%	48 33.6%	1 0.7%	Total: 143

Table 28.1

Frequency Distribution Participant's Responses for Support Teachers Receive for Teaching Students with a LD

Teaching binachis with a						-
Variable	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	
55. I receive support from a consultant or other school board experts to assist me with teaching students with learning disabilities.	11 7.7%	40 28.0%	63 44.1%	24 16.8%	5 3.5%	Total: 143
56. I receive support from my principal or vice-principal to assist me with teaching students with a learning disability.	15 10.5%	47 32.9%	63 44.1%	16 11.2%	2 1.4%	Total: 143
57. I receive support from a resource teacher to assist me with teaching students with a learning disability.	7 4.9%	16 11.2%	79 55.2%	38 26.6%	3 2.1%	Total: 143
58. I receive support from other teachers at my school to assist me with teaching students with a learning disability.	3 2.1%	19 <i>13.3%</i>	91 63.6%	29 20.3%	1 0.7%	Total: 143
59. I receive support from education assistants to assist me with teaching students with a learning disability.	19 13.3%	36 25.2%	54 37.8%	30 21.0%	4 2.8%	Total: 143
60. I receive additional support for teaching students with a learning disability from sources other than those mentioned above (please comment below)	20 14.2%	58 41.1%	31 22.0%	13 9.2%	19 13.5%	<i>Total:</i> 141

Table 31.1

Frequency Distribution of Participants Receiving Support

Variable	Never	Daily	Weekly	Monthly	Once a Term (3 months)	Once a Year	
61. How frequently do you receive support for teaching students with learning disabilities?	22 15.7%	26 18.6%	54 38.6%	21 15.0%	12 8.6%	5 3.6%	Total: 140

Table 31.2

Statistical Analysis of Participants Receiving Support

Variable	Mean	Median	Mode
61. How frequently do you receive support for teaching students with learning disabilities?	2.89	2.00	2
	Monthly	Weekly	Weekly

Table 31.3

Analysis of Variance for Teachers' Years of Experience and How Often Teachers Receive Support for Teaching Students With a LD

61. How frequently do you receive support for teaching students with learning disabilities?									
	Sum of squares	I	Mean square	I	Sig.				
Between Groups	26.082	5	5.216	1.904	.098				
Within Groups	345.213	126	2.740						
Total	371.295	131							